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603-271-4501 1-800-852-3345 Ext 4501

Fax:603-271-4827 TOD Access: 1-800-735-2964

www.dhhs.nh.gov

March 16. 2020

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord, New Hampshire 03301
REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, Division of Public Health
Services, to enter into a Retroactive amendment to an existing contract and to exercise a
renewal option with Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (Vendor #177160), One Medical Center
Drive Lebanon, NH 03756, to provide injury prevention programming statewide, by increasing
the price limitation by $281,250 from $217,000 to $498,250 and by extending the completion
date from March 31, 2020 to March 31, 2022, effective upon Governor and Executive Council
approval. 47 % Federal Funds, 53% General Funds.

This agreement was originally approved by the Governor and Executive Council on March
21, 2018 (Item #15).

Funds are available in the following accounts for State Fiscal Years 2020 and 2021, and
are anticipated to be available in State Fiscal Year 2022, with authority to adjust amounts within
the price limitation and adjust encumbrances between state fiscal years through the Budget
Office, if needed and justified!
05-95-90-902010-5190 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES. DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SVS,
HHS: DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH, BUREAU OF POPULATION HEALTH AND COMMUNITY
SERVICES, MATERNAL - CHILD HEALTH

State

Fiscal

Year

Class/

Account

Class Title Job

Number

Current

Modified

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised

Modified

Budget

2018 102-500731 Contracts for

Prog Svc
90019001 $23,125 $0 $23,125

2019 102-500731 Contracts for

Proq Svc

90019001 $92,500 $0 $92,500

2020 102-500731 Contracts for

Prog Svc

90019001 $69,375 $23,125 $92,500

2021 102-500731 Contracts for

Proq Svc

90019001 $0 $92,500 $92,500

2022 102-500731 Contracts for

Proq Svc

90019001 $0 $69,375 $69,375

Subtotal $185,000 $185,000 $370,000
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05-95-90-902010-5896 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SVS,

HHS: DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH, BUREAU OF POPULATION HEALTH AND COMMUNITY
SERVICES, ACA HOME VISITING

State

Fiscal

Year

Class /

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Modified

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised

Modified

Budget

2018 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90083200 $2,750 $0 $2,750

2019 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90083200 $11,000 $0 $11,000

2020 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90083200 $8,250 $0 $8,250

2021 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90083200 $0 $0 $0

2022 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90083200 $0 $0 $0

Subtotal $22,000 M $22,000

05-95-48-481010-8917 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SVS,
HHS: ELDERLY & ADULT SVCS DIV, GRANTS TO LOCALS, HEALTH PROMOTION CONTRACTS

State

Fiscal

Year

Class /

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Modified

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised

Modified

Budget

2018 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 48108462 $1,250 $0 $1,250

2019 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 48108462 $5,000 $0 $5,000

2020 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 48108462 $3,750 $5,000 $8,750

2021 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 48108462 M $20,000 $20,000

2022 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 48108462 M $15,000 $15,000

Subtotal $10,000 $40,000 $50,000

05-95-42-421010-2958 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SVS,
HHS: HUMAN SERVICES, CHILD PROTECTION, CHILD-FAMILY SERVICES

State

Fiscal

Year

Class /

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Modified

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised

Modified

Budget

2020 645-504004 SGGOTH SGF OTHER 42105891 $0 $30,000 $30,000

2021 645-504004 SGGOTH SGF OTHER 42105891 $0 $15,000 $15,000

2022 645-504004 SGGOTH SGF OTHER 42105891 $0 $11,250 $11,250

Subtotal $0 $56,250 $56,250

Total $217,000 $281.250 $498.250
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EXPLANATION

This request is Retroactive because more time was needed to negotiate and finalize the
scope of the work prior to the vendor accepting the terms of the agreement.

The purpose of this request is to continue to ensure injury prevention programming is
available, statewide. Services include, but are not limited to professional training and logistics
for the New Hampshire Falls Risk Reduction Task Force; purchasing child-safety equipment for
the home visiting programs; supports to teen driver education programs; and providing oversight
for the Department's Injury Prevention Advisory Council.

The original agreement, included language in Exhibit C-1, Paragraph 3 allows the.
Department to renew the contract for up to 2 years, subject to the continued availability of
funding, satisfactory performance of service, parties' written authorization and approval from the
Governor and Executive Council. The Department is in agreement with renewing services for 2 ■
of the 2 years at this time.

All of New Hampshire's residents benefit from the injury prevention work. For example,
the Adolescent Driver Program will not only reduce injuries due to motor vehicle crashes in the
teen population, but also protects drivers and passengers of all ages who may have been
impacted by a teen driver. The Older Adult Falls Prevention program addresses New Hampshire
residents age sixty-five (65) years and older to improve strength and physical stability to prevent
deaths and injuries due to falls. The management of these essential activities is not duplicated
by any other programs in the state. .

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospitals effectiveness in delivering services will be measured
through monitoring of the following performance measures:

•  Facilitation of one hundred precent (100%) of the statewide coalition in order to
implement injury prevention programming.

•  Implementation and evaluation of eight-five percent (85%) of the strategies and
accompanying activities outlined in the "New Hampshire Violence and Injury
Prevention Plan for Action 2015-2020"

•  Development of a clear work plan for the overall activities related to this contract,
monitored quarterly to ensure one hundred percent (100%) of deadlines are met.

Should the Governor and Executive Council not authorize this request, the essential injury
prevention programing provided by the Injury Prevention Center under Mary Hitchcock Memorial
Hospital will cease, which may lead to increased injuries, statewide.
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Area served: Statewide

Source of Funds: 47% Federal Funds from Centers for Disease Control and Prevention,
Health Resources and Services Administration. Title MID, Preventative Health and 53% General
Funds

In the event that the Federal Funds become no longer available, additional General
Funds will not be requested to support this program.

Respectfully submitted,

Lori A. Shibbinittte

Commissioner

The Department of Health and Human Seruices' Mission is to join communities and families
in providing opportunities for citizens to achieve health and independence.



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Injury Prevention Services

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

Amendment #1 to the Injury Prevention Services Contract

This 1" Amendment to the Injury Prevention Services contract (hereinafter referred to as "Amendment
#1") Is by and between the State of New Hampshire. Department of Health and Human Services
(hereinafter referred to as the "State" or "Department") and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital, for Itself
and on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (collectively doing business as "Dartmouth-Hitchcock' and
referred to herein as "D-H", also formerly known as Trustees of Dartmouth College) hereinafter referred
to as "the Contractor"), a nonprofit with a place of business at One Medical Center Drive, Lebanon. New
Hampshire 03756.

WHEREAS, pursuant to an agreement (the "Contract") approved by the Governor and Executive Council
on March 21. 2018. (Item #15). the Contractor agreed to perform certain services based upon the terms
and conditions specified In the Contract and In consideration of certain sums specified; and
WHEREAS, the State and the Contractor have agreed to make changes to the scope of work, payment
schedules or terms and conditions of the contract; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Form P-37, General Provisions, Paragraph 18, the Contract may be amended
upon written agreement of the parties and approval from the Governor and Executive Council; and
WHEREAS, the parties agree to extend the term of the agreement and Increase the price limitation; and

WHEREAS, all terms and conditions of the Contract not Inconsistent with this Amendment #1 remain In
full force and effect; and

NOWTHEREFORE, In consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions contained
In the Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree to amend as follows:

1. Form P-37 General Provisions, Block 1.7. Completion Date, to read;

March 31, 2022.

2. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.8, Price Limitation, to read:

$498,250.

3. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.9, Contracting Officer for State Agency, to read:

Nathan D. White. Director.

4. Form P-37. General Provisions, Block 1.10, State Agency Telephone Number, to read:

603-271-9631.

5. Exhibit A, Scope of Services, Section 2.10 to read as follows:

2.10 The contractor shall Increase support and maintenance of marketing and outreach
activities promoting the Fails Prevention Evidenced Based programs which may
Incorporate the Tla Jl Quan: Moving for Better Balance ® and Matter of Balance
programs. The Contractor shall:

2.10.1. Increase Train the Trainers activities
c

2.10.2. Increase the number of session locations

2.10.3. Increase instructor capacity for facilitation of programs

2.10.4. Increase staff capacity to manage referrals to the programs :

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Amendment #1 Contractor Initials
RFP-2018-PPHS-05-INJUR-A01 Page 1 of 4 Date_—



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Injury Prevention Services

2.10.5. Update and maintain the Falls Risk Reduction Task Force Website.

6. Exhibit B. Methods and Conditions Precedent to Payment, Section 3 to read as follows:

3. Funds to support this project are both Federal Funds and State of New Hampshire General
Funds. The Federal Funds to support this project are Identified as follows:

3.1. US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and
Prevention. Preventative Health and Human Services Block Grant, Catalog of Federal
Domestic Assistance (CFDA)# 93.758, FAIN#B010T009098.

3.2. US Dept. of Health and Human Services. Human Resources & Services Administration
(HRSA). Maternal, Infant and Early Childhood Home Visiting Program Grant, Catalog
of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA)# 93.870. FAIN#X10MC29490.

3.3. US Department of Health and Human Services, Title HID, Preventative Health, Catalog
of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA)# 93.043, FAIN#17AANHT3PH.

3.4. US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and
Prevention, Preventative Health and Human Services Block Grant, Catalog of Federal
Domestic Assistance (CFDA)# 93,991, FAIN#NB010T009285

3.5 US Department of Health and Human Services, Title HID, Preventative Health. Catalog
of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA)# 93.043, FAIN#1901NHOAPH.

3.6 General funds

7. Add Exhibit B-4, Amendment# 1, incorporated by reference and attached herein.

8. Add Exhibit B-5, Amendment # 1, Incorporated by reference and attached herein.

9. Add Exhibit B-6. Amendment #1, Incorporated by reference and attached herein.

1$Mary Hilchcock Memorlal Hospital Amendmeni #1 Contractor Initials _____
RFP-20ie-DPHS-05-INJUR-A01 Page 2 of4 Dale 0



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Injury Prevention Services

This amendment shall be effective upon the date of Governor and Executive Council approval.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands as of the date written below,

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

3 k l^o
Date Name: Lisa Morris

Title: Director

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

Date Name: Leigh gurgess
Title: Vice President Research Operations

Acknowledgement of Contractor's signature;

State of . County of on O'hmVrjd before the
undersigned offlceV, personally appeared the pdrson Identified directly above, or satisfactorily proven to
be the person whose name is signed above, and acknowledged that s/he executed this document In the
capacity indicated above.

/L
SignaiurewtBWtBf^f P©ac© Williams, Notary Public
^ My Commission Expires September 7,2021 Commission Expires September 7,2021

Name and Title of Notary or Justice of the Peace

My Commission Expires:

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Amendment #1
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Injury Prevention Services

The preceding Amendment, having been reviewed by this office, is approved as to form, substance, and
execution.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

Date

A

\ hereby certify that the foregoing Amendment was approved by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State of New Hampshire at the Meeting on: (date of meeting)

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date Name:

Title:

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

RFP-2018-DPHS-05-INJUR-A01

Amendment #1
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State of New Hampshire

Department of State

CERTIFICATE

I, William M. Gardner, Secretary of State of the State of New Hampshire, do hereby certify that MARY HITCHCOCK

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL is a New Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registered to transact business in New Hampshire on August

07, 1889. 1 fiirther certify that all fees and documents required by the Secretary of State's office have been received and is in good

standing as fv as this office is concerned.

Business ID: 68517

Certificate Number 0004496386

P
%

la.

o

Tfl

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

I hereto set my hand and cause to be affixed

the Seal of the State of New Hampshire,

this 15th day of April A.D. 2019.

William M. Gardner

Secretary of State



Oortmooth-Hifchcock

DortmouiK-HitchcocIc Medical Center

^ Dartmouth-Hitchcocl^ ' r™,«
Dort-Tiouth-Htlchcock.org

CERTIFICATE OF VOTE/AUTHORITY

I, Charles G. Plimpton, of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Marv Hitchcock Memorial Hospital, do hereby certify that:

1. I am the duly elected Treasurer and Secretary of the Board of Trustees of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary

Hitchcock Memorial Hospital;

2. The following is a true and accurate excerpt from the December 7'^ 2012 Bylaws of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic

and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital:

ARTICLE 1 - Section A. Fiduciary Duty. Stewardship over Corporate Assets

"In exercising this [fiduciary] duty, the Board may, consistent with the Corporation's Articles of Agreement and

these Bylaws, delegate authority to the Board of Governors, Board Committees ar^d various officers the right to

give input with respect to issues and strategies, incur indebtedness, make expenditures, enter into contracts and

agreements and take such other binding actions on behalf of the Corporation as may be necessary or desirable."

3. Article I - Section A, as referenced above, provides authority for the chief officers, including the Chief Executive

Officer, the Chief Clinical Officer, and other officers, of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock

Memorial Hospital to sign and deliver, eillier individually or collectively, on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock

Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital.

4. Edward J. Mcrrens, MD is the Chief Clinical Officer of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock

Memorial Hospital and therefore has the authority to enter into contracts and agreements on behalf of Dartmouth-

Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as the Treasurer and Secretary of the Board of Trustees of

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Marv Hitchcock Mem^iql Hospital thi^^''''5av^f. .

Charles G. Plimpton, Board Treasurer and Secretary

STATEOFNH

COUNTY OF GRAFTON

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this '3^ day of by Charles G.
Plimpton.

-  -m WotaryPublic ir 0 '
/ = Mv Commission Expires: rl 3^



Dartmouth-Hitchcock

DELEGATION OF SIGNATURE AUTHORITY

RESEARCH CONTRACTS AND SPONSORED PROGRAM AGREEMENTS

The authority to sign contracts, grants, consortia, center, cooperative and other research and
sponsored program agreements ("Contracts") on behalf of Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
and Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (together, "Dartmouth-Hitchcock") is delegated, by the Chief
Executive Officer of Dartmouth-Hitchcock to the Executive Vice President of Research and
Education (and, in her absence or unavailability, to another Chief Officer of Dartmouth-
Hitchcock).

The authority to sign Contracts on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock which ha\>e a/unciing amoimi
not to exceed SS. 000,000 and which have a term of less than five (5) years is hereby sub-
dclcgatcd by the Executive Vice President of Research and Education to the Vice President of
Research Operations.

A Contract means an agreement between t\N'0 or more persons that creates a legally binding
obligation to do or not to do a particular thing. A Contract may be titled as an agreement, a
memorandum of understanding, memorandum of agreement, a promise to pay, or may use other
terminology. A Contract may or may not involve the payment of money.

Additional sub-delegation of signature authority may only be made upon written authorization of
the Executive Vice President of Research and Education.

An individual with dclegatcd/sub-delegated signature authority who signs a Contract on behalf of
Dartmouth-Hitchcock has the responsibility to ensure that the Contract follows Dartmouth-
Hitchcock policies, rules and guidelines and all applicable laws and regulations.

The effective date of this sub-delegation shall be the date executed by the Executive Vice
President of Research and Education, as set forth below, and shall continue until revocation by
the Executive Vice President of Research and Education.

Susan A. Reeves, EdD, RN
Executive Vice President of Research and Education

Date: July . 2018



^KCORD'

DARTHIT^JI

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

ASTQBERT

DATH (MmDO/yWY)

2/18/2020

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND. EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S). AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder it an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the pollcy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provlslbna or bo endorsed,
if SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain pollclee may require an endorsement A statement on
this.ceitlflcata.does not confer rights to the certificate holder In lieu of such endorsemenUe).

PRODUCER License # 1780862
HUB Inteiinational New England
100 Central Street Suite 201
Hollleton, MA 01746

Rita Durgln
PHONE FAX
(A/C. No. Exit: (AfC. No):

rfta.durgln@hublntemational.com

mSURERIS) AFFORDINO COVERAGE NAICF

INSURER A Safety National Casualty Corooration 16106

INSURED

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

1 Medical Center Dr.

Lebanon, NH 03756

INSURER B

INSURER C

INSURER D

INSURER E

INSURER F

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POUCIES OF INSURANCE USTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POUCY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT. TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN. THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

INSA
JJR. TYPE OF INSURANCE

AOOL
jtisa

SUBR
POUCY NUMBER

POUCY EFF
IMM/DtWYYYl

POUCY EXP
<MM/DQ/YYYYI

COMMERCIAL O^ER/^ LU^UTY

CUAIMS-MAOE I I OCCUR
EACH OCCURRENCE

MED EXP (Any wx a«f»on)

PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

GENT AGGREGATE UMIT APPLIES PER:

POUCY |_j5g£^ I Iloc
GENERAL AGGREGATE

PRODUCTS - COMPlOP AGG

other:

AUTOMOBILE UABIUTY
COMBINED SINGLE UMIT
(El iccklanir

ANY AUTO

OWNED
AUTOS ONLY

SIM ONLY

SCHEDULED
AUTOS

N<
Al

BODILY INJURY (Pf Pfionl

BODILY INJURY (Pf icddint)

UMBRELLA UAB

EXCESS UAB

-- OED-

0(XUR

ClAIMS^IAOE

EACH OCCURRENCE

AGGREGATE

RETENTIONS

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' UABIUTY

ANY PROPHIETOR/PARTNER®(ECLmvE

If vM* describe under

pgsdRIPTlON OF OPERATIONS DMow

r I n

□
AG4061049 7/1/2019 7/1/2020

V PER
^ STATUTE SI
E.LEACH ACCIDENT 1,000,000

E.L. DISEASE ■ EA EMPLOYEE 1,000,000

E.L. DISEASE-POLICY LIMIT 1,000.000
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SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POUCIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DEUVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POUCY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03) <S> 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. Ail rights reserved.
The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD



CERTilFICATE OF INSURANCE DATE: 02/18/2020

COMPANY AFFORDING COVERAGE

Hamden Assurance Risk Retention Group, Inc.
P.O. Box 1687

30 Main Street, Suite 330
Burlington, VT 05401

This certificate is issued as a matter of information only
and confers no rights upon the Certificate Holder. This
Certificate does not amend, extend or alter the coverage
afforded by the policies below.

INSURED

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital - DH-H
One Medical Center Drive

Lebanon, NH 03756

(603)653-6850

COVERAGES

The Policy listed below has been issued to the N^ed Insured above for the Policy Period notwithstanding any
requirement, term or condition of any contract or other document with respect to which this certificate may be issued. The
insurance afforded by the policy is subject to all the terms, exclusions and conditions of the policy. Limits shown may
have been reduced by paid claims.

TYPE OF

INSURANCE
POLICY NUMBER

POLICY

EFFECTIVE

DATE

POLICY

EXPIRATION

DATE

LIMITS

GENERAL

LIABILITY

0002019-A 07/01/2019 07/01/2020 EACH

OCCURRENCE
$1,000,000

DAMAGE TO

RENTED

PREMISES

$100,000

X CLAIMS MADE
MEDICAL

EXPENSES
N/A

PERSONAL &

ADV FNJURY
$1,000,000

OCCURRENCE GENERAL

AGGREGATE
$2,000,000

OTHER PRODUCTS-

COMP/OP AGG
$1,000,000

PROFESSIONAL

LIABILITY

EACH CLAIM

CLAIMS MADE
/ANNUAL

AGGREGATE

OCCURENCE

OTHER

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS/ LOCATIONS/ VEHICLES/ SPECUL ITEMS (LIMITS MAY BE SUBJECT TO RETENTIONS)

Certificate of Insurance Issued as evidence of insurance for services provided as part of the DHHS Injury Prevention Program.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

NH Dept of Health & Human Services
129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301

CANCELLATION

Should loy of the above described policies be caocetled before the expiratioo date
thereof, the issuing company will endeavor to mall 30 DAYS written notice to the
certificate holdernamed below, but failure to mail such notice shall impose no
obligation or liability of any itind upon the company, its agents or representatives.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES



2/17/2020 Mission. Vision. & Values

Dartmouth-Hitchcock

Mission, Vision, & Values

Our Mission

We advance health through research, education, clinical practice, and community partnerships, providing each person the best care, in the
right place, at the right time, every time.

'Our'Vision

Achieve the healthiest population possible, leading the transformation of
health care in our region and setting the standard for our nation.

Values .

• --Respect

"•"Integrity

• Commitment

• Transparency

• -Trust

•"Teamwork

_•_. Stewardship

• Community

Copyright ® 2020 Dartmouth-Hitchcock. All Rights Reserved.
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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Trustees of

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and

its subsidiaries (the 'Health System"), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2018

and June 30, 2017, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash

flows for the years then ended.

Management's Responsibility for the consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial

statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted In the United States of America;

this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation

and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement.

whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors'Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We did not audit the financial statements of Alice Peck Day Hospital, a subsidiary whose sole member is

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health, which statements reflect total assets of 2.8% of consolidated total assets at

June 30, 2017 and total revenues of 3.3% of consolidated total revenue for the year then ended. Those

statements were audited by other auditors whose report thereon has been furnished to us, and our

opinion expressed herein, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for Alice Peck Day Hospital, is .

based solely on the report of the other auditors. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing

standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial

audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United

States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the'consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. The financial

statements of Alice Peck Day Hospital were not audited in accordance with Government Auditing

Standards \n 20^7.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in

the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, loi Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02210
T: (617) 530 5000, F: (617) 530 5001, www.pwc.com/us
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fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Health

System's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on

the effectiveness of the Health System's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An

audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of

the consolidated financiar statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of the other auditors, the consolidated financial

-statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Dartmouth-

Hitchcock Health and its subsidiaries as of June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017, and the results of their

operations, changes in net assets and cash flov/s for the years then ended in accordance with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements

taken as a whole. The consolidating information is the responsibility of management and was derived

from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated

financial statements. The consolidating information has been subjected to the auditing procedures

applied in the audits of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional procedures, including

comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used

to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial statements themselves

and other additional procedures, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United

States of America. In our opinion, the consolidating information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in
relation to the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole. The consolidating information is

presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated financial statements rather than to

present the financial position, results of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows of the individual

companies and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, we do not

express an opinion on the financial position, results of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows of

the-indivldual companies.
\

Other information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements

as a whole. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards for the year ended June 30,
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2016 is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal

Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for

Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements.

Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the

underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The

information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated

financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated

financial statements or to the consolidated financial statements themselves, and other additional

procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In

our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated, in all material respects, in

relation to the consolidated financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Govemment Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 7,

2018 on our consideration of the Health System's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other

matters for the year ended June 30, 2018. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of

our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing and

not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.

That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in

considering the Health System's internal control over financial reporting and compliance

Boston, Massachusetts

November 7, 2018



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

(in thousands of dollars) 2018 2017

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 200,169 $ 68,498
Patient accounts receivable, net of estimated uncollectibles of

$132.228and$121.340atJune3Q.2018and2017(Note3) 219,228 237,260
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 97,502 89.203

Total current assets 516,899 394,961

Assets limited as to use (Notes 4 and 6) 706,124 662,323
Other investments for restricted activities (Notes 4 and 6) 130,896 124,529
Property, plant, and equipment, net (Note 5) 607,321 609,975
Other assets 108,785 97,120

Total assets $ 2,070,025 $ 1,888,908

Llabllltles and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 9) $  3,464 $  18,357
Current portion of liability for pension and other postretlrement
plan benefits (Note 10) 3,311 3,220
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (Note 12) 95,753 89,160
Accrued compensation and related benefits 125,576 114,911
Estimated third-party settlements (Note 3) 41,141 27,433

Total current liabilities 269,245 253,081

Long-term debt, excluding current portion (Note 9) 752,975 616,403
Insurance deposits and related liabilities (Note 11) 55,516 50,960
Interest rate swaps (Notes 6 and 9) - 20,916
Liability for pension and other postretlrement plan benefits,
excluding current portion (Note 10) 242,227 282,971
Other liabilities 88,127 90,548

Total liabilities 1,408,090 1,314,879

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 3, 5, 6, 9, and 12)

Net assets

Unrestricted (Note 8) 524,102 424,947
Temporarily restricted (Notes 7 and 8) 82,439 94,917
Permanently restricted (Notes 7 and 8) 55,394 54,165

Total net assets 661,935 574,029

Total liabilities and net assets $  2,070,025 $  1,888,908

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended June 30» 2018 and 2017

(in thousands of dollars) 2018 2017

Unrestricted revenue and other support
Net.patient service revenue, net of contractual

allowances and discounts $  1,899,095 $ 1,859,192
Provision for bad debts (Note 1 and 3) 47,367 .  63,645

Net patient service revenue less provision for bad debts 1,851,728 1,795,547

Contracted revenue (Note 2) 54,969 43,671
Other operating revenue (Note 2 and 4) 148,946 119,177
Net assets released from restrictions 13,461 11,122

Total unrestricted revenue and other support 2,069,104 1,969,517

Operating expenses
Salaries 989,263 966,352
Employee benefits 229,683 244,855
Medical supplies and medications 340,031 306,080
Purchased services and other 291,372 289,805
Medicaid enhancement tax (Note 3) 67,692 65,069
Depreciation and amortization 84,778 84,562
Interest (Note 9) 18,822 19,838

Total operating expenses 2,021,641 1,976,561

Operating income (loss) 47,463 (7,044)

Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment gains (Notes 4 and 9) 40,387 51,056
Other losses (2,908) (4,153)
Loss oh early extinguishment of debt (14,214) -

Loss due to swap termination (14,247) -

Contribution revenue from acquisition
- 20,215

Total non-operating gains, net 9,018 67,118

Excess of revenue over expenses S  56,481 $ 60,074

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

(in thousands of dollars)

Unrestricted net assets

Excess of revenue over expenses
Net assets released from restrictions

Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement
benefits (Note 10)
Other changes in net assets
Change In fair value of interest rate swaps (Note 9)
Change in interest rate swap effectiveness

Increase in unrestricted net assets

Temporarily restricted net assets

Gifts, bequests, sponsored activities
investment gains
Change in net unrealized gains on investments
Net assets released from restrictions

Contribution of temporarily restricted net assets from acquisition

(Decrease) increase in temporarily restricted net assets

Permanently restricted net assets
Gifts and bequests

Investment gains in beneficial interest in trust
Contribution of permanently restricted net assets from acquisition

Increase in permanently restricted net assets

Change in net assets

Net assets

Beginning of year

End of year

2018 2017

$  56,481 $ 60,074

16,313 1,839

8,254 (1,587)

(185) (3,364)
4,190 7,802

14,102 -

99,155 64,764

13,050 26,592
2,964 1,677

1,282 3,775

(29,774) (12,961)
- 103

(12.478) 19,186

1,121 300

108 245

- 30

1,229 575

87,906 84,525

574,029 489,504

$  661,935 $ 574,029

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017.

(in thousands of dollars)

Cash flows from oporating actlvltlas
Change in net assets
Adjustments to recondie change In net assets to
net cash provided by operating and norK>perating activities

2018 2017

87,906 84.525

Change in fair value of interest rate swaps (4.897) (8.001)
Provision for bad debt 47,367 63,645
Depredation and amortization 84.947 84.711
Contribution revenue from acquisition - (20,348)
Change in funded status of pension and other postretiremen! benefits (6.254) 1,587
(Gain) loss on disposal of fixed assets (125) 1,703
Net realized gains and change in net unrealized gains on investments (45,701) (57.255)
Restricted contributions and investment earnings (5.460) (4.374)
Proceeds from sales of securities 1.531 809

Loss from debt defeasance 14,214 381

Changes in assets and liabilities
Patient accounts receivable, net , (29,335) (35,811)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (8,299) 7,386
Other assets, net (11.665) (8,934)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 19,693 (17,820)
Accrued compensation and related benefits 10,665 10,349
Estimated third-party settlements 13.708 7.783

insurance deposits and related liabilities 4.556 (5.927)
Liability for pension and other postretiremen! benefits (32,399) 8,935
' Other liabilities (2.421) 11,431

Net cash provided by operating and non-operating activities 136.031 124,775

Oath flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment (77,598) (77.361)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment - 1,087
Purchases of investments (279,407) (259,201)
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments 273,409 276,934
Cash received through acquisition

- 3,564

Net cash used in Investing activities (83.596) (54,977)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from line of credit 50,000 65.000
Payments on line of credit (50.000) (101.550)
Repayment of ior^g-term debt (413.104) (48,506)
Proceeds from issuance of debt 507,791 39,064

Repayment of interest rate swap (16,019) -

Payment of debt issuance costs (4.892) (274)
Restricted contributions and investment earnings 5,460 4,374

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 79,236 (41,892)

increase in cash and cash equivalents 131,671 27,906

Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of year 68,498 40,592

End of year $  200,169 $ 68,498

Supplemental cash flow Information
Interest paid $  18,029 $ 23.407
Net assets acquired as part of acquisition, net of cash aqulred 16,784
Non-cash proceeds from issuance of debt 137,281 .

Use of non-cash proceeds to refinance debt (137,281) -

Building construction in process financed by a third party - 8,426
Construction |n progress included in accounts payable and
accrued expenses 1,569 14,669
Equipment acquired through issuance of capital lease obligations 17,670 .

Donated securities 1,531 809

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30. 2018 and 2017

1. Organization and Community Benefit Commitments

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (D-HH) serves as the sole corporate member of the following entities:
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Subsidiaries (DHC), Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital and
Subsidiaries (MHMH), (DHC and MHMH together are referred to as D-H), The New London

....Hospital Association and Subsidiaries (NLH), Windsor Hospital Corporation (d/b/a MI. Ascutney
Hospital and Health Center) and Subsidiaries (MAHHC), Cheshire Medical Center and Subsidiaries
(Cheshire), Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital (ARD), and the Visiting Nurse and Hospice of NH
and VT and Subsidiaries (VNH). The "Health System" consists of D-HH, its aifflliates and their
subsidiaries.

The Health System currently operates one tertiary, one community and three acute care (critical
access) hospitals in New Hampshire (NH) and Vermont (VT). One facility provides inpatient and
outpatient rehabilitation medicine and long-term care. The Health System also operates multiple
physician practices, a nursing home and a home health and hospice service. The Health System
operates a graduate level program for health professions and is the principal teaching affiliate of
the Geisel School of Medicine (Geisei), a component of Dartmouth College.

D-HH, MHMH, DHC, NLH, Cheshire, and ARD are NH not-for-profit corporations exempt from
federal Income taxes under Section 501 (c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC). MAHHC and
VNH are VT not-for-profit corporations exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3)
of the IRC.

Community Benefits
.. The mission of the Health System is to advance health through clinical practice and community

partnerships, research and education, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at the
right time, every time.

Consistent vrith this mission, the Health System provides high quality, cost effective,
comprehensive, and integrated healthcare to individuals, families, and the communities it serves
regardless of a patient's ability to pay. The Health System actively supports community-based
healthcare and promotes the coordination of services among healthcare providers and social
services organizations. In addition, the Health System also seeks to work collaboratively with other
area healthcare providers to improve the health status of the region. As a component of an
integrated academic medical center, the Health System provides significant support for academic

'  and'research programs.

The Health System files annual Community Benefits Reports with the State of NH which outlines
the community and charitable benefits it provides. VT hospitals are not required by law to file a
state comrhunity benefit report. The categories used in the Community Benefit Reports to
summarize these benefits are as follows:

•  Community health services include activities carried out to improve community health and
could include community health education (such as lectures, programs, support groups, and
materials that promote weilness and prevent illness), community-based clinical services (such

.  as free clinics and health screenings), and healthcare support services (enrollment assistance
in public programs, assistance in obtaining free or reduced costs medications, telephone
information services, or transportation programs to enhance access to care, etc.).



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2018 and 2017

•  Subsidized health services are services provided by the Health System, resulting in financial
losses that meet the needs of the community and would not otherwise be available to
participate unless the responsibility was assumed by the government.

•  Research support and other grants represent costs in excess of awards for numerous health
research and service initiatives awarded to the organizations within the Health System.

. • Community health-related initiatives occur outside of the organization(s) through various
financial contributions of cash, in-kind, and grants to local organizations.

•  Community-building activities include cash, in-kind donations, and budgeted expenditures for
the development of programs and partnerships intended to address social and economic .
determinants of health. Examples include physical improvements and housing, economic
development, support system enhancements, environmental improvements, leadership
development and training for community members, community health improvement advocacy,
and workforce enhancement. Community benefit operations includes costs associated with
staff dedicated to administering benefit programs, community health needs assessment costs,
and other costs associated with community benefit planning and operations.

•  Charity care (financial assistance) represents services provided to patients who cannot afford
healthcare services due to inadequate financial resources which result from being uninsured

.  or underinsured. For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Health System provided
financial assistance to patients in the amount of approximately $39,446,000 and $29,934,000,
respectively, as measured by gross charges. The estimated cost of providing this care for the
years ended June 30,2018 and 2017 was approximately $15,559,000 and $12,173,000,
respectively. The estimated costs of providing charity care services are determined applying a
ratio of costs to charges to the gross uncompensated charges associated with providing care
to charity patients. The ratio of costs to charges is calculated using total expenses, less bad
debt, divided by gross revenue.

•  Government-sponsored healthcare services are provided to Medicaid and Medicare patients
at reimbursement levels that are significantly below the cost of the care provided.

•  The uncompensated cost of care for Medicaid patients reported in the unaudited Community
Benefits Reports for 2017 was approximately $126,867,000. The 2018 Community Benefits
Reports are expected to be filed in February 2019.

The following table summarizes the value of the community benefit initiatives outlined in the Health
System's most recently filed Community Benefit Reports for the year ended June 30, 2017:

(Unaudited, in thousands of dollars)

Government-sponsored healthcare services $  287,845
Health professional education 33,197

Subsidized health sen/ices 30,447
Charity care 11,070

Community health services 6,829

Research 3,308

Community building activities 1,487

Financial contributions 1,417

Community benefit operations 913

Total community benefit value $  376,513



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30. 2018 and 2017

The Health System also provides a significant amount of uncompensated care to its patients that
are reported as provision for bad debts, which is not included in the amounts reported above.
During the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2017, the Health System reported a provision for bad
debt expense of approximately $47,367,000 and $63,645,000, respectively.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Poiicies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and
have been prepared consistent with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting

.  Standards Codification (ASC) 954, Healthcare Entities, which addresses the accounting for
healthcare entities. The net assets, revenue, expenses, and gains and losses of healthcare
entities are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.
Accordingly, unrestricted net assets are amounts not subject to donor-imposed stipulations and are
available for operations. Temporarily restricted net assets are those whose use has been limited
by donors to a specific time period or purpose. Permanently restricted net assets have been
restricted by donors to be maintained in perpetuity. All significant intercompany transactions have
been eliminated upon consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The most significant areas that are
affected by the use of estimates include the allowance for estimated uncollectible accounts and
contractual allowances, valuation of certain investments, estimated third-party settlements,
insurance reserves, and pension obligations. Actual results may differ from thosie estimates.

Excess of Revenue over Expenses
The consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets include the excess of
revenue over expenses. Operating revenues consist of those items attributable to the care of
patients, including contributions and investment income on unrestricted investments, which are
utilized to provide charity 'and other operational support. Peripheral activities, including unrestricted
contribution income from acquisitions, loss on early extinguishment of debt, loss due to swap
termination, realized gains/losses on sales of investment securities and changes in unrealized
gains/losses in investments are reported as non-operating gains (losses).

Changes in unrestricted net assets which are excluded from the excess of revenue over expenses,
consistent with industry practice, include contributions of long-lived assets (including assets
acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for the purpose of acquiring
such assets), change In funded status of pension and other postretirement benefit plans, and the
effective portion of the change in fair value of interest rate swaps.

Charity Care and Provision for Bad Debts
The Health System provides care to patients who meet certain criteria under their financial
assistance policies wthout charge or at amounts less than their established rates. Because the
Health System does not anticipate collection of amounts determined to qualify as charity care, they
are not reported as revenue.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2018 and 2017

The Health System grants credit without collateral to patients. Most are local residents and are
insured under third-party arrangements. Additions to the allowance for uncollectible accounts are
made by means of the provision for bad debts. Accounts written off as uncollectible are deducted
from the allowance and subsequent recoveries are added. The amount of the provision for bad
debts is based upon management's assessment of historical and expected net collections,
business and economic conditions, trends in federal and state governmental healthcare coverage,
and other collection indicators (Notes 1 and 3).

Net Patient Service Revenue

Net patient service revenue is reported at the estimated net realizable amounts from patients, third
party payers, and others for services rendered, including estimated retroactive adjustments under
reimbursement agreements with third-party payors and bad debt expense. Retroactive
adjustments are accrued on an estimated basis in the period the related services are rendered and
adjusted in future periods as estimates change or final settlements are determined (Note 3).

Contracted Revenue

The Health System has various Professional Sen/ice Agreements (PSAs), pursuant to which
certain organizations purchase sen/ices of personnel employed by the Health System and also
lease space and equipment. Revenue pursuant to these PSAs and certain facility and equipment
leases and other professional service contracts have been classified as contracted revenue in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets.

Other Revenue

The Health System recognizes other revenue which Is not related to patient medical care but is
central to the day-to-day operations of the Health System. This revenue includes retail pharmacy,
joint operating agreements, grant revenue, cafeteria sales, meaningful use incentive payments and
other support service revenue.

Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents include investments in highly liquid investments with maturities of three months
or less when purchased, excluding amounts where use is limited by internal designation or other
arrangements under trust agreements or by donors.

Investments and Investment Income

Investments in equity securities with readily determinabte fair values, mutual funds and
pooled/cbmingled funds, and all Investments in debt securities are considered to be trading
securities reported at fair value with changes in fair value included in the excess of revenues over
expenses. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability In an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (Note 6).

Investments In pooled/commingled investment funds, private equity funds and hedge funds that
represent investments where the Health System owns shares or units of funds rather than the
underlying securities in that fund are valued using the equity method of accounting with changes in
value recorded in the excess of revenues over expenses. All investments, whether held at fair
value or under the equity method of accounting, are reported at what the Health System believes to
be the amount they would expect to receive If it liquidated Its investments at the balance sheet
dates on a nondistressed basis.
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Certain affiliates of the Health System are partners in a NH general partnership established for the
purpose of operating a master investment program of pooled investment accounts. Substantially
all of the Health System's board-designated and permanently restricted assets were invested in
these pooled funds by purchasing units based on the fair value of the pooled funds at the end of
the month prior to receipt of any new additions to the funds. Interest, dividends, and realized and

unrealized gains and losses earned on pooled funds are allocated monthly based on the \A«ighted
average units outstanding at the prior month-end.

Investment income or tosses (including change in unrealized and realized gains and losses on
unrestricted investments, change in value of equity method investments, interest, and dividends)
are included in the excess of revenue over expenses and classified as non-operating gains and
losses, unless the income or loss is restricted by donor or law (Note 8).

Fair Value Measurement of Financial Instruments

The Health System estimates fair value based on a valuation framework that uses a fair value
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The
hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3
measurements). The three levels of fair value hierarchy, as defined by ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, are described below;

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement
date for assets or liabilities.

Level 2 Prices other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly
observable as of the date of measurement.

Level 3 Prices or valuation techniques that are both significant to the fair value measurement
and unobservable.

The Health System applies the accounting provisions of Accounting Standards Update (ASU)
2009-12, Investments in Certain Entities Ttiat Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or its
Equivalent) (ASU 2009-12). ASU 2009-12 allows for the estimation of fair value of Investments for
which the investment does not have a readily determinable fair value, to use net asset value (NAV)
per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient, subject to the Health System's ability to redeem
its investment.

The carrying amount of patient accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets, accounts
payable and accrued expenses approximates fair value due to the short maturity of these
instruments.

Property, Plant, and Equipment
Property, plant, and equipment, and other real estate are stated at cost at the time of purchase or
fair value at the time of donation, less accumulated depreciation. The Health System's policy is to
capitalize expenditures for major improvements and to charge expense for maintenance and repair
expenditures which do not extend the lives of the related assets. The provision for depreciation
has been determined using the straight-line method at rates which are intended to amortize the
cost of assets over their estimated useful lives which range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and
improvements, 2 to 20 years for equipment, and the shorter of the lease term, or 5 to 12 years, for
leasehold improvements. Certain software development costs are amortized using the straight-line
method over a period of up to 10 years. Net interest cost incurred on borrowed funds during the
period of construction of capital assets Is capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring those
assets.
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The fair value of a liability for legal obligations associated with asset retirements is recognized in
the period in which it is incurred, if a reasonable estimate of the fair value of the obligation can be
made. When a liability is initially recorded, the cost of the asset retirement obligation is capitalized
by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Over time, the liability is accreted
to its present value each period and the capitalized cost associated with the retirement is
depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the obligation, any
difference between the actual cost to settle the asset retirement obligation and the liability recorded
is recognized as a gain or loss in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net
assets.

Gifts of capital assets such as land, buildings, or equipment are reported as unrestricted support,
and excluded from the excess of revenue over expenses, unless explicit donor stipulations specify
how the donated assets must be used. Gifts of capital assets with explicit restrictions that specify
how the assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire capital
assets are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those
capital assets must be maintained, expirations of donor restrictions are reported when the donated
or acquired capital assets are placed in service.

Bond Issuance Costs

Bond issuance costs, classified on the consolidated balance sheets within long-term debt, are
amortized over the term of the related bonds. Amortization is recorded within depreciation and
amortization in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets using the
straight-line method which approximates the effective interest method.

Trade Names

The Health System records trade names as intangible assets within other assets on the
consolidated statements of financial position. The Health System considers trade names to be
indefinite-lived assets, assesses them at least annually for impairment or more frequently if certain
events or circumstances warrant and recognizes impairment charges for amounts by which the
carrying values exceed their fair values. The Health System has recorded $2,462,000 and
$2,700,000 as intangible assets associated with its affiliations as of June 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
The Health System applies the provisions of ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, to its derivative
instruments, which require that all derivative instruments be recorded at their respective fair values
in the consolidated balance sheets.

On the date a derivative contract is entered into, the Health System designates the derivative as a
cash-flow hedge of a forecasted transaction or the variability of cash flows to be received or paid
related to a recognized asset or liability. For all hedge relationships, the Health System formally
documents the hedging relationship and its risk-management objective and strategy for
undertaking the hedge, the hedging instrument, the nature of the risk being hedged, how the
hedging instrument's effectiveness in offsetting the hedged risk will be assessed, and a description
of the method of measuring ineffectiveness. This process includes linking cash-flow hedges to
specific assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets, specific firm commitments or
forecasted transactions. The Health System also formally assesses, both at the hedge's inception
and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly
effective in offsetting changes in variability of cash flows of hedged items. Changes in the fair
value of a derivative that is highly effective and that is designated and qualifies as a cash-flow
hedge are recorded In unrestricted net assets until eamings are affected by the variability in cash
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flows of the designated hedged item. The ineffective portion of the change in fair value of a cash
flow hedge is reported in excess'of revenue over expenses in the consolidated statements of
operations and changes in net assets.

The Health System discontinues hedge accounting prospectlvely when it is determined: (a) the
derivative is no longer effective in offsetting changes in the cash flows of the hedged item; (b) the
derivative expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised; (c) the derivative is undesignated as a
hedging instrument because it is unlikely that a forecasted transaction will occur; (d) a hedged firm
commitment no longer meets the definition of a firm commitment; and (e) management determines
that designation of the derivative as a hedging instrument is no longer appropriate.

In all situations in which hedge accounting is discontinued, the Health System continues to carry
the derivative at its fair value on the consolidated balance sheets and recognizes any subsequent
changes in its fair value in excess of revenue over expenses.

Gifts and Bequests
Unrestricted gifts and bequests are recorded net of related expenses as non-operating gains.
Conditional promises to give and indications of intentions to give to the Health System are reported
at fair value at the date the gift is received. Gifts are reported as either temporarily or permanently
restricted if they are received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When
a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is
accomplished, temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified as unrestricted net assets and
reported in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as net assets
released from restrictions.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers and in

August 2015, the FASB amended the guidance to defer the effective date of this standard by one
year. ASU 2014-09 affects any entity that either enters into contracts with customers to transfer
goods or services or enters into contracts for the transfer of nonfinancial assets unless those
contracts are within the scope of other standards. The core principle of the guidance in ASU 2014-
09 is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services
to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or sen/ices. The Health System is in the process of completing an
evaluation of the requirements of the new standard, which became effective on July 1, 2018. In
addition, the Health System is in the process of drafting the new disclosures required post
implementation. The Health System plans to use a modified retrospective method of application to
adopt ASU 2014-09 on July 1, 2018. The Health System will use a portfolio approach to apply the
new model to classes of payers with similar characteristics and analyze cash collection trends over
an appropriate collection look-back period depending on the payer. Adoption of ASU 2014-09 will
result in changes to the presentation for and disclosure of revenue related to uninsured or
underinsured patients. Prior to the adoption of ASU 2014-09, a significant portion of the provision
for doubtful accounts related to self-pay patients, as well as co-pays and deductibles owed to the
Health System by patients. Under ASU 2014-09, the estimated uncollectible amounts due from
these patients are generally considered a direct reduction to net operating revenues and,
coirespondingly, result in a material reduction in the amounts presented separately as provision for
doubtful accounts. The Health System is also in the process of completing an assessment of the
impact of the new standard on other operating revenue and various reimbursement programs that
represent variable consideration. These include supplemental state Medicaid programs,
disproportionate share payments and settlements vrith third party payers. The payment '
mechanisms for these types of programs vary by state. While the adoption of ASU 2014-09 will
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have a material effect on the presentation of net operating revenues in the Health System's
consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets, and will impact certain
disclosures, it vtnll not materially impact the financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02 - Leases, which requires a lessee to recognize a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, initially measured at the present value of the lease
payments, on its balance sheet. The standard also requires a lessee to recognize a single lease
cost, calculated so that the cost of the lease is allocated over the lease term, on a generally
straight-line basis. The guidance also expands the required quantitative and qualitative disclosures
surrounding leases. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, or
fiscal year 2020 for the Health System. The Health System is evaluating the impact of the new
guidance on the consolidated financial statements.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01- Recognition and Measurement of Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities, which address certain aspects of recognition, measurement,
presentation-end disclosure of financial instruments. This guidance allows an entity to choose,
investment-by-investment, to report an equity investment that neither has a readily determinable
fair value, nor qualifies for the practical expedient for fair value estimation using NAV, at its cost
minus impairment (If any), plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in
orderly transactions for the identical or similar investment of the same issue. Impairment of such
investments must be assessed qualitatively at each reporting period. Entities must disclose their
financial assets and liabilities by measurement category and form of asset either on the face of the
balance sheet or in the accompanying notes. The ASU is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15,2018 or fiscal year 2020 for the Health System. The provision to
eliminate the requirement to disclose the fair value of financial instruments measured at cost (such
as the fair value of debt) was early adopted during the year ended June 30, 2017.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-14 - Presentation of Financial Statements forNot-for-
Profit Entities. The new pronouncement amends certain financial reporting requirements for not-for-
profit entities, including revisions to the classification of net assets and expanded disclosure
requirements conceming expenses and liquidity. The ASU is effective for the Health System for
the year ending June 30, 2019. The Health System is evaluating the impact of the new guidance on
the consolidated financial statements.

3. Patient Service Revenue and Accounts Receivable

Patient service revenue is reported net of contractual allowances and the provision for bad debts
as follows for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017:

(in thousands of dollars)

Gross patient service revenue
Less: Contractual allowances

Provision for bad debt

Net patient service revenue

2018

5,180,649

3,281,554

47,367

2017

4,865,332

3,006,140

63,645

$  1,851,728 $ 1,795,547

Accounts receivable are reduced by an allowance for estimated uncollectibles. In evaluating the
collectability of accounts receivable, the Health System analyzes past collection history and
identifies trends for several categories of self-pay accounts (uninsured, residual balances, pre-
collection accounts and charity) to estimate the appropriate allowance percentages in establishing
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the allowance for bad debt expense. Management performs collection rate look-back analyses on
a quarterly basis to evaluate the sufficiency of the allowance for estimated uncollectibles.
Throughout the year, after all reasonable collection efforts have been exhausted, the difference
between the standard rates and the amounts actually collected, including contractual adjustments
and uninsured discounts, will be written off against the allowance for estimated uncollectibles. In
addition to the review of the categories of revenue, management monitors the \Mite offs against
established allowances as of a point in time to determine the appropriateness of the underlying
assumptions used in estimating the allowance for estimated uncollectibles.

Accounts receivable, prior to adjustment for estimated uncollectibles, are summarized as follows at
June 30, 2018 and 2017:

(in thousands of dollars) 2018 2017

Receivables

Patients $ 94,104 $ 90,786
Third-party payers 250,657 263,240
Nonpatient 6,695 4,574

$  351,456 $ 356,600

The allowance for estimated uncollectibles is $132,228,000 and $121,340,000 as of June 30, 2018
and 2017.

The following table categorizes payers into five groups and their respective percentages of gross
patient-service revenue for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017

Medicare 43 % 43 %

Anthem/Blue Cross 18 18

Commercial insurance 20 20

Medicaid 13 13

Self-pay/other 6 6

100 % 100 %

The Health System has agreements with third-party payers that provide for payments at amounts
different from their established rates. A summary of the acute care payment arrangements in effect
during the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 with major third-party payers follows:

Medicare

The Health System's inpatient acute care services provided to Medicare program beneficiaries are
paid at prospectively determined rates-per-discharge. These rates vary according to a patient
classification system that is based on diagnostic, clinical and other factors. In addition, inpatient
capital costs (depreciation and interest) are reimbursed by Medicare on the basis of a prospectively
determined rate per discharge. Medicare outpatient services are paid on a prospective payment
system. Under this system, outpatient services are reimbursed based on a pre-determined amount
for each outpatient procedure, subject to various mandated modifications. The Health System is
reimbursed during the year for services to Medicare beneficiaries based on varying interim
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payment methodologies. Final settlement is determined after the submission of an annual cost
report and subsequent audit of this report by the Medicare fiscal intermediary.

Certain of the Health System's affiliates qualify as Critical Access Hospitals (CAH), which are
reimbursed by Medicare at 101% of reasonable costs, subject to 2% sequestration, for its inpatient
acute, swing bed, and outpatient services, excluding ambulance services and inpatient hospice
care. They are reimbursed at an interim rate for cost based sen/ices with a final settlement

determined by the Medicare Cost Report filing. The nursing home and Rehabilitation distinct part
units are not impacted by CAH designation. Medicare reimburses both services based on an
acuity driven prospective payment system with no retrospective settlement.

Certain of the Health System's affiliates qualify as Home Health and Hospice Providers. Providers
of home health services to clients eligible for Medicare home health benefits are paid on a
prospective basis, with no retrospective settlement. The prospective payment is based on the
scoring attributed to the acuity level of the client at a rate determined by federal guidelines.
Hospice services to clients eligible for Medicare hospice benefits are paid on a per diem basis, with
.no.retrospective settlement, provided the aggregate annual Medicare reimbursement is below a
predetermined aggregate capitated rate. Revenue is recognized as the services are performed
based on the fixed rate amount.

Medicald

The Health System's payments for inpatient sen/ices rendered to NH Medicaid beneficiaries are
based on a prospective payment system, while outpatient services are reimbursed on a
retrospective cost basis or fee schedules. NH Medicaid Outpatient Direct Medical Education costs
are reimbursed, as a pass-through, based on the filing of the Medicare cost report. Payment for
inpatient and outpatient services rendered to VT Medicaid beneficiaries are based on prospective
payment systems and the skilled nursing facility is reimbursed on a prospectively determined per
diem rate.

During the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Health System recorded State of NH
Medicaid Enhancement Tax (MET) and State of VT Provider Tax of $67,692,000 and $66,069,000,
respectively. The taxes are calculated at 5.4% for NH and 6% for VT of certain net patient
revenues in accordance with Instructions received from the States. The provider taxes are
included in Medicaid enhancement tax in the consolidated statements of operations and changes In
net assets.

During fiscal year 2016, Vermont state legislation passed changes to the tax base for home health
providers from 19.30% of core home health care services (primarily Medicaid services) with a cap
of 6% of net patient service revenue to 3.63% of net patient revenue for fiscal year 2017 and fiscal
year 2018. Home health provider tax paid, which is included in purchased services and other in the
consolidated statements of operations and changes In net assets, was $737,000 and $645,000 In
2018 and 2017, respectively.

On June 30, 2014, the NH Governor signed into law a bi-partisan legislation reflecting an
agreement between the State of NH and 25 NH hospitals on the Medicaid Enhancement Tax 'SB
369'. As part of this agreement the parties have agreed to resolve all pending litigation related to
MET and Medicaid Rates, including the Catholic Medical Center Litigation, the Northeast
Rehabilitation Litigation, 2014 DRA Refund Requests, and the State Rate Litigation.
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In May of 2018, the State of NH and NH Hospitals reached a new seven-year agreement through
2024. Under the terms of this agreement, the hospitals agreed to accept approximately $28 million
less in DSN payments to which they are entitled in fiscal year 2018 and fiscal year 2019 in
exchange for greater certainty about both future DSN payments and increases in Medicaid
reimbursement rates. The new agreement contains a number of safeguards. In the event of
adverse federal legislative or administrative changes to the DSN program, the agreement provides
for altemative payments (e.g., other Medicaid supplemental payments or rate increases that will
compensate the hospitals for any loss of DSN revenue). Additionally, the hospitals have filed a
declaratory judgment petition based on the terms of the 2018 agreement, to which the State of NH
has consented and on which a court order has been entered. If the State of NH breaches any term
of the 2018 agreement, the hospitals are entitled to recoup the balance of DSH payments forfeited
in fiscal year 2018 and fiscal year 2019.

Pursuant to this agreement, the State of NH made DSH payments to D-HH member hospitals in
NH in the aggregate amount of approximately $66,383,000 for fiscal year 2018. In fiscal year
2017, D-HH member hospitals in NH received approximately $59,473,000.

The Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act included in the
American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) provides incentives for the adoption and use of
health information technology by Medicare and Medicaid providers and eligible professionals. The
Health System has recognized meaningful use incentives of $344,000 and $1,156,000 for both the
Medicare and Vermont Medicaid programs during the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively.

Laws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid programs are complex and subject to
interpretation. Compliance with laws and regulations can be subject to future government review
and interpretation as well as significant regulatory action; failure to comply with such laws and
regulations can result in fines, penalties and exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid programs.

Other

For services provided to patients with commercial insurance, the Health System receives payment
for inpatient services at prospectively determined rates-per-discharge, prospectively determined
per diem rates or a percentage of established charges. Outpatient services are reimbursed on a
fee schedule or at a discount from established charges.

Non-acute and physician services are paid at various rates under different arrangements with
governmental payors, commercial insurance carriers and health maintenance organizations. The
basis for payments under these arrangements includes prospectively determined per visit rates,
discounts from established charges, fee schedules, and reasonable cost subject to limitations.

The Health System has provided for its estimated final settlements with all payors based upon
applicable contracts and reimbursement legislation and timing in effect for all open years (2013 •
2018). The differences between the amounts provided and the actual final settlement, if any, is
recorded as an adjustment to net patient service revenue as amounts become known or as years
are no longer subject to audits, reviews and investigations. During 2018 and 2017, changes in
prior estimates related to the Health System's settlements with third-party payors resulted in
(decreases) increases in net patient service revenue of ($5,604,000) and $2,000,000 respectively,
in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets.
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4. Investments

The composition of investments at June 30, 2018 and 2017 is set forth in the folloviinng table;

(in thousands of dollars) 2018 2017

Assets limited as to use

.Intemally designated by board
Cash and short-term investments $  8,558 $ 9,923

U.S. govemment securities 50,484 44,835

Oomestic corporate debt securities 109,240 100,953

Global debt securities 110,944 105,920
Oomestic equities 142,796 129,548

Intemational equities 106,668 95,167

Emerging markets equities 23,562 33.893
Real Estate Investment Trust 816 791

Private equity funds 50,415 39,699

Hedge funds 32,831 30,448

636,314 591,177

Investments held by captive insurance companies (Note 11)
U.S. govemment securities 30,581 18,814

Domestic corporate debt securities 16,764 21,681

Global debt securities 4,513 5,707

Domestic equities 8,109 9,048

Intemational equities 7,971 13,888

67,938 69,138

Held by trustee under Indenture agreement (Note 9)
Cash and short-term investments 1,872 2,008

Total assets limited as to use 706,124 662,323

Other Investments for restricted activities

Cash and short-term investments 4,952 5,467

U.S. govemment secuiities 28,220 28,096
Domestic corporate debt securities 29,031 27,762

Global debt securities 14,641 14,560

Domestic equities 20,509 18,451

Intemational equities 17,521 15,499
Emerging markets equities 2,155 3,249

Real Estate Investment Trust 954 790

Private equity funds 4,878 3,949
Hedge funds 8,004 6,676

Other 31 30

Total other investments for restricted activities 130,896 124,529

Total investments $  837,020 $ 786,852
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Investments are accounted for using either the fair value method or equity method of accounting,
as appropriate on a case by case basis. The fair value method is used when debt securities or
equity securities are traded on active markets and are valued at prices that are readily available in
those markets. The equity method is used when investments are made in pooled/commingled
investment funds that represent investments where shares or units are owned of pooled funds
rather than the underlying securities In that fund. These pooled/commingled funds make
underlying investments in securities from the asset classes listed above. All investments, \Arhether
the fair value or equity method of accounting is used, are reported at what the Health System
believes to be the amount that the Health System would expect to receive if it liquidated its
investments at the balance sheets date on a non-distressed basis.

The following tables summarize the investments by the accounting method utilized, as of June 30,
2018 and 2017. Accounting standards require disclosure of additional information for those
securities accounted for using the fair value method, as shown in Note 6.

2018

(in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Equity Total

Cash and short-term investments $ 15,382 $ _ $ 15,382
U.S. government securities 109,285 - 109,285
Domestic corporate debt securities 95,481 59,554 155,035
Global debt securities 49,104 80,994 130,098
Domestic equities 157,011 14,403 171,414
International equities 60,002 72,158 132,160
Emerging markets equities 1,296 24,421 25,717
Real Estate Investment Trust 222 1,548 1,770
Private equity funds

1
- 55,293 55,293

Hedge funds - 40,835 40,835
Other 31 31

$ 487,814 $ 349,206 $ 837,020

2017

(in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Equity Total

Cash and short-term investments $ 17,398 $ $ 17,398
U.S. govemment securities 91,745 - 91,745
Domestic corporate debt securities 121,631 28,765

1

150,396
Global debt securities 45,660 80,527 126,187
Domestic equities 144,618 12,429 157,047
International equities 29,910 94,644 124,554
Emerging markets equities 1,226 35,916 37,142
Real Estate Investment Trust 128 1,453 1,581

Private equity funds - 43,648 43,648
Hedge funds - 37,124 37,124
Other 30 ■ 30

$ 452,346 $ 334,506 $ 786,852
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Investment income is comprised of the following for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017;

(in thousands of ddlars) 2018 2017

Unrestricted

Interest and dividend income, net
Net realized gains on sales of securities
Change in net unrealized gains on investments

$ 12,324 $

24,411

4,612

4,418

16,866

30,809

41,347 52,095

Temporarily restricted
Interest and dividend income, net

Net realized gains on sales of securities
Change in net unrealized gains on investments

1,526

1,438

1,282

1,394

283

3,775

4,246 5,452

Permanently restricted
Change in net unrealized gains on beneficial interest in trust 108 245

108 245

$ 45,701 $ 57,792

For the years ended June 30. 2018 and 2017 unrestricted investment income is reflected in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as operating
revenue of approximately $960,000 and $1,039,000 and as non-operating gains of approximately
$40,387,000 and 51,056,000, respectively.

Private equity limited partnership shares are not eligible for redemption from the fund or general
partner, but can be sold to third party buyers in private transactions that typically can be completed
in approximately 90 days. It is the intent of the Health System to hold these investments until the
fund has fully distributed all proceeds to the limited partners and the term of the partnership
agreement expires. Under the terms of these agreements, the Health System has committed to
contribute a specified level of capital over a defined period of time. Through June 30, 2018 and
2017, the Health System has committed to contribute approximately $137,219,000 and
$1.19,719,000 to such funds, of which the Health System has contributed approximately
$91,942,000 and $81,982,000 and has outstanding commitments of $45,277,000 and $37,737,000,
respectively.
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5. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are summarized as follows at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

(in thousands of dollars) 2018 2017

Land $  38,058 $  38,058
Land improvements 42,295 37,579
Buildings and improvements 876,537 818,831
Equipment 818,902 766,667
Equipment under capital leases 20,966 20,495

1,796,758 1,681,630

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization 1,200,549 1,101,058

Total depreciable assets, net 596,209 580,572

Construction in progress 11,112 29,403

$  607,321 $  609,975

As of June 30, 2018, construction in progress primarily consists of the building renovations taking
place at the birthing pavilion in Lebanon, NH as well as the information systems PeopleSoft project
for APD and Cheshire. The estimated cost to complete the birthing pavilion at June 30, 2018 is
$200,000 and the estimated cost to complete the PeopleSoft project is $2,775,000.

The construction in progress for the Hospice & Palliative Care building reported as of June 30,
2017 was completed during the second quarter of fiscal year 2018 and APD's medical office
building was completed in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018.

Depreciation and amortization expense included in operating and non-operating activities was
approximately $84,947,000 and $84,711,000 for 2018 and 2017, respectively.

6. Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies for assets and liabilities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis:

Cash and Short-Term Investments

Consists of money market funds and are valued at net asset value (NAV) reported by the financial
institution.

Domestic, Emerging Markets and International Equities
Consists of actively traded equity securities and mutual funds which are valued at the closing price
reported on an active market on which the individual securities are traded (Level 1 measurements).
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U.S. Government Securities, Domestic Corporate and Global Debt Securities
Consists of U.S. government securities, domestic corporate and global debt securities, mutual
funds and pooled/commingled funds that invest in U.S. government securities, domestic corporate
and global debt securities. Securities are valued based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes
where available (Level 1 measurement). If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are
based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments or, if necessary, matrix pricing from a
third party pricing vendor to determine fair value (Level 2 measurements). Matrix prices are based
on quoted prices for securities with similar coupons, ratings and maturities, rather than on specific
bids and offers for a designated security. Investments in mutual funds are measured based on the
quoted NAV as of the close of business in the respective active market (Level 1 measurements).

Interest Rate Swaps
The fair value of interest rate swaps, are determined using the present value of the fixed and
floating legs of the swaps. Each series of cash flows are discounted by observable market interest
rate curves and credit risk. All interest rate swaps held by the Health System were extinguished as
part of Series 2018A and Series 2018B bond Issuance (Note 9).

The preceding methods may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net
realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, although management believes its
valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of
different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments
could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date.

Investments are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement. The following tables set forth the consolidated financial assets and
liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2018 and'2017;

201t

(In thousands ot dolafs}

A»Mta

lnv**tm*nts

Cash and short tarm Invastmanls

U.S. oovanvnant aacurttfas
Oomostic corporata dabi sacudtkas
Global daM sacurtUaa

Oomostic aquMos
Intamattonal aqUtlat
Emarglrtg markal aquiUai
Raal astato invsttmant (rust

Othar

Total Invastmants

Dafarrad compansatlon plan assats
Cash arxt ihort^arm invastmsntj

U.S. govammant sacurtUas
Domastic corporata dabt sacurltlas
GlotMl dabt sacurltlas

Domastic squltlas
Intamational aqultlas
Emargtng markat aquilJas

. Raalastata

MuiU stratagyfund
Guarantaad corttract

Total dafarrad comparuatlon plan assats

Bartsflcial Intarast In trusts

Total assats

Radamptlon Days'
Laval 1 Lavs! 2 UvalS Total or Uquidatlen Nodes

%  15.U2 % -  $ •  8 15,382 OaUy
100.285 - 100.265 Daily
41.488 53,003 05.461 Daily-Monthly 1-15

32.874 16.230 49.104 Daily-Monthly 1-15

157.011 • 157.011 Daily-Monthly 1-10

59.024 78 60.002 Daily-Monthly 1-11

1.208 • 1.206 Daily-Monthly 1-7

222 • 222 Daily-Monthly 1-7

- 31 31 Not appUcabIa Not appUcabIa

417,482 70.332 487.814

2,637 2,637

38 36

3,749 3,740

1,080 1,080

18.470 16,470
3,564 3.584

28 26

0 0

46.860 46,660
- 68 86

76.264 68 76.370 Not appUcabls Not applicabia

. 0,374 0,374 Not appllcabia Not applicablo

>  403.786 3 70.332 S 0,460 3 573,556
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»17

Rsdwnptlon Days'
(inoxjuttfatofaoavs) Uvoll Lov*l2 UvM3 TotsI erUquMation Nodes

ASMt*

iRvattnantt

Cash and short tarm Invastmants S 17.399 •  9 - 9 17.399 Ody 1

U.S. govanvnaftt tacurlttti 91.745 - 91.745 Dtly 1

Oomastic corporsts debt tacuriUas 99.239 55,393 121.931 Osly-MonOtly 1-15

Global dabi saeudtlai 29.142 17.519 45.990 Osly-MontMy 1-15

Domasdc aqultlai 144.919 144.619 Dsly-MonlMy 1-10

Iniamational aqultiat 29.870 40 29,910 OtMlontMy 1-11

Emargfatg market aqulUas 1.229 1,226 Osly44onthly 1-7

Raal astala invastmani trust 129 129 Daly-Monthly 1-7

Othar
•

30 30 Not ippUcabla Not appleable

Total inviitmaflt* 370,395 72,991 492.349

Dafarrad compansation plan assats
Cash and short-tarm investments 2,933 2.933
U.S. oovammeni secwfllas 37 37

Oomastic oorporaia debt sacuiltlas 9.902 9.802
Globol debt sacurltias 1.095 1.095
Oomastic aqtritlet 29.609 26.909

- Intamsdonal aquitlas 9.595 9.595
Emarging martcel equities 2.709 2.706
.Real astata 2,112 2.112
UvUi strategy lund 13,093 13,083

Guarintaad contract 93 93

Total dafarrad compansation plan asaau 99,972 93 98.755 Net appicabta Noltpplcabia

Beneficial Intarasi In trusts' 9J44 9.244 NolappUcablt Notappicabls

Total assats $ 449,037 9 72,991 9 9,327 9 530.345

Uabintlaa -

Interest rale swaps $
• 9 20,916 9 ■ 9 20.919 Not appNcsUs Nol appUcaMs

Total labfltias S
• 9 20.916 9 • 9 20,919

The following table is a roltforward of the statements of financial instruments classified by the
Health System within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy defined above.

2018

Beneficlai

Interest in

Perpetual Guaranteed

(in thousands of dollars) Trust Contract Total

Balarices at beginning of year $  9,244 $ 83 $  9,327

Purchases .

Sales - -

Net unrealized gains 130 3 133

Net asset transfer from affiliate - - -

Balances at end of year $  9,374 $ 86 $  9,460
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2017

Beneficial

Interest In

Perpetual Guaranteed

(in thousands of dollars) Trust Contract Total

Balances at beginning of year $  9,087 $  80 $ 9,167

Purchases . _

Sales - . •

Net unrealized gains 157 3 160

Net asset transfer from affiliate - - -

Balances at end of year $ 9,244 $ 83 $ 9,327

There were no transfers into and out of Level 1 and 2 measurements due to changes In valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017.

7. Temporarily and Permanently Restricted Net Assets

Temporarily restricted net assets are available for the following purposes at June 30, 2018 and
2017:

(in thousands of dollars) 2018 2017

Healthcare services $ 19,570 $ 32,583
Research 24,732 25,385
Purchase of equipment 3,068 3,080
Charity care 13,667 13,814
Health education 18,429 17,489
Other 2,973 2,566

$ 82,439 $ 94,917

Permanently restricted net assets consist of the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

(in thousands of dollars) 2018 2017

Healthcare services $ 23,390 $ 22,916
Research 7,821 7,795
Purchase of equipment 6,310 6,274
Charity care 8,883 6,895
Health education 8,784 10,228
Other 206 57

$ 55,394 $ 54,165

Income earned on permanently restricted net assets is available for these purposes.
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8. Board Designated and Endowment Funds

Net assets include numerous funds established for a variety of purposes including both donor-
restricted endowment funds and funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function as
endowments. Net assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the
Board of Trustees to function as endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence
or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.

The Board of Trustees has interpreted the NH and VT Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional
Funds Acts (UPMIFA or Act) for donor-restricted endowment funds as requiring the preservation of
the original value of gifts, as of the gift date, to donor-restricted endowment funds, absent explicit
donor stipulations to the contrary. The Health System classifies as permanently restricted net
assets (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent endowment, (b) the original value of
subsequent gifts to the permanent endowment, and (c) accumulations to the permanent
endowment made in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift instrument at the
time the accumulation is added to the fund, if any. Collectively these amounts are referred to as

... the historic dollar value of the fund.

Unrestricted net assets include funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function as
endowments and the income from certain donor-restricted endovirment funds, and any accumulated
investment return thereon, which pursuant to donor intent may be expended based on trustee or
management designation. Temporarily restricted net assets include funds appropriated for
expenditure pursuant to endowment and investment spending policies, certain expendable
endowment gifts from donors, and any retained income and appreciation on donor-restricted
endowment funds, which are restricted by the donor to a specific purpose or by law. When the
temporary restrictions on these funds have been met, the ̂ nds are reclassified to unrestricted net
assets.

In accordance vwth the Act, the Health System considers the following factors in making a
determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds; the duration and
preservation of the fund; the putposes of the donor-restricted endowment fund; general economic
conditions; the possible effect of inflation and deflation; the expected total return from income and
the appreciation of investments; other resources available; and investment policies.'

The Health System has endowment investment and spending policies that attempt to provide a
.  . predictable stream of funding for programs supported by its endowment while ensuring that the

purchasing power does not decline over time. The Health System targets a diversified asset
allocation that places emphasis on investments in domestic and international equities, fixed
income, private equity, and hedge fund strategies to achieve its long-term retum objectives within
prudent risk constraints. The Health System's Investment Committee reviews the policy portfolio
asset allocations, exposures, and risk profile on an ongoing basis.

The Health System, as a policy, may appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much of an
endowment fund as the institution determines is prudent for the uses, benefits, purposes, and
duration for which the endowment is established, subject to donor intent expressed in the gift
instrument and the standard of prudence prescribed by the Act.

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endovmient

funds may fall below their original contributed value. Such market losses were not material as of
June 30. 2018 and 2017.
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Endowment net asset composition by type of fund consists of the following at June 30, 2018 and
2017:

2018

Temporarily Permanently
(in thousands of dollars) Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $ $  31,320 $  46,877 $ 78,197
Board-designated endowment funds 29,506 - - 29,506

Total endowed net assets $  29,506 $  31,320 $  46,877 $ 107,703

2017

Temporarily Permanently
(in thousands of dollars) Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $ $  29,701 $  45,756 $ 75,457

Board-designated endowment funds 26,389 - . 26,389

Total endowed net assets $  26,389 $  29,701 $  45,756 $ 101,846

Changes in endowment net assets for the year ended June 30, 2018:

2018

Temporarily Permanently
(in thousands of dollars) Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

Balances at beginning of year $  26,389 $  29,701 $  45,756 $ 101.846

Net investment return 3,112 4,246 . 7,358

Contributions - - 1,121 1,121

Transfers 5 (35) - (30)
Release of appropriated funds - {2,592} - (2.592)

Balances at end of year $  29,506 $  31,320 46,877 $ 107,703

Balances at end of year
Beneficial interest in perpetual trust

Permanently restricted net assets

46,877

8.517

55,394
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Changes in endowment net assets for the year ended June 30, 2017;

2017

Temporarily Permanently
(in thousands of dollars) Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

Balances at beginning of year $ 26,205 $  25,780 $  45,402 $ 97,387

Net investment retum 283 5,285 2 5,570
Contributions - 210 300 510

Transfers - (26) 22 (4)
Release of appropriated funds (99) (1.548) - (1.647)

Net asset transfer from affiliates - - 30 30

Balances at end of year $ 26,389 $  29,701 $  45,756 $ 101,846

Balances at end of year 45,756
Beneficial interest in perpetual trust 8.409

Permanently restricted net assets $ 54,165
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9. Long-Term Debt

A summary of long-term debt at June 30, 2016 and 2017 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2018 2017

Variable rate Issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities

Authority (NHHEFA) Revenue Bonds
Series 2018A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2036 (1) $ 83,355 $

Series 2016A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2046 (3) • 24,608
Series 2015A, principal maturing in varying
annual amounts, through August 2031 (4) - 82,975

Fixed rate issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities

Authority Revenue Bonds

Series 2018B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2048 (1) 303,102
Series 2017A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2039 (2) 122,435
Series 2017B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2030 (2) 109,800
Series 2016B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2046 (3) 10,970 10,970
Series 2014A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2022 (6) 26,960 26,960
Series 2014B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2033 (6) 14,530 14,530
Series 2012A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2031 (7) - 71,700
Series 2012B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2031 (7) - 39,340
Series 2012, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through July 2039 (11) 25,955 26,735

Series 2010, principal maturing in varying annual
. amounts, through August 2040 (9) - 75,000

Series 2009, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2038 (10) ^ 57,540

Total variable and fixed rate debt $ 697,107 $ 430,358
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A summary of long-term debt at June 30, 2018 and 2017 is as follows (continued):

(in thousands of dollars) 2018 2017

Other

Revolving Line of Credit, principal maturing
through March 2019 (5) $  - $ 49,750

Series 2012, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through July 2025 (8) ' - 136,000

Series 2010, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2040 (12)* 15,498 15,900

Note payable to a financial institution payable in interest free
monthly installments through July 2015;

collateralized by associated equipment* 646 811

Note payable to a financial institution with entire

principal due June 2029 that is collateralized by land

and building. The note payable is interest free* 380 437

Mortgage note payable to the US Dept of Agriculture;
monthly payments of $10,892 include interest of 2.375%
through November 2046* 2,697 2,763

Obligations under capital leases 18,965 3,435

Total other debt 38,186 209,096

Total variable and fixed rate debt 697,107 430,358

Total long-term debt 735,293 639,454

Less: Original issue discounts and premiums, net (26,862) 862

Bond issuance costs, net 5,716 3,832

Current portion 3,464 18,357

$  752,975 $ 616,403

'Represents nonobligated group bonds

Aggregate annual principal payments required under revenue bond agreements and capital lease
obligations for the next five years ending June 30 and thereafter are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2018

2019 $ 3,464

2020 10,495

2021 10,323

2022 10,483

2023 7,579

Thereafter ' 692,949

$  735,293
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Obligated Group (DHOG) Bonds.
MHMH established the DHOG in 1993 for the original purpose of Issuing bonds financed through
NHHEFA or the "Authority". The members of the obligated group consist of MHMH, DHC,
Cheshire, NLH and MAHHC. D-HH is designated as the obligated group agent.

Revenue Bonds issued by members of the DHOG are administered through notes registered in the
name of the Bond Trustee and in accordance with the terms of a Master Trust Indenture. The

Master Trust Indenture contains provisions permitting the addition, withdrawal, or consolidation of
merhbers of the DHOG under certain conditions. The notes constitute a joint and several obligation
of the members of the DHOG (and any other future members of the DHOG) and are equally and
ratably collateralized by a pledge of the members' gross receipts. The DHOG is also subject to

certain annual covenants under the Master Trust Indenture, the most restrictive is the Annual Debt

Service Coverage Ratio (1.1 Ox).

(1) Series 2018A and Series 20188 Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A and Series 2018B in February
2018. The Series 2018A Revenue Bonds were primarily used to refund a portion of Series
2015A and Series 2016A. The Series 2018B were primarily used to refund a portion of Series
2015A and Series 2016A, Revolving Line of Credit, Series 2012 Bank Loan and the Series
2015A and Series 2016A Swap terminations. A loss on the extinguishment of debt of
approximately $578,000 was recognized in non-operating gains (losses) on the statement of
operations and changes In net assets, as a result of the refinancing. The interest on the Series
2018A Revenue Bonds is variable with a current interest rate of 5.00% and matures in variable

' amounts through 2037. The interest on the Series 2018B Revenue Bonds is fixed with an
Interest rate of 4.18% and matures in variable amounts through 2048.

(2) Series 2017A and Series 2017B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A and Series 2017B in December,

2017. The Series 2017A Revenue Bonds were primarily used to refund Series 2009 and
Series 2010 and the Series 2017B Revenue Bonds were used to refund Series 2012A and

Series 2012B. A loss on the extinguishment of debt of approximately $13,636,000 was
recognized in non-operating gains (losses) on the statement of operations and changes in net
assets, as a result of the refinancing. The interest on the Series 2017A Revenue Bonds is fixed
v/ith an Interest rate of 5.00% and matures in variable amounts through 2040. The interest on
the Series 2017B Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 2.54% and matures in

variable amounts through 2031.

(3) Series 2016A and 2016B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2016A and 2016B in July 2016 through a
private placement with a financial Institution. The Series 2016A Revenue Bonds were primarily

' used to refund Series 2013A and Series 2013B and the Series 2016B Revenue Bonds were

used to finance 2016 projects. Interest is equal to the sum of .70 times one month LIBOR plus
.70 times the spread. The variable rate as of June 30 2017 was 1.48% The Series 2016B is
fixed with an interest rate of 1.78% and matures at various dates through 2046. The Series
2016A Revenue Bonds were refunded in February 2018.
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(4) Series 2015A Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2015A in September 2015 through a
private placement with a financial institution. The Series 2015A Revenue Bonds were primarily
used to refinance a portion of the Series 2011 Revenue Bonds and to cover cost of issuance.
The Series 2015A Revenue Bonds accrue interest variably and mature at various dates '
through 2031 based on the one-month London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR). The Series
2015A Revenue Bonds were refunded in February 2018.

(5) Revolving Line of Credit

The DHOG entered into a Revolving Line of Credit with TO Bank, N.A. (TO Bank). Interest on
the TO Bank loan accrues variably and matures at various dates through March 2019. The
Revolving Line of Credit was refunded in February 2018.

(6) Series 2014A and Series 2014B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2014A and Series 2014B In August 2014.
The proceeds from the Series 2014A and 2014B Revenue Bonds were used to partially refund
the Series 2009 Revenue Bonds and to cover cost of issuance. Interest on the 2014A

Revenue Bonds Is fixed with an interest rate of 2.63% and matures at various dates through
2022. Interest on the Series 2014B Revenue Bonds is fixed vkrith an interest rate of 4.00% and

matures at various dates through 2033.

(7) Series 2012A and 2012B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2012A and Series 2012B in November
2012. The proceeds from the Series 2012A and 2012B were used to advance refund the

Series 2002 Revenue Bonds and to cover cost of issuance. Interest on the 2012A Revenue

Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 2.29% and matures at various dates through 2031.
Interest on the Series 2012B Revenue Bonds is fixed vrith an interest rate of 2.33% and

matures at various dates through 2031. The Series 2012A and Series 2012B Revenue Bonds
were refunded in December 2017.

(8) Series 2012 Bank Loan

The DHOG issued the Bank of America, N.A. Series 2012 note, in July 2012. The proceeds
from the Series 2012 note were used to prefund the D-H defined benefit pension plan. Interest
on the Series 2012 note accrues at a fixed rate of 2.47% and matures at various dates through
2025. The Series 2012 Bank Loan was refunded in February 2018.

(9) Series 2010 Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2010, in June 2010. The proceeds from
the Series 2010 Revenue Bonds were primarily used to construct a 140,000 square foot
ambulatory care facility in Nashua, NH as well as various equipment. Interest on the bonds
accrue at a fixed rate of 5.00% and mature at various dates through August 2040. The Series
2010 Revenue Bonds were defeased in December 2017.
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(10)Serie8 2009 Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2009, In August 2009. The proceeds from
the Series 2009 Revenue Bonds were primarily used to advance refund the Series 2008
Revenue Bonds. Interest on the Series 2009 Revenue Bonds accrue at varying fixed rates
between 5.00% and 6.00% and mature at various dates through August 2038. The Series 2009
Revenue Bonds were defeased in December 2017.

(11)Serl0$ 2012 Revenue Bonds

The NHHEFA issued $29,650,000 of tax-exempt Revenue Bonds, Series 2012. The proceeds

of these bonds were used to refund 1998 and 2009 Series Bonds, to finance the settlement
cost of the interest rate swap, and to finance the purchase of certain equipment and
renovations. The bonds have fixed interest coupon rates ranging from 2.0% to 5.0% (a net
interest cost of 3.96%). Principal is payable in annual installments ranging from $780,000 to

.  $1,750,000 through July 2039. The Series 2012 Revenue Bonds were refunded in February
2018.

Outstanding joint and several indebtedness of the DHOG at June 30, 2018 and 2017 approximates
$697,107,000 and $616,108,000, respectively.

Non Obligated Group Bonds

(12)Serles 2010 Revenue Bonds

The Business Finance Authority (BFA) of the State of NH Issued Revenue Bonds, Series 2010.
Interest is based on an annual percentage rate equal to the sum of (a) 69% of the 1-Month
LIBOR rate plus (b) 1.8975/5. APD may prepay certain of these bonds according to the terms
of the loan and trust agreement. The bonds are redeemable at any time by APD at par value
plus any accrued interest. The bonds are also subject to optional tender for purchase (as a
whole) in November 2020 at par plus accrued Interest.

The Health System Indenture agreements require establishment and maintenance of debt service
reserves and other trustee held funds. Trustee held funds of approximately $1,872,000 and
$2,008,000 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, are classified as assets limited as to use in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets (Note 4). The debt service reserves are mainly
comprised of escrowed funds held for future interest payments for the Cheshire debt.

For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 interest expense on the Health System's long term
debt is reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net
assets as operating expense of approximately $18,822,000 and $19,838,000 and is included in
other non-operating losses of $2,793,000 and $3,135,000, respectively.

Swap Agreements
The Health System is subject to market risks such as changes in interest rates that arise from
normal business operation. The Health System regularly assesses these risks and has established
business strategies to provide natural offsets, supplemented by the use of derivative financial
instruments to protect against the adverse effect of these and other market risks. The Health
System has established clear policies, procedures, and internal controls governing the use of
derivatives and does not use them for trading, investment, or other speculative purposes. .
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A summary of the Health System's derivative financial instruments is as follo>vs;

•  A Fixed Payer Swap designed as a cash flow hedge of the NHHEFA Series 2011 Revenue
Bonds. The Swap had an initial notional amount of $91,040,000. The Swap Agreement
requires the Health System to pay the counterparty a fixed rate of 4.56% in exchange for the
counterparty's payment of 67% of USD-LIBOR-BBA. The Swap's term matches that of the
associated bonds. The 2011 interest rate swap was not integrated with the 2011 bonds. When
the 2011 bonds were refinanced, the swap became associated with the 2015 bond. The Fixed
Payor Swap was terminated in February 2018.

•  An Interest Rate Swap to hedge the interest rate risk associated with the NHHEFA Series

2013 Revenue Bonds. The Swap had an initial notional amount of $15,000,000. The Swap
Agreement requires the Health System to pay the counterparty a fixed rate of 3.94% in
exchange for the counterparty's payment at 67% of USD-LIBOR-BBA. The Swap term
matches that of the associated bonds. The Interest Rate Swap was terminated in February,
2018.

•  An Interest Rate Swap to hedge the interest rate risk associated with the VEHFBA Series
201 OA Revenue Bonds. The Swap had an initial notional amount of $7,244,000. The Sv/ap
Agreement requires the Health System to pay the counterparty a fixed rate of 2.41 % in
exchange for the counterparty's payment of 69% of USD-LIBOR-BBA. The swap was
terminated in September 2016, while the bonds will remain outstanding until 2030.

The obligation of the Health System to make payments on its bonds with respect to interest is in no
way conditional upon the Health System's receipt of payments from the interest rate swap
agreement counterparty.

As of June 30, 2018, there was no liability for interest rate swaps as all remaining swaps were
terminated in February 2018. For the year ended June 30, 2018, the Health System recognized a
non-operating loss due to swap termination of $14,247,000 relating to the swap termination. As of
June 30, 2017, the fair value of the Health System's interest rate swaps was a liability of
$20,916,000. The change in fair value during the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 was a
decrease of $4,897,000 and $8,002,000, respectively. For the years ended June 30, 2018 and

• 2017 the Health System recognized a non-operating gain of $145,000 and $124,000 resulting from
hedge ineffectiveness and amortization of frozen swaps.

10. Employee Benefits

All eligible employees of the Health System are covered under various defined benefit and/or
define contribution plans. In addition, certain affiliates provide postretirement medical and life
benefit plans to certain of its active and former employees v^o meet eligibility requirements. The
postretirement medical and life plans are not funded.

All of the defined benefit plans within the Health System have been frozen or had been approved
by the applicable Board of Trustees to be frozen by January 31, 2017.

In December of 2016 the Board of Trustees approved to accelerate the freeze date on the
remaining pension plan from December 31, 2017 to January 31,2017. Effective with that date, the
last of the participants earning benefits in any of the Health System's defined benefit plans will no
longer eam benefits under the plans.
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The Health System continued to execute the settlement of obligations due to retirees in the defined
benefit plans through bulk lump sum offerings or purchases of annuity contracts. The annuity
purchases follow guidelines established by the Department of Labor (DOL). The Health System
anticipates continued consideration and/or implementation of additional settlements over the next
several years.

Defined Benefit Plans

Net periodic pension expense included in employee benefits in the consolidated statements of
operations and changes in net assets is comprised of the components listed below for the years
ended June 30, 2016 and 2017;

(in thousands of dollars) 2018 2017

Service cost for benefits eamed during the year $  150 $ 5,736
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 47,190 47,316
Expected return on plan assets (64,561) (64,169)
Net prior service cost - 109

Net loss amortization 10,593 20,267
Special/contractural termination benefits - 119

One-time benefit upon plan freeze acceleration
- 9,519

$  (6,628) $ 18,897

The follovi/Ing assumptions were used to determine net periodic pension expense as of June 30,
2018 and 2017:

2018 2017

Discount rate

Rate of increase in compensation
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets

4.00%-4.30%

N/A

7.50%-7.75%

4.20%-4.90%

Age Graded • N/A
7.50%-7.75%
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The following table sets forth the funded status and amounts recognized in the Health System's
consolidated financial statements for the defined benefit pension plans at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

(in thousands of dollars) 2018 2017

Change In benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $  1,122,615 $ 1,096,619
Service cost 150 5,736
Interest cost 47,190 47,316
Benefits paid (47,550) (43,276)
Expenses paid (172) (183)
Actuarial (gain) loss (34,293) 6,884
One-time benefit upon plan freeze acceleration

- 9,519

Benefit obligation at end of year 1,087,940 1,122,615

Change In plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 878,701 872.320
Actual retum on plan assets 33,291 44.763
Benefits paid (47,550) (43,276)
Expenses paid (172) (183)
Employer contributions 20,713 5,077

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 884,983 878,701

Funded status of the plans (202,957) (243,914)

Less: Current portion of liability for pension (45) (46)

Long term portion of liability for pension (202,912) (243,868)

Liability for pension $  (202,957) $ (243,914)

For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 the liability for pension is included in the liability for
pension and other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic pension expense and included In the change in
unrestricted net assets include approximately $418,971,000 and $429,782,000 of net actuarial loss
as of June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

The estimated amounts to be amortized from unrestricted net assets into net periodic pension
expense in fiscal year 2019 for net actuarial losses is $10,357,000.

The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plans vvas approximately
$1,087,991,000 and $1,123,010,000 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

The following table sets forth the assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation at June 30,
2018 and 2017;

2018 2017

Discount rate

Rate of increase in compensation
4.20%-4.50%

N/A

4.00%-4.30%

N/A - 0.00 %
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The primary investment objective for the Plan's assets is to support the Pension liabilities of the
Pension Plans for Employees of the Health System, by providing long-term capital appreciation and
by also using a Liability Driven Investing ("LDI') strategy to partially hedge the impact fluctuating
interest rates have on the value of the Plan's liabilities. As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, it is
expected that the LDI strategy will hedge approximately 60% and 55%, respectively, of the interest
rate risk associated with pension liabilities. To achieve the appreciation and hedging objectives,
the Plans utilize a diversified structure of asset classes designed to achieve stated performance
objectives measured on a total return basis, which includes income plus realized and unrealized
gains and losses.

The range of target allocation percentages and the target allocations for the various investments
are as follows;

Range of

Target Target

Allocations Allocations

Cash and short-term investments 0-5% 3%

U.S. government securities 0-10 5
Domestic debt securities 20-58 38

Global debt securities 6-26 8

Domestic equities 5-35 19
Intemational equities 5-15 11

Emerging market equities 3-13 5
Real estate investment trust funds 0-5 0

Private equity funds 0-5 0

Hedge funds 5-18 11

To the extent an asset class falls outside of its target range on a quarterly basis, the Health System
shall determine appropriate steps, as it deems necessary, to rebalance the asset class.

The Boards of Trustees of the Health System, as Plan Sponsors, oversee the design, structure,
and prudent professional management of the Health System's Plans' assets, in accordance with
Board approved investment policies, roles, responsibilities and authorities and more specifically the
following:

•  Establishing and modifying asset class targets with Board approved policy ranges,

•  Approving the asset class rebalancing procedures,

•  . Hiring and terminating investment managers, and

•  Monitoring perfonnance of the investment managers, custodians and investment consultants.

The hierarchy and inputs to valuation techniques to measure fair value of the Plans' assets are the
same as outlined in Note 6. In addition, the estimation of fair value of investments in private equity
and hedge funds for which the underlying securities do not have a readily determinable value is
made using the NAV per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient. The Health System's
Plans own interests in these funds rather than in securities underlying each fund and, therefore, are
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generally required to consider such investments as Level 2 or 3, even though the underlying
securities may not be difficult to value or may be readily marketable.

The following table sets forth the Health System's Plans' investments and deferred compensation
plan assets that were accounted for at fair value as of June 30, 2018 and 2017;

201S

Redemption Days'
(In tfiousands ofdoBan) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tout or Liquidation Notice

Investments

Cash and short-term Investments %  142 %  35.817 $  S 35,656 Daily 1

U.S. government securities 48.265 - - 46,265 DaOy-l/onthly 1-15

Domestic det>t securities 144.131 220.202 - 364,333 Dally-Monthly 1-15

Gtobal debt securities 470 74,678 . 75,146 DaHy-ktonthly 1-15

Domestic equities 158.634 17.594 . 176.228 DaSy-Monthly 1-10
International equities 18.656 80.803 . 66.456 Da6y-Monthly 1-11

Emerging market equities 382 36,881 - 40.263 Dally-Monthly 1-17

REIT funds 371 2,686 - 3.057 Dallib-Monthly 1-17
Privste equity funds - - 23 23 See Note 6 See Note 6
Hedge funds

• • 44,250 44.250 Quarterly-Annual 60-66

Total Investments S  366,051 $  471,659 S  44.273 $ 684,683

2017

Redemption Days'
(In (fiot/sands of dolan) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liquidation Notice

lnvMtmtnt>

Cash and short-term investments $

U.S. flovemment sacudties

Domestic debt securities

Global debt securttles

Domestic equities
International equities

Emerging market equities
REIT funds

Private equity funds
Hedge funds

Total Investments

$ 23 $ 26,762 $ -  $ 26,815 DsOy 1

7.875 - • 7,875 Daily-Monthly 1-15

140,468 243.427 - 383.625 Dally-Monthly 1-15

426 60.386 - 60.815 Dalhr-Monthly 1-15

154,597 16.638 - 171.535 Dally-Monthly 1-10

6,837 63.650 - 103.787 Dally-Monthly 1-11

2,141 45,351 - 47.462 Dally-Monlhly 1-17

362 2,462 - 2.854 Daily-Monthly 1-17

- • 96 66 See Note 6 See Note 6
. - 40.507 40.507 Quarterly-Annual 60-66

S 315.756 $ 522,339 S 40,603 $ 878,701
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The following table presents additional information about the changes in Level 3 assets measured
at fair value for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2017:

2018

Private

(in thousands of dollars) Hedge Funds Equity Funds Total

Balances at beginning of year $  40,507 $  96 $ 40,603

Sales - (51) (51)
Net realized (losses) gains - (51) (51)
Net unrealized gains 3,743 29 3,772

Balances at end of year $  44,250 $  23 $ 44,273

2017

Private

(in thousands of dollars) Hedge Funds Equity Funds Total

Balances at beginning of year $  38,988 $  255 $ 39,243

Sales (880) (132) (1,012)
Net realized (losses) gains 33 36 69

Net unrealized gains 2,366 (63) 2,303

Balances at end of year $  40,507 $  96 $ 40,603

The total aggregate net unrealized gains (losses) included in the fair value of the Level 3
investments as of June 30, 2018 and 2017 were approximately $14,743,000 and $7,965,000,
respectively. There were no transfers into and out of Level 3 measurements during the years
ended June 30, 2018 and 2017.

There were no transfers into and out of Level 1 and 2 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017.
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The weighted average asset allocation for the Health System's Plans at June 30, 2018 and 2017
by asset category is as follows;

2018 2017

Cash and short-term investments 4 % 3 %

U.S. govemment securities 5 1

Domestic debt securities 41 44

Global debt securities 9 10

Domestic equities 20 20

Intemational equities 11 12

Emerging market equities 5 5

Hedge funds 5 5

100 % 100 %

The expected long-term rate of retum on plan assets is reviewed annually, taking into consideration
the asset allocation, historical returns on the types of assets held, and the current economic
environment. Based on these factors, it is expected that the pension assets will earn an average of
7.50% per annum.

The Health System is expected to contribute approximately $20,480,000 to the Plans in 2019
however actual contributions may vary from expected amounts.

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid for the years ending June 30 and thereafter:

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 $ 49,482

2020 51,913

2021 54,249

2022 56,728

2023 59,314
2024 - 2027 329,488

Defined Contribution Plans

The Health System has an employer-sponsored 401 (a) plan for certain of its affiliates, under which
the employer makes base, transition and discretionary match contributions based on specified
percentages of compensation and employee deferral amounts. Total employer contributions to
the plan of approximately $38,563,000 and $33,375,000 in 2018 and 2017, respectively, are
included in employee benefits in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and
changes in net assets.

Various 403(b) and tax- sheltered annuity plans are available to employees of the Health System.
Plan specifications vary by affiliate and plan. No employer contributions were made to any of these
plans in 2018 and 2017 respectively.
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Postretirement Medical and Life Benefits

The Health System has postretirement medical and life benefit plans covering certain of its active
and former employees. The plans generally provide medical or medical and life insurance beneftts
to certain retired employees who meet eligibility requirements. The plans are not funded.

Net periodic postretirement medical and life benefit (income) cost is comprised of the components
listed below for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017;

(in thousands of dollars) 2018 2017

Service cost $ 533 $ 448

Interest cost 1,712 2,041
Net prior service Income (5,974) (5,974)
Net loss amortization 10 689

$ (3.719) $ (2,796)

The following table sets forth the accumulated postretirement medical and life benefit obligation
and amounts recognized in the Health System's consolidated financial statements at June 30, 2018
and 2017:

(In thousands of dollars) 2018 2017

Change In benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 42,277 $ 51,370
Service cost 533 448

Interest cost 1,712 2,041
Benefits paid (3.174) (3,211)
Actuarial loss (gain) 1,233 (8,337)
Employer contributions

- (34)

Benefit obligation at end of year 42,581 42,277

Funded status of the plans $ (42,581) $ (42,277)

Current portion of liability for postretirement
medical and life benefits $ (3,266) $ (3.174)
Long term portion of liability for

postretirement medical and life benefits (39,315) (39.103)

Liability for postretirement medical and life benefits $ (42,581) $ (42.277)

For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 the liability for postretirement medical and life
benefits is included in the liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic postretirement medical and life benefit income and
included in the change in unrestricted net assets are as follows;

(in thousands of dollars) 2018 2017

Net prior service income $ (15,530) $ (21,504)
Net actuarial loss 3,336 2,054

$  (12,194) $ (19,450)

The estimated amounts that will be amortized from unrestricted net assets into net periodic
postretirement income in fiscal year 2019 for net prior service cost is $5,974,000.

The following future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are
expected to be paid for the year ending June 30, 2019 and thereafter:

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 $ 3,266

2020 3,298

2021 3,309

2022 3,315

2023 3,295

2024-2027 15,156

In determining the accumulated postretirement medical and life benefit obligation, the Health
System used a discount rate of 4.50% in 2018 and an assumed healthcare cost trend rate of
6.00%, trending down to 4.75% in 2021 and thereafter. Increasing the assumed healthcare cost
trend rates by one percentage point in each year would increase the accumulated postretirement
medical benefit obligation as of June 30, 2018 and 2017 by $1,088,000 and $1,067,000 and the
net periodic postretirement medical benefit cost for the years then ended by $81,000 and
$110,000, respectively. Decreasing the assumed healthcare cost trend rates by one percentage
point in each year would decrease the accumulated postretirement medical benefit obligation as of
June 30, 2018 and 2017 by $996,000 and $974,000 and the net periodic postretirement medical
benefit cost for the years then ended by $72,000 and $96,000, respectively.

11. Professional and General Uablllty Insurance Coverage

D-H, along with Dartmouth College, Cheshire, NLH and MAHHC are provided professional and
general liability insurance on a claims-made basis through Hamden Assurance Risk Retention
Group, Inc. (RRG), a VT captive insurance company. Effective November 1, 2017 VNH is provided
professional and general liability insurance coverage through RRG. RRG reinsures the majority of
this risk to Hamden Assurance Company Limited (HAC), a captive insurance company domiciled in
Bermuda and to a variety of commercial reinsurers. D-H and Dartmouth College have ownership
interests in both HAC and RRG. The insurance program provides coverage to the covered
institutions and named insureds on a modified claims-made basis which means coverage Is
triggered when claims are made. Premiums and related insurance deposits are actuarially
determined based on asserted liability claims adjusted for future development. The reserves for
outstanding losses are recorded on an undiscounted basis.
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APD are covered for malpractice claims under a modified claims-made policy purchased through
New England Alliance for Health (NEAH). While APD remain in the current insurance program
under this policy, the coverage year is based on the date the claim Is filed; subject to a medical
incident arising after the retroactive date (includes prior acts). The policy provides modified claims-
made coverage for former Insured providers for claims that relate to the employee's period of
employment at APD and for services that were provided within the scope of the employee's duties.
Therefore, when the employee leaves the corporation, tail coverage is not required.

Selected financial data of MAC and RRG, taken from the latest available audited and unaudited
financial statements, respectively at June 30, 2018 and 2017 are summarized as follo>Ars;

2018

(in thousands of dollars)

MAC

(audited)
RRG

(unaudited)

Total

Assets

Shareholders' equity
Net income

72,753

13,620

2,068

50

(751)

74,821

13,670

(751)

2017

(in thousands of dollars)
MAC

(audited)

RRG

(unaudited)

Total

Assets

Shareholders' equity

Net income

76,185

13,620

2,055

801

(5)

78,240

14,421

(5)

12. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation
The Health System Is involved in various malpractice claims and legal proceedings of a nature
considered normal to its business. The claims are in various stages and some may ultimately be
brought to trial. While it is not feasible to predict or determine the outcome of any of these claims,
it is the opinion of management that the final outcome of these claims will not have a material effect
on the consolidated financial position of the Health System.
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Operating Leases and Other Commitments
The Health System leases certain facilities and equipment under operating leases with varying
expiration dates. The Health System's rental expense totaled approximately $14,096,000 and
$15,802,000 for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Minimum future lease payments under noncancelable operating leases at June 30, 2018 were as
follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 $ 12,393

2020 10,120

2021 8,352

2022 5,175

2023 3,935

Thereafter 10,263

$  50,238

Lines of Credit

The Health System has entered into Loan Agreements with financial institutions establishing
' access to revolving loans ranging from $2,000,000 up to $30,000,000. Interest is variable and
determined using LIBOR or the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate. The Loan Agreements are due to
expire March 29, 2019. There was no outstanding balance under the lines of credit as of June 30,
2018 and 2017. Interest expense was approximately $232,000 and $915,000, respectively, and is
included in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets.

13. Functional Expenses

Operating expenses of the Health System by function are as follows for the years ended June 30,
2018 and 2017:

(in thousands of dollars) 2018 2017

Program services $ 1,715,760 $ 1,662,413
Management and general 303,527 311,820
Fundraising 2,354 2,328

$  2,021,641 $ 1,976,561

14. Subsequent Events

The Health System has assessed the impact of subsequent events through November 7, 2018, the
date the audited consolidated financial statements were issued, and has concluded that there were

no such events that require adjustment to the audited consolidated financial statements or
disclosure in the notes to the audited consolidated financial statements other than as noted below.

Effective July 1, 2018, APD became the sole corporate member of APD LifeCare Center Inc. APD
LifeCare Center Inc. owns and operates Harvest Hill, an assisted living facility, the Woodlands, a
residential living community and the Elizabeth S. Hughes Care Unit, which provides hospice care.
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APD and APD LifeCare Center (LlfeCare) were jointly liable for their Series 2010 Revenue Bonds;
$26,000,000 outstanding as of June 30, 2018. As described in Note 9 to the financial statements,
APD's portion was approximately $15,500,000 as of June 30, 2018. LifeCare's outstanding portion
of approximately $10,500,000 was appropriately excluded from the consolidated financial
statements as LifeCare was not affiliated with any of the members of the Health System as of June
30, 2018. On August 15, 2018, APD joined the DHOG and simultaneously issued NHHEFA
Revenue Bonds, Series 2018C. The Series 2018C Revenue Bonds were used primarily to
refinance the joint (APD and LifeCare) Series 2010 Revenue Bonds.
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Oaimoutlw ChaaMra new uonoon kILAsculney OHObUoitad AlOttiarNen- Haalth
Mtehcoek Daranoutfw Madieal Hoapltal Hoaptaland tiroup Obig Croup Syaiam

(inlftousMds otdetM) Haattt HHchceck Cantor Association Haatth Cantor EBndntdets SuMottI ARUaiaa iHndmOens CenaoAdatad

ASMt*

Currant MMtt

C««h and CMh aqiavilmtf S 134.834 3 22.544 3 8.689 9,419 3 8,604 3 . 3 179,889 3 20280 3 . 3 200.169
PMmV •ocaunB raeahiCta. n«< • 178.981 17.183 8,302 5.055 . 207.521 11.707 . 219228
Prapaid cvartMt nd oOtar cuiraM MaM> 11.964 143.893 8.551 5.253 2.313 (72.381) 97.813 4.786 (4.877) 97.502

ToM currant aaaais 146.698 343.418 30,422 22.974 13.972 (72.361) 485.023 36,753 (♦.877) 518,899
AaaM InAad a* la uaa 8 818,929 17,438 12.821 10,829 . 858,025 48.099 .

Netaa raeaivatda. raialad parly 554.771 . . .

Othar >tya»»Ttanti tor raagiaad aeiWdai
- 87,613 8,591 2.981 6238 105.423 25.473 .

Preparty, plani. and aquipmam, nat 36 443,154 88.759 42.438 17.356 • 589.743 37,576 . 607,321

Odtaraaaat* 24,883 101.078 1.370 5.908 4280 (10.970) 126 527 3.604 (21,348) 108.785

Total aaaat* % 728,278 $ 1.592.192 124,580 67,120 3 52,675 3

1

§

1,944.741 151,507 3 (28.223) 2,070,025

Ctaram fabWai

Cutrard pertien ellano^arm dabt i 3 1,031 810 572 3 187 3 2.600 884 3
Currard pardon e( laMly (or panilon and .

othaf peatradrament plw banelis - 3.311 . . .
. 3,311 .

Aeeeurda payafeta and accruad ai^anaaa 54.995 82.061 20,107 6,705 3.029 (72.381) 94,536 8,094 (4.877) 95.753
Aeeruad companaaiton attd laMad banaltti - 106.485 5,730 2.a7 3.798 119,496 7,078
Eadmeted twd-party aaHamanti 3.002 24.411 . 9 855 1.825 . 38.893 2.448 41.141

Total currant labSiiaa 57,997 217.299 28,847 19,419 8.637 (72.381) 257,838 18.484 (4.877) 269245

Notaa payabta. ralatad party 527.348 . 27.425 . (554.771) .

l.ono4afm dabt. axehjAd) currant portion 644.520 52,878 25,354 1.179 11270 (10,970) 724.231 28.744 752.975
InaurarKa dapoitti and rabtad lahMaa - 54.816 485 155 240 _ 55.476 55,518
UabCty for panaien artd othar poatradramard
plan bartaflts, axchidbtg current portiort . 232,898 4215 . 5.318 . 242.227
OthariabCtiaa

- 65.577 1.107 1.405 . 88.089 38 88.127
Total labHaa 702.517 1.170.412 57.788 49.583 25.483 (638.102) 1.367 881 45.306 (4,877) 1.408.090

Conatdtntania and cunt»>gerd,iei

Hat aiaati

Unraabfcdwt 23,759 334.882 81.828 32,897 10.812 . 473.178 72230 (2I.3C6)
Tarttporarby raabtctad

- 54.886 4,964 493 1.540 . 81.663 20.816 (40)
Parrttananby ratttciad

- 32.232 - 4.147 5 880 . 42.239 13.155 55,394
Total nat aaaata 23,759 421.780 66.702 37.537 27212 . 577.080 106201 (21.346) 861.935

Total iabUaa artd not aaaata i 728.276 1,592,192 124,580 87.120 52.675 3 (638.102) 1.944,741 3 151.507 3 (28223) 3 2.070.025
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O-HH D-Hwid ChMhiraand NLHand MAHHCand VNHand

HMldi

System
fin thousands oi dotars) (Parent) Subeldartes Subsltflaftee Sul>skBartes Subsidterles APO Subsidiaries Blmlnetiorts Cortsofidated

ASMtS

CurantBssatt

Cash and cash aqtivatonte $ 134.634 23,094 $ 8.621 S 9.962 8 6.654 8 12.144 8 5.040 8 . 8 200.169
Patiani acoxrts racatvabla. rtat - 176,981 17.183 8.302 5.109 7.996 3.657 . 219.228
Prepaid axpanaas and othar currant asaatt 11.964 144,755 5.520 5.276 2.294 4.443 488 (77.238) 97.502

Total cunant assets 146.598 344,830 31.324 23.560 14,057 24.583 9.185 (77.238) 516.899

Assets Hmitad as to use 8 635,028 17.438 12.821 11,862 9.612 19.355 . 706.124
Notes racetvat>le, related party 554.771 • - - • - . (554.771) .

Other Invastmants for restricted ectrvitias - 95,772 25.873 2.981 6,238 32 . . 130.896
Property, ptent. and equipment. rtM 36 445,829 70.607 42.920 19,065 25.725 3.139

-
607.321

Other assets 24.863 101.235 7.526 5.333 1,886 130 128 (32.316) 108.785

Total essets I 726.276 $ 1.622,694 S 152.768 S 87.615 8 53,108 8 60.062 8 31.807 8 (664.325) 8 2.070.025

UabtBtles and Nat Assets

Current KabiKies

Current pcnion ol lorxHdnn debt $ • $ 1.031 s 810 s 572 8 245 8 739 8 67 8 . 8 3.464

Current portion of iabifity for pertslon and
other postretirement plan tMnefits • 3,311 - - • . - - 3.311

Accourts payable and accrued exper^ses 54,995 82.613 20.052 6.714 3,092 3.596 1.929 (77.238) 95.753
Accrued corttpensation and related beneTits - 106.485 5.730 2.487 3,831 5.814 1.229 - 125.576

Estimated third-party settlements 3,002 24.411 - 9.655 1,625 2.448 . - 41.141

Total current KabSties 57.997 217,851 26.592 19.428 8,793 12.597 3.225 (77.238) 269.245

Notes payal>le. relatad party - 527.346 - 27,425 . . . (554.771) .

Long-term det>L exdudng current portion 644,520 52.876 25.354 1.179 11.593 25.792 2.629 (10.970) 752.975
InsurarKe deposits and related ttabilities - 54,616 465 155 241 39 . 55.516
Liabitty lor pension arxl other postretirement
plan benefits, exdudng current portion • 232.696 4.215 . 5.316 . . . 242.227
Other liabilities • 85,577 1.117 1.405 . 28 . . 88.127

Total iabities 702.517 1,170,964 57.743 49.592 25,943 38.417 5.893 (642.979) 1.408.090

Commitments and contingencies

Net essets

Unrestricted 23.759 356.518 65,069 33,383 19,764 21,031 25.684 (21.306) 524.102
Temporarily restricted - 60.836 19,196 493 1.539 415 . (40) 82,439
Permartertdy restricted - 34.376 10,760 4,147 5.862 219 30 55,394

Total net assets 23,759 451.730 95,025 38,023 27.165 21,665 25,914 (21,346) 661,935

Total liabilities and net essets S 726,276 3 1,622.694 s 152,768 8 67,615 8 53.108 8 60,082 8 31,807 8 (664,325) 8 2.070,025
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On ffmosntfs otMvt)

CimniMMts

Cash and cash «quiwtent*
Patient accounts racai»atte. net

Prepaid a^vansea and other cunvnl assets

Told cunent assets

Assets ImJted as to use

Other hnwstments tor festricted actMies

Property, plant, artd equipment, net
Other assets

Totd assets

UaMBtles and Net Assets

Current iablties

Chsshirs New London ML Aseulney DM Obllflated AJl Other Nen- Health
Oartmoulh- Medical Hoepttal Hoepttsl and Oroup Oblg Oroup System
Hitcheoek Center Asaectstlon Health Canter Etbidnitlona Subtotal AflOatee EUmlnatlens Conaoldatad

5  27.328 5  10.645 S  7.797 $  6.662 8 S  52.432 S  16,066 8 8  68.498
193.733 17,723 8.538 4.658 - 224.654 12.606 . 237.260
93.816 6.945 3.650 1 351 (16.5851 89.177 8.034 (8.0081 66.203

314.877 35.313 19.986 12.672 (16.585) 366.263 36.706 (6.008) 384.961

580,254 19.104 11.764 8.056 . 620.200 42.123 . 662.323
88,398 4.764 2.833 6.079 - 100.074 24.455 . 124,529

448,743 64.033 43.264 17.167 . 574.107 35.868 . 609.975
89.650 2.543 5.985 4,095 (11.520) 60.733 27.874 (21.2871 97.120

1.519,922 126.657 63.632 49,071 (28.105) ^ 1.751.377 t 166.826 (29.295) 1.688.906

Currant portion of longHenn detM
Una of crsdt

CuTsnl portion of IsbCty for pension and
other pottretkemsnt ptan benefits
Accounts peyabte and aecnjed a»pentei

Acousd compensation and rctated beneflts
Etdmetad third-paity settlements

8  16,034 8

3.220

72.382

99.838

11.322

780 8

19.715

5.428

737 8

5.356

2.335

7.265

80 8

550

2.854

3.448

1.615

•  8

(S50)

(16.585)

17.631 8

3.220

83,702

110.849

20.502

728 8

13,466

4,062

6.931

•  8

(8.008)

18.357

3.220

89.160

114.911

27.433
Total current lebSbes 202.576 25,923 15.693 8.847 (17.135) 235.604 25.185 (8.008) 253.081

Lorrp-term debt excluding current portion
tnaurance depoaits end related KabiUties .
Interest rets swaps
Uabtlty lor pension and olfier postraUrement

545.100

50,660

17.606

26.185 26,402

3,310

10.976 (10.670) 567.693

50.660

20.916

16.710

•

616.403

50.9M

20.616

plan banaflts. excluding current portion
Odier Kabdlties

267.409

77.622

8.781

2.636 1,426

6,801
•

282.671

81.684 8.864
•

282.971

60.548

Total lebBtiea 1,161.273 63.505 46,831 26.624 (28.105) 1.270.128 52,759 (8.0081 1.314.879

Commitments and ecrkhgendes

Net assets

Unrestricted

Temporwily restricad
Permarwndy restricted

256.687
68.473
31,289

58.250

4.902

32.504

345

4.152

15.247

1.363

5.837

•
364.888

75.083

41.278

81.344

19.836

12.887

(21.285)
(2)

424.947

94.917

54.165

Totd net assets 358.649 63.152 37.001 22.447 . 481.249 114.067 (21.2871 574.029

Totd kabdties and net assets 8  1.519.922 8 126.657 8 83,832 8 49,071 8 (28.105) 8 1.751.377 8 166.826 8 (29.2951 8 1.888.908
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Cm thousands ofdotars)
0-HH

(Parant) SubaldlariM

Chashira and

Subshflarias

NLHand

Subaldlaria

HAKKCand

SubsMariaa APD

VNHand

SubaMartaa EllminatioRS

Kaatth

Syatam
CcnsoOdatad

Asaata

Current assets

Cash and taah aqurvalenta
PatianI accounts racaivaUa. net

S 1.166 S 27.760
193,733

$ 11,601

17.723
% 6.280

8.539
% 6,968

4,681

S 8,129

8,876
S 4,594

3,706
$

•
S 68.498

237.260
Prapaal axpansaa and other cunant assets 3.S84 94.305 5,899 3.671 1.340 4,179 518 (24,5931 89.203

Total currant assets S.OSO 315,798 35,223 20.490 12.989 21,186 8,818 (24.593) 394,961

Assets tmitsd as to uaa

Other invaatmenta for rastricted activitias

Proparty, ptart, and equipment. r>et
6

50

596,904

94.210

451.418

19.104

21,204

68,921

11.782

2833
43,751

9.889

6.079

18,935

6,168
197

23,447

16.476

3.453

•
662,323

124,529

609,975
Other asaata 23,866 89.619 8,566 5,378 1,812 283 183 (32.807) 97,120

Total assets s 28,972 $ 1,548.149 S 153.038 S 84.234 S 49,704 s 53,281 ( 28.930 $ (57,400) t 1,888,908

UabiOttaa and Nat Asaata

Cunani iaWlitiat

Cunent portion of long-terni tletx
Line of cratU

CurrarS portion of iabifity for pension and

s

-

$ 16.034 $ 780 $ 737 s 137

550

s 603 8 66 $

(MO)
$ 18,357

other poatretiramera pfan bartaflts . 3,220 . . . . . , 3,220
Accounts payable and accrued axparaas
Accrued compertsation and ralatad barreTts
Eatlmatad third-party aatUementa

S.996

6.165

72,606

99,636

11.322

19,718

5.428

5.365

2335

7.265

2.946

3.480

1.915

5.048

2.996
766

1,874

1,032
(24.593) 69,160

114,911

27,433
Total currera liabilKias 12.161 203,020 25.926 15,702 9,028 9,415 2,972 (25,143) 253,081

Lonp^arm debt, excluding currant portion
InsurarKa deposits arxJ ralatad Habtiliaa

-
545.100

50.960

26.165 26.402 11,356 15,633 2.697 (10,970) 616,403

50.960
Interaat rate swaps
Liability for partsion and other postretiremant
plan bartaTits. axduding cunare portion

Othar liabilitiaa
•

17.606

267.409

77.622

8,761

2.531

3,310

1.426

6,801

8.969

- •

20,916

282,971

90.548

Total fabittias 12,161 1.161.717 63.403 46,840 27.185 34,017 5,669 (38.113) 1,314,879

Commltmervs and cortlngenciaa

Nat asaata

Unraatrictad

Temporarily rastrictad

Parmanantly raatrictad

16,367

444

278.695

74.304

33.433

60,758

18,198

10.679

32,897

345

4.152

15,319

1,363
5,837

18,965

265

34

23,231

30

(21.285)

(2)

424,947

94,917

54,165
Total net assets 16.811 386.432 89,635 37.394 22.519 19.264 23,261 (21.2871 574,029

Total liabilitiaa and net assets s 28,972 $ 1,548.149 $ 153,038 $ 84,234 s 49,704 s 53,281 % 28,930 S (57,400) s 1,888,908
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t  - 1 1.475.314 5  218.738 5 80.488 3 52014 3 71.458 3 22087 3 3  1,899,095
- 31.358 10 9(17 1854 1.440 1880 388 47.387

-
1.443,858 205,789 58.832 50,574 88.778 22719 1,851.728

P.»5) 98,007 2188 . (42802) 54.988
137 J42 4,081 4.188 2188 1.887 453 (11,840) 148.848

esa 11984 820 52 44 103 .

• )» 1891 189 210450 (aiso 55 955 71.578 73 177

800,344 108,807 30.380 33,592 29.215 12082 (19,837) 988,283
28,343 7.252 7.182 7.408 2853 (4,988) 229.883
31.293 8181 3.057 8.484 1.708 340.031

8.512 218.890 33,431 13,432 14,354 19.220 S.945 (22212) 291.372
53.044 8.070 2,658 1.743 2178 87.892

23 88.073 10.357 3,939 2145 1.831 410 . 84.778
8 884 15 777 1 0O4 881 223 975 85

17 219 1 831083 218108 84 784 54 278 89 307 22884
(9.087) 80.108 (7.858) (1.834) 1879 2271 308 1455

(2S) 35.177 1,054 1.087 787 203 1.383 (198) 40,387
<1.38«) (2.589) (31 1.278 273 (223) 952 (1,220)

(13.908) • (305) . . . (14.214)
(14.247) - . . .

(1.380) 4477 1851 2088 1 080 (20)
(10.437) 84.528 (5.704) 434 2739 2251 2853 37 58.481

18.058 4 251
- - 18.313

. 4.300 2.827 1.127 .

17,791 (25,355) 7.188 48 328
88 (58) .

- (185) (185)
. 4,180

14.102
- .

t  7.382 t n.a23 5  4.311 1 488 5 4.445 3 2088 3 2853 3  (21) 3  99.155
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Notes to Supplemental Consolidating Information
June 30, 2018 and 2017

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying supplemental consolidating information includes the consolidating balance
sheet and the consolidating statement of operations and changes in unrestricted net assets of D-
HH and subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions between D-HH and subsidiaries
have been eliminated. The consolidating information presented Is prepared on the accrual basis of
accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America consistent with the consolidated financial statements. The consolidating information is
presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated financial statements and is not
required as part of the basic financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2018

CFDA Aaavd nrtmliarfpaii rticauqii Pass4hrough Taial Ameurwgasaad
ManI PrvfruB Mimhsr Idsntiflosdtn ttumbar Fuivdlng tauraa ardtly asgandhuras subnctplsnli
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U.S. Dapirttnani ol Haaith and Human Sarvfeaa

Raaaareh en llarthcafa Coats. Ouaby and Outeomas 93.226 1P30HS024403 Diract S 701.304 I 67.600

Total U.S. Dapoftmant o( Haa0i and Human SarHcas 701.304 67.600
Total Raaaareh and Oavatepmani Ctualar

701.304 67.600
OPiar Spettserad Projranta

U.S. Oapartmaitt of Juatiea

Ciima Vldfen Asaiatanea 16.575 «'- ̂ r*i 1 , f.j— ̂
NOi rTvWoeo Pass-Through (1) 146.032 .

Ciima Wtin Asaiatsnea 15.575 Not Providad Pass-Through (1) 19.697 .

Subtotal 16.575 165.929 .

Iwprodna tfia tnwilBalieo and ProaacuSon of CMd Abuaa and Pia
Ragienal and Local Chidran's Advocacy Cantara 16.756 Not Providad Pas^Through (2) 7.400 .

Total U.S. Daparbnant ol Juatiea 173.329 .
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Raca tolha Top Early Laamtng ChaSanga 84.412 03440^119>I6^CG24 Pass-Thteu^ m 22.630
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119 400 .
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Subtotal 93.153 368.405
Subatanca Abusa and UantN HaaKh Sarvteaa Proiacts ol

Ragional and NatierMl SignMcanca 93.243 05-95-904010104362-102-500731 Pass-Through (3) 197.661
Subatanca Abuse and Mantal HaaBh Sarvteaa Prc^acis of

Raglente and Natierul Signifteanca 93J43 03420A1805SS. 03420.A17105S Pats-Thiough (B) 221.190 .

Subtotal 93.243 419.071 .
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Subtotal 93.8S9 71.466
-

See accompanying notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2018
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Smal 1 tsalh Cara Previdar OuaBty Impreoamartt Program

Oram to PiDvida Outpatiani Early Intarvardien Sarviees with Raapact to

HTfObaaaa

Orants to Provida Outpatiani Early Inlanrantion ISarncaa with Respect to

tdVObeaae

93.912

93.918

93.918

O0eRK31057

2H7eHA00ei2-12H)l

H78HA3t6S4

Oraet

Pasa-Threugh

Dsad

(5)

237.593

200.232

74.968

SuMotd 03.918 275.220

Blodt Grartts tor Comtmrtty Mental Hedih Setvieas

Stock Grants for Pravatdion and Treslmard of Substance Aixaa

Stock Orards (or Praventien and Traatmard of Substance Abuse

sss
 88

0S-95-922010-412O-1Q2

0342GA1S033S

05-95-90-901010-&3S2-102-600731

Pass-Through

Pass-Through
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See accompanying notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2018

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the 'Schedule') presents the
activity of federal award programs administered by Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
(the "Health System') as defined in the notes to the consolidated financial statements and is
presented on an accrual basis. The purpose of this Schedule Is to present a summary of those
activities of the Health System for the year ended June 30, 2018 which have been financed by the
United States government ('federal awards'). For purposes of this Schedule, federal awards
include all federal assistance entered into directly between the Health System and the federal
govemment and subawards from nonfederal organizations made under federally sponsored
agreements. The information in this Schedule in presented in accordance v^th the requirements of
the Uniform Guidance. Pass-through entity identification numbers and CFDA numbers have been
provided where available.

Visiting Nurse and Hospice of NH and VT ("VNH') received a Community Facilities Loan, CFDA
#10.766, of which the proceeds were expended in the prior fiscal year. The VNH had an
outstanding balance of $2,696,512 as of June 30, 2018. As this loan was related to a project that
was completed in the prior audit period and the terms and conditions do not impose continued
compliance requirements other than to repay the loan, we have properly excluded the outstanding
loan balance from the Schedule.

2. Indirect Expenses

Indirect costs are charged to certain federal grants and contracts at a federally approved
predetermined indirect rate, negotiated with the Division of Cost Allocation. The predetermined
rate provided for the year ended June 30, 2018 was 29.3%. Indirect costs are included in the
reported federal expenditures.

3. Related Party Transactions

The Health System has an affiliation agreement with Dartmouth College dated June 4, 1996 in
which the Health System and the Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth College affirm their
mutual commitment to providing high quality medical care, medical education and medical research
at both organizations. Pursuant to this affiliation agreement, certain clinical faculty of the Health
System participate in federal research programs administered by Dartmouth College. During the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, Health System expenditures, which Dartmouth College
reimbursed, totaled $3,979,033. Based on the nature of these transactions, the Health System and
Dartmouth College do not view these arrangements to be subrecipient transactions but rather view
them as Dartmouth College activity. Accordingly, this activity does not appear in the Health
System's schedule of expenditures of federal awards for the year ended June 30, 2018.
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Report of Independent Auditors on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance

and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with

Government Auditing Standards

To the Board of Trustees of

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and subsidiaries

We have audited, In accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of

America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Govemment Auditing Standards

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the consolidated financial statements of

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and its subsidiaries (the "Health System"), which comprise the consolidated

balance sheet as of June 30, 2018, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in net
assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial

statements, and have issued our report thereon dated November 7, 2018.

internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and perfonning our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we considered the Health

System's internal control over financial reporting ("Internal control") to determine the audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the consolidated

financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Health

System's intemal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Health

System's intemal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow

management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or

detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a

combination of deficiencies, in intemal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material

misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a

tirnely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in intemal control

that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, loi Seaport Boulevard, Sujfe500, Boston, MA 02210
T: (617) 530 5000, F: (617) 530 5001, www.pwc.com/us
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Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this

section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material

weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any

deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material

weaknesses may exist that have hot been identified.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Health System's consolidated financial

statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain

provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a

direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an
opinion on compliance wth those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not

express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other

matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Health System's
intemal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with

Govemment Auditing Standards in considering the Health System's internal control and compliance.

Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

J. . ..

Boston, Massachusetts

November?, 2018
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Report of Independent Auditors on Compliance with Requirements That Could Have a Direct and

Material Effect on Each Major Program and on Internal Control Over Compliance In Accordance

with the Uniform Guidance

To the Board of Trustees of

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and subsidiaries

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

.We have audited Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and its subsidiaries' (the "Health System") compliance with
the types of compliance requirements described in the 0MB Compliance Supplement that could have a

direct and material effect on each of the Health System's major federal programs for the year ended
June 30, 2018. The Health System's major federal programs are identified In the summary of auditor's
results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

Management's Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations and the terms and conditions
of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the Health System's major federal
programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted

our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of

Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance
with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect

on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the

Health System's compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we

considered necessary in the circumstances.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, loi Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02210
T: (617) 530 5000, F- (617) 530 5001, www.pwc.com/us
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We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major

federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Health System's

compliance.

Opinion on Each Mpjor Federai Program

In our opinion, Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and its subsidiaries complied, in all material respects, with the

types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of

its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2018.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management of the Health System Is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective intemal control

over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing

our audit of compliance, we considered the Health System's intemal control over compliance with the

types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to

determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing

an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on intemal control over

corripliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on

the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Health System's internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in intemal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over

compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned

functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a

federal program on a timely basis. A material v/eakness in intemal control over compliance is a

deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in intemal control over compliance, such that there is a

reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal

program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in

intemal control over compliance ls a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in Intemal control over

corhpliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material

weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged

with govemance.
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Our consideration of Internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first

paragraph of this section and was not designed to Identify all deficiencies In Internal control over

compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not Identify any
deficiencies in Internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However,

material weaknesses may exist that have not been Identified.

The purpose of this report on Internal control over compliance Is solely to describe the scope of our testing
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the

Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report Is not suitable for any other purpose.

Boston, Massachusetts

November 7, 2018
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock and Subsidiaries
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended June 30, 2018

1. Summary of Auditor's Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditor's report issued

Intemal control over financial reporting

Material weakness (es) Identified?
Significant deficiency (ies) identified that are not
considered to be material weakness (es)?
Noncompliance material to financial statements

Federal Awards

Intemal control over major programs

Material weakness (es) identified?
Significant deficiency (Ies) identified that are not
considered to be material weakness (es)?

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for major
programs

Audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported
in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)?

Identification of major programs

CFDA Number

93.778

93.153

Unmodified

No

None reported
No

No

None reported

Unmodified

No

Name of Federal Program or Cluster

Medical Assistance Program

Coordinated Services and Access to

Research for Women, Infants, Children,
and Youth

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
Type A and Type B programs

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

II. Financial Statement Findings

None Noted

III. Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs

None Noted

$750,000

Yes
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock and Subsidiaries

Summary Schedule of the Status of Prior Audit Findings
Year Ended June 30, 2018

There are no findings from prior years that require an update in this report.
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DARTMOUTH-HITCHCOCK (D-H) | DARTMOUTH-HITCHCOCK HEALTH (D-HH)

BOARDS OF TRUSTEES AND OFHCERS

Effective: April 1.2019

Jocelyn D. Chertoff, MD, MS, FACR
MHMH/DHC (Clinical Chair/Center Director)
Trustee

Chair, Dept. of Radiology

Robert A. Oden, Jr., PhD
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Retired President, Carleton College

Duane A. Compton, FhD
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Ex-Officio: Dean, Geisel School ofMedicine at Dartmouth

Charles G. Plimpton, MBA
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Boards' Treasurer & Secretary
Retired Investment Banker

William J. Conaty

MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
President, Conaty Consulting, LLC

Kurt K. Rhynhart, MD, FACS

MHMH/DHC (D-H Lebanon Physician Trustee
Representative) Trustee
DHMC Trauma Medical Director and Divisional Chiefof
Trauma and Acute Care Surgery

Joanne M. Conroy, MD
MHMH/ DHC/ D-HH Trustee
Ex-O^cio: CEO & President, D-H/D-HH

Karl M. Rosenkraiu, MD

MHMH/DHC (Lebanon Physician) Trustee
Associate Professor of Surgery; Medical Director,
Comprehensive Breast Program; and Vice Chairfor
Education, Department of Surgery

Vincent S. Conti, MHA

MHMH/DHC/D-HH Boards' Chair
Retired President & CEO, Maine Medical Center

Edward Howe Stansfield, III, MA

MHMH/DHC/D-HH Boards' Vice Chair
Senior VP, Resident Directorfor the Hanover, NH Bank of
America/Merrill Lynch Office

Paul P. Danes, PhD

MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Dean Emeritus; Laurence F. Whittemore Professor of
Business Administration, Tuck School of Business at
Dartmouth

Pamela Austin Thompson, MS, RN, CENP, FAAN
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Chiefexecutive officer emeritus of the American
Organization of Nurse Executives (AONE)

Senator Judd A. Gregg
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Senior Advisor to SIFMA

Jon W. Wahrenberger, MD, FAHA, FACC
MHMH/DHC (Lebanon Physician) Trustee
Clinical Cardiologist, Cardiav^cular Medicine

Roberta L. Hines, MD

MHMH/DHC Trustee
Nicholas M. Greene Professor and Chair, Dept. of
Anesthesiology, Yale School of Medicine

Marc B. Wolpow, JD, MBA
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Co-Chief Executive Officer of Audax Group

Cherie A. Holmes, MD, MSc

MHMH/DHC/(Community Group Practice) Trustee
Medical Director, Acute Care Services, D-H

-Keene/Cheshire Medical Center

Steven "Steve" A. Paris, MD

D-HH Trustee (NOT a D-H Trustee)
Regional Medical Director, Community Group Practices
(CGPs)

Laura K. Landy, MBA
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
President and CEO of the Fannie E. Rippel Foundation



DehraSamaha

2008-2013 Master of Public Health. University of New Hampshire-Manchester
Btucatlon 1993-1996 BachelorofScieQceinNur8ing'UniversityofNewHampshire,Durham,NH

Professional

sxpeiiencs

Additional

professional

actlvtttes

• Graduated from Concord Hospital School of Nursing In 1978

• Attended New Hampshire Technical Institute m Concord, NH

• Attended San Diego State University, San Diego, Calif

• Attended Diablo Valley Jumor College in California

July 2016-Present li\jury Prevention Center at Children's Hospital at Dartmouth-Hitchcock
Program Manager
2009-2016 Dartmouth College/Geisel School of Medicme/Iiyury Prevention Cent^
Program Director Lebanon, NH
1978 - 2009 Concord Hospital Concord, NH
SlaffNurse/Iiymy Prevcnticn Cocrdmato'

• Wodced pr^bminately as a staff nurse for eighteen of my diirty-nme years in nursing Due to
my passion for prevention my role has evolved over the years bom nursing staff to the field
of injury control.

Injury Prevention Co-Chauperson for New Hampshire Emergency Nurses Association

Coordinated the Greater Concord Safe Community Coalition and secured grant funding for diis community initiative
fh)m inception until June 2008 and currently serve on the Advisory Board Served as a public member on The
Governor's Commission for the Prevention, Intervention and Treatment of Alcohol and Drug Abuse for three yean
Involved with the Concord Area Substance Abuse Coalition since it was created and resigned this position when
assuming new role in 2009 Current member of the following groups. Suicide Prevention Council, Abusive Head Traui
Coalition in NH, NH Safe Sleep Work Group, Buckle Up NH, Safe Kids NH, Child Fatality Review Team, Sudden
Unexpected In^t E)eath, and Sudden Death m Youth Review Teams Member of the NH Safe Routes to School
Advisory Committee Current Co-Chair of the NH Falls Risk Reduction Ta^ Force

As a certifred Child Passenger Safety Technician I have been active m child passenger safety and occupant
protection issues and helped plan the first Four-Day Technical Training for ̂ Id Passenger Safety Technicians m
New Hampshire.

Woriced diligently with community PTO's and schools to promote bike safety and safe routes to school projects for
children in the Concord Community 1 have attended National Safe Routes to School trammg and worked to secure
ftmding for Concord m the first round ofNH DOT Safe Routes funding.

Coordinated a Refugee Injury Prevention Groi^) m the Greater Concord Area

Attended Lean Six Sigma Process Improvement Training in Spring 2009

Professional

mamberehips
Emergency Nurses Association, NH Public Health Association



April Simonds

Quairfication Summary

Motivated business professional with over 28 years of expenence in general office functions

with an unwavenng commitment to customer service

Ability to handle changes in pnonbes and increased responsibilities on a daily basis
Excellent communication and interpersonal skills and a strong work ethic

Proven expenence working with the public detivenng exceptional customer service

Career Summary

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center

Program Assistant, Injury Prevention Center

2016<uiTent

Performs a vanety of administrative assistance in support of the Program

Provides operational assistance to the Program Manager and Program Staff

Manages program documentation

Coordinates conference calls and travel arrangements

Assists with Grant proposal submission

Supports and participates with a vanety of community outreach events

Tracks grant budget and expenditures

Dartmouth Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

Financial Counselor

2012-2016

Conducts research to resolve a vanety of inquiries, customer issues and complaints

Proven ability to contnbute positively in a team onented environment

Worked collaboratively with all necessary internal departments to r^lve billing, patient

issues, including Care Management and Risk Management

Managed a high-volume vrork load within a deadline driven environment

Prepared and processed daily deposits, transferred funds/credit as appropriate

Pre-registered patients for upcoming appointments
Counseled patients daily to review their financial situation and determine the best
recommendation •

Processed a high volume of financial assistance applications with great attention to detail
and exceeded expected turn-around time
Collections of funds for high dollar elective procedures

Ability to effectively communicate with patients and faculty in difficult situations to ensure a

positive outcome

Excellent bme management and continually changed pnonties as needed



New London HospEtal New London, NH 2011-2012

Flnandal Representative

Responsible for extensive follow through on all delinquent accounts

Investigated and followed through on a broad range of inquiries, discrepanaes and complaints

Prepared and processed daily deposits vnth accuracy

Assisted patients needing help completing financiai application and shared mfbrmabon and
advice where to go to for additional help with fuel assistance. Medicaid, etc

Processed financial applications with accuracy and with great attention to detail and improved
tum-around time

Sent patients rtemned bills and reviewed billing to help them have a better understanding of our

billing processes

Dartmouth College, Department of Psychiatry, Lebanon, NH 2001-2011

Credit ft Collections Specialist

Responded to and resolved a broad range of client questions, inqutnes and discrepancies

Resolved patient issues and complaints with integrity and to ensure a positive customer experience

Ability to effectively communicate with patients and faculty in difficult customer service situations

Ability to effectively and respectfully communicate and facilitate communications between DHPA

and DHMC and other departments as appropriate, including office of Care Management and Risk

Management

Directly involved in developing and implementing a pre-coilections policy to increase revenue
Created Financial reports to provide analysis to PFS Manager on a monthly basis

Met with all new staff members to discuss and train on billing and collection policies

Prepared monthly excel reports tracking collections and uncollected debt for Manager review

West Central Behavior Services Lebanon, NH

Client Rnandal Representative

1997-2001

•  Monitored and oversaw all office functions regarding billing and collections for two faalities

•  Responsible for accounts receivable, insurance billing, dental management charge entry

cash posting and claims processing

•  Investigated reimbursement issues as they related to private pay and contracted accounts

•  Researched and resolved payment discrepanaes j
•  Responsible for accounts receivable, payment posting, charge entry with'great attention to [
detail i
•  Instrumental in the implementation of a pre-collections policy for patients !

Dr. Ronald Carpe, DMD Boston, Ma |
Office Manager 1992-1997 |

Effectively controlled all office functions allowing for the highest efficiency of office flow

Intensive follow through and resolution on all delinquent accounts as well as account

discrepancies

Monitored and reconciled all office productivity and comparative reports



Chelsie Mostone
Email: rhei5;le.LMQstone@hitchcock.org

Highway safety program coordinator working to better the lives of NH drivers through
educational presentations, collaboration with communities, schools and local businesses,

and collecting data to support programming.

Experience:
Buckle Up New Hampshire Program Coordinator Lebanon, NH
January 2019-Present

Manages and coordinates educational presentations as well as collects
data and promotes best safe driving practice
Collaborated with state officials for the statewide highway safety

conference

Supported community events, engaged with public and community
partners

Supported various businesses with educational presentations or table
displays
Wrote a grant to the NH Departmentof Safety and composed an annual
report

Composed data for the Department of Health and Human Services
around the teen driving efforts through data collection and collaborative
efforts

Youth Operator Specialist Lebanon, NH
October 2016-Ianuary 2019

Operated peer-to-peer groups inside high schools to provide teens with
a better understanding of driving safety and collected data of student
belt usage.
Supported community events, engaged with the public and community
partners

Managed presentations from crash victims and families
Wrote a grant to the NH Department of Safety for position and composed
an annual report

Teen Driver Program Coordinator Concord, NH
May 2016-September 2016

Part time

Coordinated various end of high school year events around driving
safety (impairment, distraction, seat belt, etc.) and collected teen driver
data

Highway Safety Intern Lebanon, NH
January 2016- May 2016

Learned the important aspects of highway safety educational efforts in
the state

Co-Presented to various groups about being safe drivers



Education:

Rivler University Nashua, NH
Graduated; 2017 CPA: 3.7

Bachelor's of Science Degree Major: Public Health Minor: Psychology

Occupation Accolades:
Received the 2018 Champion Award from the NH College and University Council for
the coordination of a half day educational event at Belmont High School
Presented at National Highway Safety Conference about the NH Teen Driver
Program
Awarded a GHSA/Ford Driving Skills for Life grant for an opioid related crash victim
event for teens in NH

Important Qualities:
Willing to take on challenges Dependable
Self-sufficient Great Communication Skills

Organized CPR certified
Desire to help others Learns new tasks easily



JAMES E.ESDON

BACKGROUND SUMMARY

Skilled in personnel management, budget management, volunteer recruitment and training,
membership development, outdoor education and injury prevention, specifically unintentional
injuries. People skills include teaching, coaching, directing, listening, encouraging, and
supporting. Additional skills include writing, problem solving, planning, and implementation.
Knowledgeable in fundraising including aimual campaigns, special events, project sales, and
product sales.

QUALIFICATIONS

Management
• Managed staff of fourteen people including all aspects of hiring, training, evaluation,

and counseling.
~ V " Ovw^vir daily operations of a busy office.
• Administered field operations for a statewide non-profit agency.
• Managed injury prevention program for statewide agency.
• Demonstrated customer service skills.

• Member of the Management Team for a busy retail store with sales in excess of 3.5 million
pnniifllly

Fahdraising/Development
•  Increased annual sustaining membership campaign.
• Organized new special events and increased revenue fiom existing: ones.
•  Significantly grew annual product sale.
• Ability to recruit, train, and retain strong volunteer base.
• Able to accurately balance and maintain daily financial records.

Oatdoor Education

• Managed large summer camp operation with balanced budget every year.
•  Increased attendance through innovative programming and quality customer service.

Computer Literacy
• Knowledgeable in Windows 98, Microsoft Word; E-mail; Internet searches.
• Hotel reservations software.

• Cash register operatioiL



EMPLOYMENT fflSTORY

• Program Manager with Injury Prevention Center, Dartmouth College 2001-Present
• Associate, LL Bean West Lebanon 2006-2007

•  Front Desk Clerk with Comfort Inn, White River Jet, VT 2001-2003

• Keyholder with Eastern Mountain Sports, Lebanon, NH 2002-2006
• Assistant Scout Executive/ Staff Leader with Green Mountain Council3SA 1995-2001
•  Senior Field Executive/ Camp Director with Daniel Webster Council3SA 1989-1995
• District Executive/ Camp Director with Daniel Webster Council,BSA 1985-1989

EDUCATION & CERTIFICATIONS

•'' Bachelor of Science, Physical Education 1985
Plymouth State College, Plymouth, New Hampshire

•  Professional Development Instructional Courses
Professional Development Level I, II, and III
Advanced District Administration

Personnel Management Level I
Fundraising/Endowment Roundtable

• Certified Child Passenger Safety Technician, Certification # TO26803
•  SOLO Wilderness First Aid

• American Red Cross Basic First Aid, CPR & AED

• American Red Cross Certified Lifeguard

PERSONAL

• Hobbies include running, hiking, backpacking, and fishing.
• Working towards Master*s in Business Administration.



CONTRACTOR NAME

Key Personnel

Name Job Title Salary % Paid from

this Contract

Amount Paid from

this Contract

Debra Samaha Injury Prevention Manager $83,907 40% $68,945.90

April Simonds Administrative Support $41,454 25% $19,692.80

Chelsie Mostone Traffic Safety Coordinator $51,230 20% $21,047.81

James Esdon Injury Prevention Coordinator $60,923 15% $18,772.55



Jeffrey A. Meyers
Commissioner

Lba NL Morris

Director

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES

29 HAZEN DRIVE, CONCORD. MI 03301
603-271-4501 1-800-852-3345 6x1.4501 v

Fax:603-271-4827 TDD Access: 1-800-735-2964

w»vw.dhhs.nh.gov

February 15, 2018

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord, New/ Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, Division of Public Health Services, to
enter into an agreement w/ith Trustees of Dartmouth College, Vendor #TBD, 10 Rope Ferry Road,
Hanover, NH 03755, for the provision of injury prevention services in an amount not to exceed
$217,000, effective April '1, 2018 or upon Governor and Council approval, w/hichever is later, through
March 31 i 2020. 81% Federal Funds, 19% General Funds.

Funds are available in the following accounts for SFY 2018 and SFY 2019, and are anticipated
to be available in SFY 2020, upon the availabiSty and continued appropriation of funds in the future
operating budgets, with authority to adjust amounts within the price limitation and adjust encumbrances
between State Fiscal Years through the Budget Office, without further approval from the Governor and
Executive Council, if needed and justified

05-95-90-902010-5190. HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES. DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SVS,
HHS: DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTK BUREAU OF POPULATION HEALTH AND COMMUNITY
SERVICES, MATB^NAL- CHILD HEALTH

SFY Class/Account Class Title Job Number
I

Total Amount

2018 102-500731 Contracts for Program Services 90019001 $23,125.00

2019 102-500731 Contracts for Program Sen/ices 90019001 $92,500.00

2020 102-500731 Contracts for Program Services 90019001 $69,375.00

Subtotal $185,000.00

05-95-90-90.

HHS; DIVIS

SERVICES,

2010-5896 HEALT

ON OF PUBLIC 1

ACA HOMEVISITI

H AND SOCIAL SERVICES. DEPT OF HEALTH AN
HEALTH BUREAU OF POPULATION HEALTH M
MG

D HUMAN SVS,

4D COMMUNITY

SFY Class/Account Class Title Job Number Total Amount

2018 102-500731 Contracts for Program Services 90083200 , $2,750.00

2019 102-500731 Contracts for Program Services 90083200 $11,000.00

2020 102-500731 Contracts for Program Services 90083200 $8,250.00

r
Subtotal $22,000.00
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05-95-48-481010-8917 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SVS,
HHS: ELDERLY & ADULT SVCS DIV, GRANTS TO LOCALS, HEALTH PROMOTION CONTRACTS

SPY Class/Account Class Title Job Number Total Amount

SFY 2018 102-500731 Contracts for Program Services 48108462 $1,250.00

SFY 2019 102-500731 Contracts for Program Services 48108462 $5,000.00

SFY 2020 102-500731 Contracts for Program Services 48108462 $3,750.00

Subtotal $10,000.00

Total $217,000.00

EXPLANATION

The purpose of this request Is to ensure injury prevention programming is available, statewide,
that includes but is not limited to professional training and logistics for the New Hampshire Falls Risk
Reduction Task Force; purchasing child-safety equipment for the home visiting programs; supports to
teen driver education programs; and providing oversight for the Department's Injury Prevention
Advisory Council..

By working with the Injury Prevention Center at Dartmouth College, the Department's Injury
Prevention Program gains the value of multiple stakeholder partnerships and a broad knowledge base
regarding injury prevention in New Hampshire. The staff at the Injury Prevention Center will assist the
Injury Prevention Program with prevention programing including Adolescent Driver Safety, Older Adult,
Falls Prevention, Child Safety. Child Maltreatment Prevention, as well as program evaluation and
updating the State Injury Prevention Strategic Plan.

The use of seatbelts among teen drivers has increased from 70% during the 2014-2015 school
year to 79.3% in the 2016-2017 school year, based on observational studies performed in the fifteen
(15) high schools participating in the Adolescent Teen Driver Safety program. The Safe Kids 500 bike
rally in May 2017 had over 625 in attendance. Event data showed: Seventy-two (72) helmet safety
checks administered, fifty-five (55) bike safety checks administered, 47% of participants already had a
helmet, fifty-two.(52) new helmets provided. 88% of parfcipants received helmet improvements. 55%
had bike safety improvements done, and 82% would not have had a bike safety check if not for this
event. With the assistance of the Injury Prevention Program, the 2020 goal of preventing the rate of
increase of older adult fall related deaths is expected to be below 125.1 per 100,000. The rate of older
adult falls related deaths ln'2015 was 101.6 and the five year trend shows a decrease in the rate of
inaease. With continued programing, by 2020, the goal will be met.

4

Trustees of Dartmouth College was selected for this project through a competitive bid process.
A Request for Proposal was posted on The Department of Health and Human Services' web site from
November 6, 2017 through December 7. 2017. The Department received two (2) proposals. The
proposals were reviewed and scored by a team of individuals with program specific knowledge. The
review included a thorough discussion of the strengths and weaknesses of the proposals. The Score
Summary Sheet is attached.

As referenced in the Request for Proposal and in Exhibit C-1, Revisions to General Provisions,
of this contract, the Department reserves the option to extend contract services for up to two (2)
additional years, contingent upon satisfactory delivery of services, available funding, agreement of the
parties and approval of the Governor and Executive Council.

All of New Hampshire's residents benefit from the injury prevention work. For example, the
Adolescent Driver Program will not only reduce Injuries due to motor vehicle crashes in the teen
population, but also protects drivers and passengers of all ages who may have been impacted by a
teen driver. The Older Adult Falls Prevention program addresses New Hampshire residents age sixty-
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five (65) years and older to Improve strength and physical stability to prevent deaths and Injuries due to
falls. The management of these essential activities Is not duplicated by any other programs in the
state. The Injury Prevention Program staffing at the Department is small, and these activities may not
be accomplished without the assistance of,the Injury Prevention Center.

Should the Governor and Executive Council not authorize this request, the essential injury
prevention programing provided by the Injury Prevention Center under Trustees at Dartmouth College
will oease which may lead to increased injuries and death in the State.

Area served; statewide.

Source of Funds: 81% Federal Funds from Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Health
Resources and Services Administration, Title MID, Preventative Health and 19% General Funds

In the event that the Federal (or Other) Funds become no longer available, General Funds "will
not be requested to-support this program.

Respectfully submi

Lisa M. Moiris

Director

iknfo^
Approved by: t 1 j /

rrey A. Meyers

Commissioner

The Deportmeni of Health and Human Services' Mission is to join communities and families
in providing opportunities for citizens to achieve health and independence.



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Office of Business Operations

Contracts & Procurement Unit

Summary Scoring Sheet

Injury Prevention Services RFP-2018-DPHS-05-INJUR

RFP Name RFP Number

1.

Bidder Name
Pass/Fall

Maximum

Points

Actual

Points ,2.

Center for Health and Learning 1000 585
3.

2
Trustees of Dartmouth College 1000 745

4.

3o 1000 0 5.

Reviewer Names
^ear^arden^pioi^urwillan^"
Prog Coordntr, OPHS; Tech Tm

T^nstTHart^om^teinn^Coordntr
MCH OPHS; Tech tm
Shari Campbell. Prog Evaluation
Specialist, DPHS; Tech Team

^ller^hase^uJcar^^inancIa^*
Administrator DPHS: Cost Tech

Tir^ageman^!nanc?Dept^""
DPHS. Cost Team



Subject; Injury Prevention Services (RFP-201S-DPHS-OS-INJUR")
FORM NUMBER P.37 (version 5/8/15)

Notice: This agreement and all of its attachments shall become public upon submission to Governor and
Executive Council for approval. Any information that is private, confidential or proprietary must
be clearly identified to the agency and agreed to in writing prior to signing the contract.

AGREEMENT

The State of New Hampshire and the Contractor hereby mutually agree as follows:

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. IDENTIFICATION.

l.l State Agency Name
NH Department of Health and Human Services

1.2 Slate Agency Address
129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301-3857

1.3 Contractor Name.

Trustees of Dartmouth College
1.4 Contractor Address

10 Rope Ferry Road
Hanover. NH 03755

1.5 Contractor Phone

Number

603-646-1559

1.6 Account Number

05-95-90-902010-51900000,
05-95-90-902010-58960000,

05-95-48-481010-89170000

1.7 Completion Date

March 31,2020

1.8 Price Limitation

$217,000

1.9 Contracting Officer for State Agency
E. Maria Reinemann, Esq.
Director of Contracts and Procurement

. 1.10 State Agency Telephone Number
603-271-9330 .

1.11 Contractor Signature

d ■ (hjiHd
1.12 Name and Title of Contractor Signatory

Heather A, AmoW, M.Ed.
Associate Director

1.13 Acknowledgement: Stateof

On

proven to be the person.whose
, before the unde

.Countyof

indicated in block 1.12.

rsigned officer, personayMD^e^||^^ i
'hose name is signed in block 1.11, ant^kntiw^d^di^^e e:

identified in block 1.12, or satisfactorily
executed this document in the capacity

1.13.1 Signature of Notary Public or Justice of the Peace ? /

(Seal] .... .A./.,
1.13.2 Name and Tithe of Notary Justice of the Peace v"!!^ ^

M. "RoU.^. ^ M Co/Ce^
itaie Acency Sicnaiure , . ! 1.15 Name ana Title of State Aeency Signatory1.15 Name ana Title of State Agency Signatory1.14 State/\gency Sign^ure

USf>
1.16 Approval by the N.HTDepartment of Administration, Division of Personnel (if applicable)

By: Director, On:

1.17 Approval by the Attorney General (Form, Substance and Execution) (ifapplicable)

By:
S Ig

1.18 Approval by the Governor and^xecutive Coanfcil (ifapplicable)

By: ( I On:

Page 1 of4



2. EMPLOYMENT OF CONTRACTOR/SERVICES TO
BE PERFORMED. The State of New Hampshire, acting
through the agency identified in block I. I ("Stale''), engages
contractor identified In block 1.3 ("Contractor") to perform,
and the Contractor shall perform, the work or sale of goods, or
both, identified and more particularly described in the attached
EXHIBIT A which is incorporated herein by reference
("Ser\'ices").

3. EFFECTIVE DATE/COMPLETION OF SERVICES.
3.1 Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, and subject to the approval of the Governor and
Executive Council of the Stale of New Hampshire, if
applicable, this Agreement, and all obligations of the parties
hereundcr, shall become effective on the date the Governor
and Executive Council approve this Agreement as indicated in
block 1.18, unless no such approval is required, in which case
the Agreement shall become efTcciivc on the date the
Agreement is signed by the State Agency as shown in block
1.14 ("Effective Date").
3.2 If the Contractor commences the Services prior to the
Effective Date, all Services performed by the Contractor prior
to the Effective Date shall be performed at the sole risk of the
Contractor, and in the event that this Agreement does not
become effective, the State shall have no liability to the"
Contractor, including without limitation, any obligation to pay
the Contractor for any costs incurred or Services performed.
Contractor must complete all Services by the Completion Date
specified in block 1.7.

4. CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, all obligations of the State hercunder, including,
without limitation, the continuance of payments hereunder, are •
contingent upon the availability and continued appropriation
of funds, and in no event shall the State be liable for any
payments hereunder in excess of such available appropriated
funds. In the event of a reduction or termination of

appropriated funds, the State shall have the right to withhold
payment until such funds become available, if ever, and shall
have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon
giving the Contractor notice of such termination. The Slate
shall not be required to transfer funds from any other account
to the Account identified in block 1.6 in the event funds in that
Account are reduced or unavailable.

5. CONTRACT PRICE/PRICE LIMITATION/

PAYMENT.

5.1 The contract price, method of payment, and terms of
payment are identified and more particularly described in
EXHIBIT B which is incorporated herein by reference.
5.2 The payment by the State of the contract price shall be the ,
only and the complete reimbursement to the Contractor for all
expenses, of whatever nature incurred by the Contractor in the
performance hereof, and shall be the only and the complete
compensation to the Contractor for the Services. The State
shall have no liability to the Contractor other than the contract
price.

Page

5.3 The State reserves the right to offset from any amounts
otherwise payable to the Contractor under this Agreement
those liquidated amounts required or permitted byN.H. RSA
80:7 through RSA 80;7-c or any other provision of law.
5.4 Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the
contrary, and notwithstanding unexpected circumstances, in
no event shall the total of all payments authorized, or actually
made hereunder. exceed the Price Limitation set forth in block
1.8.

6. COMPLIANCE BY CONTRACTOR WITH LAWS

AND REGULATIONS/ EQUAL EMPLOYMENT
OPPORTUNITY.

6.1 In connection with the performance of the Services, the
Contractor shall comply with all statutes, laws, regulations,
and orders of federal, state, county or municipal authorities
which impose any obligation or duly upon the Contractor,
including, but not limited to, civil rights and equal opportunity
laws. This may include the requirement to utilize auxiliary
aids and services to ensure that persons with communication
disabilities, including vision, hearing and speech, can
communicate with, receive information from, and convey
information to the Contractor. In addition, the Contractor
shall comply with all applicable copyright laws. '
6.2 During the term of this Agreement, the Contractor shall
not discriminate against employees or applicants for
employment because of race, color, religion, creed, age, sex,
handicap, sexual orientation, or national origin and will take
affirmative action to prevent such discrimination.
6.3 If this Agreement is funded in any part by monies of the
United States, the Contractor shall comply with all the
provisions of Executive Order No. 11246 ("Equal
Employment Opportunity"), as supplemented by the
regulations of the United States Department of Labor (41
C.F.R. Part 60), and with any rules, regulations and guidelines
as the State of New Hampshire or the United States issue to
implement these regulations. The Contractor further agrees to
permit the State or United States access to any of the
Contractor's books, records and accounts for the purpose of
ascertaining compliance with all rules, regulations and orders,
and the covenant.s, terms and conditions of this Agreement.

7. PERSONNEL.

7.1 The Contractor shall at its own expense provide all
personnel necessary to perform the Services. The Contractor •
warrants that all personnel engaged in the Ser\'ices shall be
qualified to perform the Serx'iccs, and shall bc.propcrly
licensed and otherwise authorized to do so under all applicable
laws.

7.2 Unless otherwise authorized in writing, during the term of
this Agreement, and for a period of six (6) months after the
Completion Date in block 1.7, the Contractor shall not hire, ^
and shall not permit any subcontractor or other person, firm or
coi]3oration with whom it is engaged in a combined effort to
perform the Services to hire, any person who Is a State
employee or official, who is materially involved in the
procurement, administration or performance of this
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Agreement. This provision shall survive termination of this
Agreement.
7.3 The Contracting Officer specified in block 1.9, or his or
her successor, shall be the Slate's representative. In the event
of any dispute concerning the interpretation of this Agreement,
the Contracting Officer's decision shall be final for the State.

8. EVENT OF DEFAULT/REMEDIES.

8.1 Any one or more of the following acts or omissions of the
Contractor shall constitute an event of default hcreunder

("Event of Default");
8.1.1 failure to perform the Services satisfactorily or on
schedule;
8.1.2 failure to submit any report required hercunder; and/or
8.1.3 failure to perform any other covenant, term or condition
of this Agreement.
8.2 Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the State
may take any one, or more, or all, of the following actions:
8.2.1 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event
of Def^ault and requiring it to be remedied within, in the
absence of a greater or lesser specification of time, thirty (30)
days from the date of the notice; and if the Event of Default is
not timely remedied, terminate this Agreement, effective two
(2) days after giving the Contractor notice of termination;
8.2.2 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event
of Default and suspending all payments to be made under this
Agreement and ordering that the portion of the contract price
which would otherwise accrue to the Contractor during the
period from the date of such notice until such lime as the State
determines that the Contractor has cured the Event of Default

shall never be paid to the Contractor;
8.2.3 set off against any other obligations the State may owe to
the Contractor any damages the State suffers by reason of any
Event of Default; and/or'
8.2.4 treat the Agreement as breached and pursue any of its
remedies at law or in equity, or both.

9. DATA/ACCESS/CONFIDENTIALITV/

PRESERVATION.

9.1 As used in this Agreement, the word "data" shall mean all
information and things developed or obtained during the
performance of, or acquired or developed by reason of, this
Agreement, including, but not limited to, all studies, reports,
files, formulae, sur\'eys, maps, charts, sound recordings, video
recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, analyses,
graphic representations, computer programs, computer
printouts, notes, letters, memoranda, papers, and documents,
all whether finished or unfinished.

9.2 All data and any property which has been received from
the State or purcha.sed with funds provided for that purpose
under this Agreement, shall be the property of the State, and
shall be returned to the State upon demand or upon
termination of this Agreement for any reason.
9.3 Confidentiality of data shall be governed by N.H. RSA
chapter 91-A or other existing law. Disclosure of data
requires prior written approval of the State.
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10. TERMINATION. In the event of an early termination of
this Agreement for any reason other than the completion of the
Services, the Contractor shall deliver to the Contracting
Oftlcer, not later than fifteen (15) days after the date of
termination, a report ("Termination Report") de.scribing in
detail all Services performed, and the contract price earned, to
and including the date of termination. The form, subject
matter, content, and number of copies of the Termination
Report shall be identical to those of any Final Report
described in the attached EXHIBIT A.

n. CONTRACTOR'S RELATION TO THE STATE, In

the performance of this Agreement the Contractor is in all
respects an independent contractor, and is neither an agent nor
an employee of the State. Neither the Contractor nor any of its
officers, employees, agents or members shall have authority to
bind the State or receive any benefits, workers' compensation
or other emoluments provided by the State to its employees.

12. ASSIGNMENT/DELEGATION/SUBCONTRACTS.

The Contractor shall not assign, of otherwise transfer any
interest in this Agreement without the prior written notice and
consent of the State. None of the Services shall be

subcontracted by the Contractor without the prior written
notice and consent of the State.

13. INDEMNIFICATION. The Contractor shall defend,

indemnify and hold harmless the State, its officers and
employees, from and against any and all los.scs suffered by the
State, its officers and employees, and any and all claims,
liabilities or penalties asserted against the State, its officers
and employees, by or on behalf of any person, on account of,
based or resulting from, arising out of (or which may be
claimed to arise out oO the acts or omissions of the
Contractor. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein
contained shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of the

sovereign immunity of the State, which immunity is hereby "
re,served to the Slate. This covenant in paragraph 13 shall
survive the termination of this Agreement.

14. INSURANCE.

14.1 The Contractor shall, at its sole expense, obtain and
maintain in force, and shall require any subcontractor or
assignee to obtain and maintain in force, the following
insurance:

14.1.1 comprehensive general liability insurance against all
claims of-bodily injury, death or property damage, in amounts
of not less than.Sl,000,000per occurrence and 52,000,000
aggregate; and
14.1.2 .special cause of loss coverage form covering all
property subject to subparagraph 9.2 herein, in an amount not
less t han 80% of the whole replacement value of the property.
14.2 The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein shall
be on policy forms and endorsements approved for use in the
State of New Hampshire by the N.H. Department of
Insurance, and issued by insurers licensed in the State of New
Hampshire,

of 4 ^
Contractor Initials Hn

Dale



14.3 The Contractor shall furnish to the Contracting Officer
identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor, a certificaic(s)

of insurance for all insurance required under this Agreement.
Contractor shall also furnish to the Contracting Officer
identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor, certificaie(s) of
insurance for all renewal(s) of insurance required under this
Agreement no later than thirty (30) days prior to the expiration
date of each of the insurance policies. The certificate(s) of
insurance and any renewals thereof shall be attached and are
incorporated herein by reference. Each certificate(s) of
insurance shall contain a clause requiring the insurer to
provide the Contracting Officer identified in block 1.9, or his
or her successor, no less than thirty (30) days prior written ,
notice of cancellation or modification of the policy.

15. WORKERS' COMPENSATION.
15.1 By signing this agreement, the Contractor agrees,
certifies and warrants that the Contractor is in compliance with
Or exempt from, the requirements of N.H. RSA chapter 281 -A
("Workers' Compensalion").
15.2 To the extent the Contractor is subject to the
requirements of N.H. RSA chapter 281-A, Contractor shall
maintain, and require any subcontractor or assignee to .secure
and maintain, payment of Workers' Compensation in
connection with activities which.the person proposes to
undertake pursuant to this Agreement. Contractor shall
furnish the Contracting Officer identified in block 1.9, or his
or her successor, proof of Workers' Compensalion in the
manner described in N.H. RSA chapter 281 -A and any
applicable renewal(.s) thereof, which shall be attached and are
incorporated herein by reference. The State shall not be
responsible for payment of any Workers' Compensation
premiums or for any other claim or benefit for Contractor, or
any subcoritractor or employee of Contractor, which might
arise under applicable State of New Hampshire Workers"
Compensation laws in connection with the performance of the
Serx'ices under this Agreement,

16. WAIVER OF BREACH. No failure by the State to
enforce any provisions hereof afier any Event'of Default shall
be deemed a waiver of its rights with regard to that Event of
Default, or any subsequent Event of Default. No express
failure to enforce any Event of Default shall be deemed a
waiver of the right of the State to enforce each and all of the
provisions hereof upon any further or other Event.of Default
on the part of the Contractor.

17. NOTICE. Any notice by a pany hereto to the other party
shall be deemed to have been duly delivered or given at the
time of mailing by certified mail, postage prepaid, in a United
States Post Office addressed to the parties at the addresses
given in blocks 1.2 and 1.4, herein.

18. AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be amended,
waived or discharged only by an instrument in writing signed
by the parties hereto and only after approval of such
amendment, waiver or discharge by the Governor and
Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire unless no

such approval is required under the circumstances pursuant to
State law, rule or policy.

19. CONSTRUCTION OF AGREEMENT AND tERMS.
This Agreement shall be con.strued in accordance with the
laws of the State of New Hampshire, and is binding upon and
inures to the benefit of the parties and their respective
successors and assigns. The wording used in this Agreement
is the wording chosen by the parlies to express their mutual
intent, and no rule of construction shall be applied against or
in favor of any party.

20. THIRD PARTIES. The parties hereto do not intend to
benefit any third parties and this Agreement shall not be
construed to confer any such benefit.

21. HEADINGS. The headings throughout the Agreement
are for reference purposes only, and the words contained
therein shall in no way be held to explain, modify, amplify or
aid in the interpretation, construction or meaning of the
provisions of this Agreement,

22. SPECIAL PROVISIONS. Additional provisions set
forth in the attached EXHIBIT C are incorporated herein by
reference.

23. SEVERABILITY. In the event any of the provisions of
this Agreement are held by a court of competent jurisdiction to
be contrary to any state or federal law, the remaining
provisions of this Agreement will remain in full force and
effect.

24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agrcerhcnt, which may
be executed in a number of counterparts, each of which shall
be deemed an original, constitutes the entire Agreement and
understanding between the parties, and supersedes all prior
Agreements and understandings relating hereto.
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
injury Prevention Services

Exhibit A

Scope of Services

1. Provisions Applicable to All Services
1.1. The Contractor will submit a detailed description of the language assistance services

they will provide to persons with limited English proficiency to ensure meaningful
access to their programs and/or services within ten (10) days of the contract effective
date.

1.2. The Contractor agrees that, to the extent future legislative action by the New
Hampshire General Court or federal or state court orders may have an impact on the
Services described herein, the State Agency has the right to modify Service priorities
and expenditure requirements under this Agreement so as to achieve compliance
therewith.

2. Scope of Services
2.1. The Contractor shall update the "NH State Injury Prevention Plan, 2014 - 2018" (the

Plan), which was published in November 2013, to prepare for 2019 through 2023.
The Plan includes services for topics including, but not limited to child safety and
child maltreatment prevention, teen driver safety, poisoning prevention, suicide
prevention, and older adult fall prevention. The Plan update shall include, but not be
limited to:

2.1.1. An analysis of the most recent New Hampshire injury areas.

2.1.2. Work groups to ensure key partners are represented and that the Plan is
. properly updated based on:

2.1.2.1. New Hampshire specific data.

2.1.2.2. Evidence-based practices.

2.1.2.3. Current initiatives.

2.1.2.4. Resource availability.

2.1.2.5. Programming and evaluation feasibility.

2.1.3. A review of the outcomes from the work group submissions from both a
programmatic and evaluative perspective.

2.1.4. A formative (process-level) evaluation for purposes of performance
monitoring and tracking program efforts.

2.1.5. A summative (outcome-level) evaluation to assess annual changes in desired
short- and intermediate-term outcomes.

2.2. The Contractor shall plan, promote, and provide logistical support and evaluation of
evidence-based falls risk reduction training for older adults age sixty-five (65) and
older including, but not limited to collaborating with agencies in planning and
evaluation of risk reduction trainings including, but not limited to:

M.Trustees of Dartmouth College Exhibit A Contractor initials,
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Injury Prevention Services

Exhibit A

2.2.1. Dartmouth Center for Health and Aging

2.2.2. Foundation for Healthy Communities

2.3. The Contractor shall facilitate and oversee the following statewide coalitions In order

to Implement Injury prevention programming:

2.3.1. Injury Prevention Advisory Council (IPAC) with its accompanying Policy

Subcommittee, which .meets quarterly: the Policy Subcommittee meets as

needed.

2.3.2. Safe Kids New Hampshire, which meets quarterly. This includes the provision

of professional trainings on best practice injury prevention strategies in the

context of these meetings. Topics will be determined by interest and injury

surveillance data.

2.3.3. The Teen Driving/Buckle-Up NH Committee which meets monthly.

2.3.4. The New Hampshire Falls Risk Reduction Task Force which meets monthly.

2.4. The Contractor shall develop and impierhent evaluation plans for components of the

"NH State Injury Plan. 2019-2023" including, but not limited to older adult falls (Tia Ji
Quan: Moving for Better Balance <g) and Matter of Balance. Programs), teen driving,

and childhood poison prevention. This includes the facilitation of evaluation

meetings, as needed.

2.4.1. The Contractor's Center for Program Design and Evaluation (CPDE)

evaluators shall conduct semi-structured individual or group interviews with

key program stakeholders as part of the evaluation.

2.5. The Contractor shall develop and make available a web-based injury prevention

curriculum for individuals providing early childhood services including, but not limited

to home visiting and child care providers.

2.6. The Contractor shall provide and collect results from a post-attendance survey for

the web-based injury prevention trainings outlined in Section 2.5.

2.7. The Contractor shall purchase child safety devices for the Maternal, Infant and Early

Childhood Home Visiting Program as requested so long as funds are still available.

2.8. The Contractor shall attend the following meetings and conferences:

2.8.1. Northeast and Caribbean Injury Prevention Network (NCIPN), monthly phone

calls and quarterly in-person meetings.

2.8.2. Safe States Alliance Annual Meeting.

. 2.8.3. Monthly check-in meetings with the Injury Prevention Program Manager.

2.9. The Contractor shall evaluate their progress towards the Performance Measures

listed in Section 5 through employing a mixed-method, longitudinal transformation

design where multiple quantitative and qualitative data are collected from different

Trustees of Dartmouth College Exhibit A Contractor Initials
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Injury Prevention Services

Exhibit A

target groups over time, and data are analyzed and integrated throughout the
evaluation to inform later activities.

2.9.1. The Contractor shall align evaluation protocols and procedures with Injury
Plan Prevention (IPP) activities and strategic priorities. Evaluation activities
may include, but are not limited to:

2.9.1.1. Participant surveys of use, experiences, satisfaction and
knowledge/awareness;

2.9.1.2. Compilation of training attendance records and other tracking of program
outreach and. utilization, e.g., number of trainings provided; number of
safety checks conducted;

2.9.1.3. Targeted qualitative methods such as focus groups and/or semi-
structured interviews to supplement program data and surveys which

'  can provide more details about program successes and challenges;

2.9.1.4. Training or other meeting/program evaluation where education or
outreach is provided to a target audience and immediate feedback on
the session delivery and content is warranted to inform future
programming; and

2.9.1.5. Compilation of secondary data such as injury data, incidence and
severity rates, registry data, and any relevant document review (e.g.,
advisory group meeting minutes; fiscal data).

2.9.2. The Contractor shall analyze quantitative data such as counts or survey data
using appropriate statistics, such as t-tests or ANOVAs for continuous or
interval data, and chi-square for categorical variables to be able to make
inferences about program effects on process or outcome variables

2.9.3. The Contractor, shall systematically code qualitative data (interview
narratives) using a mix of grounded theory methods and content analysis to
identify overarching themes that emerge from participant perspectives on
activities, challenges, successes and other outcomes.

3. Reporting
3.1. The reports associated with this contract that are sent to the Department shall not

contain personal health Information (PHI), personally identifiable Information (Pll), or
confidential information.

3.2. The Contractor shall provide a quarterly report on progress toward performance
measures and overall program goals and objectives to the Department. This will
include information including, but not limited to the type and number of meetings
facilitated, number of fall prevention classes and count of attendees, successes, and
challenges.

Trustees of Dartrrioulh College Exhibit A Contractor Initials
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Injury Prevention Services

Exhibit A

3.3. The Contractor shall provide an annual report summarizing the activities engaged in
within thirty (30) days of the conclusion of the State
Fiscal Year to the DHHS Injury Prevention Program.

3.4. The Contractor shall report annually on the number of trainings and attendance
count for train-the-trainer sessions for Instructors of Tia Ji Quan: Moving for Better

Balance <E) and Matter of Balance.

3.5. The Contractor shall collect pre- and post- survey data on participants in Tia Ji Quan:
Moving for Better Balance ® and Matter of Balance and provide aggregate data in an
annual report.

3.6. The Contractor shall submit quarterly progress reports towards Process Indicators.

4. Performance Measures

4.1. The Contractor shall ensure that the following performance indicators are annually

achieved and monitored monthly or quarterly as stated, to measure the effectiveness

of the agreement:.

4.1.1. Facilitation of one. hundred percent (100%) of the statewide coalitions
outlined in Section 2.3. monitored monthly.

4.1.2. Implementation and evaluation of eight-five percent (85%) of the strategies
and accompanying activities outlined in the "New Hampshire Violence and
Injury Prevention Plan for Action 2015-2020", monitored monthly. This is a
subset of the "Statewide Strategic Injury Prevention Plan".

4.1.3. Development of a clear work plan for the overall activities related to this
contract, monitored quarterfy to ensure one hundred percent (100%) of
deadlines are met. If unmet, a brief justification must be provided with a new
proposed deadline

4.2. Quarterly, the Contractor shall develop and submit to the Department a corrective
action plan for any perforrnance measure that was not achieved.

Trustees of Dartmouth College Exhibit A Contractor initials
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Injury Prevention Services

Exhibit B

Methods and Conditions Precedent to Payment

1. The State shall pay the Contractor an amount not to exceed the Form P-37, Block 1.8,
Price Limitation for the services provided by the Contractor pursuant to Exhibit A, Scope
of Services.

2. The Contractor agrees to provide the services in Exhibit A, Scope of Service in
compliance with funding requirements. Failure to meet the scope of services may
jeopardize the funded contractor's current and/or future funding.

3. Funds to support this project are both Federal Funds and State of New Harhpshire
General Funds. The Federal Funds to support this project are identified as follows;

3.1. US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and
Prevention. Preventatlve Health and Human Services Block Grant, Catalog of
Federal Domestic Assistarice (CFDA)# 93.758, FAIN#B010T009098.

3.2. US Dept. of Health and Human Services, Human. Resources & Services
Administration (HRSA), Maternal, Infant and Early Childhood Home Visiting Program .
Grant, Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA)# 93.870,
FAIN#X10MC29490.

3.3. US Department of Health and Human Services, Title MID. Preventatlve Health,
Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA)# 93.043, FAIN#17AANHT3PH.

4. Payment for said services shall be made monthly as follows:

4.1. Payment shall be on a cost reimbursement basis for actual expenditures incurred in
the fulfillment of this agreement, and shall be in accordance with the approved line
item.

4.2. The Contractor will submit an invoice in a form satisfactory to the State by the
twentieth (20^) working day of each month, which identifies and requests
reimbursement for authorized expenses incurred in the prior month. The invoice
must be completed, signed, dated and returned to the Department in order to initiate
payment. The Contractor agrees to keep detailed records of their activities related to
Department-funded programs and services.

4.2.1. Expenditure detail may be requested by the Department on an intermittent basis
which the Contractor will need to provide.

4.2.2. Onsite reviews may be required.

4.3. The State shall make payment to the Contractor within thirty (30) days of receipt of
•  each invoice, subsequent to approval of the.submitted invoice and if sufficient funds

are available;

4.4. The final invoice shall be due to the State no later than forty (40) days after the
contract Form P-37, Block 1.7 Completion Date.

4.5. All invoices may be assigned an electronic signature and must be emailed to:
DPHScontractbillinQ@dhhs.nh.aov

4.6. Payments may be withheld pending receipt of required reports or documentation as
identified in Exhibit A, Scope of Services, and in this Exhibit B.

Tfuslees of Dartmoulh Colleoe Exhibit B Contractor Initials
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Injury Prevention Services

Exhibit B

5. Notwithstanding paragraph 18 of the General Provisions P-37, changes limited to
adjusting amounts between budget line items, related items, amendments of related
budget exhibits within the price limitation, and to adjusting encumbrances between State
Fiscal Years, may be made by written agreement of both parties and may be made
without obtaining approval of the Governor and Executive Council.

Ua
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Exhibit C

SPECIAL PROVISIONS

Contractors Obligations: The Contractor covenants and agrees that all funds received by the Contractor
under the Contract shall be used only as payment to the Contractor for services provided to eligible
individuals and. in the furtherance of the aforesaid covenants, the Contractor hereby covenants and
agrees as follows:

1. Compliance with Federal and State Laws: If the Contractor is permitted to determine the eligibility
of individuals such eligibility determination shall be made in accordance with applicable federal and
state, laws, regulations, orders, guidelines, policies and procedures.

2. Time and Manner of Determination: Eligibility determinations shall be made on forms provided by
the Department for that purpose and shall be made and remade at such times as are prescribed by
the Department.

3. Documentation: In addition to the determination forms required by the Department, the Contractor
shall maintain a data file on each recipient of services hereunder, which file shall include all
information necessary to support an eligibility determination and such other information as the
Department requests. The Contractor shall furnish the Department with all forms and documentation
regarding eligibility determinations that the Department may request or require.

4. Fair Hearings: The Contractor understands that all applicants for services hereunder, as well as
individuals declared ineligible have a right to a fair hearing regarding that deterhnination. The
Contractor hereby covenants and agrees that all applicants for services shall be permitted to fill out .
an application form and that each applicant or re-applicant shall be informed of his/her right to a fair
hearing in accordance with Department regulations.

5. Gratuities or Kickbacks: The Contractor agrees that it is a breach of this Contract to accept or
make a payment, gratuity or offer of employment on behalf of the Contractor, any Sub-Contractor or
the State in order to influence the.performance of the Scope of Work detailed in Exhibit A of this
Contract. The State may terminate this Contract and any sub-contract or sub-agreement if it is
determined that payments, gratuities or offers of employment of any kind were offered or received by
any officials, officers, employees or agents of the Contractor or Sub-Contractor.

6. Retroactive Payments: Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Contract or in any
other document, contract or understanding, it is expressly understood and agreed by the parties
hereto, that no payments will be made hereunder to reimburse the Contractor for costs incurred for
any purpose or for ariy services provided to any individual prior to the Effective Date of the Contract
and no payments shall be made 'for expenses incurred by the Contractor for any services provided
prior to the date on which the individual applies for services or (except as otherwise provided by the
federal regulations) prior to a determination that the individual is eligible for such services.

7. Conditions of Purchase: Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Contract, nothing
herein contained shall be deemed to obligate or require the Department to purchase services
hereunder at a rate which reimburses the Contractor in excess of the Contractors costs, at a rale
which exceeds the amounts reasonable and necessary to assure the quality of such service, or at a
rate which exceeds the rate charged by the Contractor to ineligible indixriduals or other third party.
funders for such service. If at any time during the term of this Contract or after receipt of the Final
Expenditure Report hereunder. the Department shall determine that the Contractor has used
payments hereunder to reimburse items of expense other than such costs, or has received payment
in excess of such costs or in excess of such rates charged by the Contractor to ineligible individuals
or other third party funders, the Department may elect to:
7.1. Renegotiate the rates for payment hereunder. in which event new rates shall be established:
7.2. Deduct from any future payment to the Contractor the amount of any prior reimbursement in

excess of costs;

Exhibit C - Special Provisions Contractor Initials
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Exhibit C

7.3. Demand repayment of the excess payment by the Contractor in which event failure to make
such repayment shall constitute an Event of Default hereunder. When the Contractor is
permitted to determine the eligibility of individuals for services, the Contractor agrees to
reimburse the Department for all funds paid by the Department to the Contractor for services
provided to any individual who is found by the Department to be ineligible for such services at
any time during the period of retention of records established herein.

RECORDS; MAINTENANCE. RETENTION. AUDIT. DISCLOSURE AND CONFIDENTIALITY:

6. Mainter>ance of Records: In addition to the eligibility records specified above, the Contractor
covenants and agrees to maintain the following records during the Contract Period:
8.1. Fiscal Records: books, records, documents and other data evidencing and reflecting all costs

and other expenses Incurred by the Contractor in the performance of the Contract, and all
income received or collected by the Contractor during the Contract Period, said records to be
maintained in accordance with accounting procedures and practices which sufficiently and
properly reflect all such costs and expenses, and which are acceptable to the Department, and
to include, without limitation, all ledgers, books, records, and original evidence of costs such as
purchase requisitions and orders, vouchers, requisitions for materials, inventories, valuations of
in-kind contributions, labor time cards, payrolls, and other records requested or required by the
Department.

8.2. Statistical Records: Statistical, enrollment, attendance or visit records for each recipient of
services during the Contract Period, which records shall include all records of application and
eligibility (including all forms required to determine eligibility for each such recipient), records
regarding the provision of services and all invoices submitted to the Department to obtain .
payment for such services.

8.3. Medical Records: Where appropriate and as prescribed by the Department regulations, the
Contractor shall retain medical records on each.patient/recipient of services.

9. Audit: Contractor shall submit an annual audit to the Department within 60 days after the close of the
agency fiscal year. It is recommended that the report be prepared In accordance with the provision of
Office of Management and Budget Circular A-.133. "Audits of States. Local Governments, and Non
Profit Organizations" and the provisions of Standards for Audit of Governmental Organizations,
Programs. Activities and Functions, issued by the US General Accounting Office (GAO standards) as
they pertain to financial compliance audits.
9.1. Audit and Review: During the term of this Contract and the period for retention hereunder. the

Department, the United States Department of Health and Human Services, and any of their
designated representatives shall have access to all reports and records maintained pursuant to
the Contract for purposes of audit, examination, excerpts and transcripts.

9.2. Audit Liabilities: In addition to and not in any way In limitation of obligations of the Contract, it is
understood and agreed by the Contractor that the Contractor shall be held liable for any state
or federal audit exceptions and shall return to the Department, all payments made under the
Contract to which exception has been taken or which have been disallowed because of such an
exception.

10. Confidentiality of Records: AH information, reports, and records maintained hereunder or collected
in connection with the performance of the services and the Contract shall be confidential and shall not
be disclosed by the Contractor, provided however, that pursuant to state laws and the regulations of
the Department regarding the use and disclosure of such information, disclosure may be made to
public officials requiring such information in connection with their official duties and for purposes
directly connected to the administration of the services and the Contract; and provided further, that
the use or disclosure by any party of any Information concerning a recipient for any purpose not
directly connected with the administration of the Department or the Contractor's responsibilities with
rWpect to purchased services hereunder is prohibited except on written consent of the recipient, his
attorney or guardian.
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Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein the covenants and conditions contained in
the Paragraph shall survive the termination of the Contract for any reason whatsoever.

11. Reports: Fiscal and Statistical: The Contractor agrees to submit the following reports at the following
•  times if requested by the Department.

11.1., Interim Financial Reports: Written interim financial reports containing a detailed description of
all costs and non-allowable expenses incurred by the Contractor to the date of the report and
containing such other Information as shall be deemed satisfactory by the Department to
justify the rate of payment hereunder. Such Financial Reports shall be submitted on the form
designated by the Department or deemed satisfactory by the Department.

11.2. Final Report: A final report shall be submitted within thirty (30) days after the end of the term
of this Contract. The Final Report shall be in a form satisfactory to the Department and shall
contain a summary staterhent of progress toward goals and objectives stated in the Proposal
and other information required by the Department.

12. Completion of Services: Disallowance of Costs: Upon the purchase by the Department of the
maximum number of units provided for In the Contract and upon payment of the price limitation
hereunder, the Contract and all the obligations of the parties hereunder (except such obligations as,
by the terms of the Contract are to be performed after the end of the term of this Contract and/or
survive the termination of the Contract) shall terminate, provided however, that if. upon review of the
Final Expenditure Report the Department shall disallow any expenses claimed by the Contractor as
costs hereunder the Department shall retain the right, at its discretion, to deduct the amount of such
expenses as are disallowed or to recover such sums from the Contractor.

13. Credits: All documents, notices, press releases, research reports and other materials prepared
during or resulting from the performance of the services of the Contract shall include the following
statement:

13.1. The preparation of this (report, document etc.) was financed under a Contract with the State
of New Hampshire, Department of Health and Human Services, with funds provided in part
by the State of New Hampshire and/or such other funding sources as were available or
required, e.g., the United States Department of Health and Human Services.

14. Prior Approval and Copyright Ownership: All materials (written, video, audio) produced or
purchased under the contract shall have prior approval from DHHS before printing, production,
distribution or use. The DHHS will retain copyright ownership for any and all original materials
produced, including, but not limited to. brochures, resource directories, protocols or guidelines,
posters, or reports. Contractor shall not reproduce any materials produced under the contract without
prior written approval from DHHS.

15. Operation of Facilities: Compliance with Laws and Regulations: Iri the operation of any facilities
for providing services, the Contractor shall comply with all laws, orders and regulations of federal,
state, county and municipal authorities and with any direction of any Public Officer or officers
pursuant to laws which shall impose an order or duty upon the contractor with respect to the
operation of the facility or the provision of the services at such facility. If any governmental license or
permit shall be required for the operation of the said facility or the performance of the said services,
the Contractor will procure said license or permit, and will at all times comply with the terms and
conditions of each such license or permit. In connection with the foregoing requirements, the
Contractor hereby covenants and agrees that, during the term of this Contract the facilities shall
comply with all rules, orders, regulations, and requirements of the State Office of the Fire Marshal and
the local fire protection agency, and shall be in conformance with local building and zoning codes, by
laws and regulations.

16. Equal Employment Opportunity Plan (EEOP): The Contractor will provide an Equal Employment
Opportunity Plan (EEOP) to the Office for Civil Rights, Office of Justice Programs (OCR), if it has
received a single award of $500,000 or more. If the recipient receives $25,000 or more and has 50 or
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more employees. It will maintain a current EEOP on file and submit an EEOP Certification Form to the
OCR. certifying that its EEOP is on file. For recipients receiving less than $25,000, or public grantees
with fewer tfian 50 employees, regardless of the amount of the award, the recipient will provide an
EEOP Certification Form to the OCR certifying it is not required to submit or maintain an EEOP.' Non
profit organizations. Indian Tribes, and medical and educational institutions are exempt from the
EEOP requirement, but are required to submit a certification form to the OCR to claim the exemption.
EEOP Certification Forms are available at; http://www.ojp.usdoj/about/ocr/pdfs/cert.pdf.

17. Limited English Proficiency (LEP); As clarified by Executive Order 13166. Improving Access to
Services for persons with Limited English Proficiency, and resulting agency guidance, national origin
discrimination includes discrimination on the basis of limited English proficiency (LEP). To ensure
compliance with the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968 and Title Vl of the Civil
Rights Act of 1964. Contractors must take reasonable steps to ensure that LEP persons have
meaningful access to its programs.

18. Pilot Program for Enhancement of Contractor Employee Whistleblower Protections: The
following shall apply to all contracts that exceed the Simplified Acquisition Threshold as defined in 48
CFR 2.101 (currently, $150,000)

Contractor Employee Whistleblower Rights and Requirement to Inform employees of

Whistleblower Rights (SEP 2013)

(a) This contract and employees working on this contract will be subject to the vArhistleblower rights
and remedies in the pilot program on Contractor employee whistleblower protections established at
41 U.S.C. 4712 by section 828 of the National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2013 (Pub. L.
112-239) and FAR 3.908.

^(b) The Contractor shall Inform its employees in writing, in the predominant language of the workforce,
of employee whistleblower rights and protections under 41 U.S.C. 4712. as described In section
3.908 of the Federal Acquisition Regulation.

(c) The Contractor shall insert the substance of this clause, including this paragraph (c), in all
subcontracts over the simplified acquisition threshold.

19. Subcontractors: DHHS recognizes that the Contractor may choose to use subcontractors with
greater expertise to perform certain health care services or functions for efficiency or convenience,
but the Contractor shall retain the responsibility and accountability for the function(s). Prior to
subcontracting, the Contractor shall evaluate the subcontractor's ability to perform the delegated
function(s). This is accomplished through a written agreement that specifies activities and reporting
responsibilities of the sutxontractor and provides for revoking the delegation or imposing sanctions if
the subcontractor's performance Is hot adequate. Subcontractors are subject to the same contractual
conditions as the Contractor and the Contractor Is responsible to ensure subcontractor compliance
with those conditions.

When the Contractor delegates a function to a sulxontractor, the. Contractor shall do the following;
19.1. Evaluate the prospective subcontractor's ability to perform the activities, before delegating

the function

19.2. Have a written agreement with the subcontractor that specifies activities and reporting
responsibilities and how sanctions/revocation will be managed if the subcontractor's '
performance is not adequate

19.3. Monitor the subcontractor's performance on an ongoing basis

Exhibit C - special Provisions Contractor Initials
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19.4. Provide to DHHS an annual schedule identifying all subcontractors, delegated functions and
responsibilities, and when the subcontractor's performance will be reviewed

19.5. DHHS shall, at Its discretion, review and approve all subcontracts.

If the Contractor identifies deficiencies or areas for improvement are identified, the Contractor shall
take corrective action.

DEFINITIONS

As used in the Contract, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

COSTS: Shall mean those direct and indirect items of expense determined by the Department to be
allowable and reimbursable in accordance with cost and accounting principles established in accordance
\Mth state and federal laws, regulations, rules and orders.

DEPARTMENT: NH Department of Health and Human Services.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT GUIDELINES: Shall mean that section of the Contractor Manual which is

entitled "Financial Management Guidelines" and v/hich contains the regulations governing the financial
activities of contractor agencies which have contracted with the State of NH to receive funds.

PROPOSAL: If applicable, shall mean the document submitted by the Contractor on a form or forms
required by the Department and containing a description of the Services to be provided to eligible
individuals by the Contractor in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Contract and setting forth
the total cost and sources of revenue for each service to be provided under the Contract.

UNIT: For each service that the Contractor is to provide to eligible individuals hereunder; shall mean that
period of time or that specified activity determined by the Department and specified in Exhibit B of the
Contract.

FEDERAUSTATE LAW: Wherever federal or state laws, regulations, rules, orders, and policies, etc. are
referred to in the Contract, the said reference shall be deemed to mean all such laws, regulations, etc. as.
they may be amended or revised from the time to time.

CONTRACTOR MANUAL: Shall mean that document prepared by the NH Department of Administrative
Services containing a compilation of all regulations promulgated pursuant to the New Hampshire
Administrative Procedures Act. NH RSA Ch 541 -A, for the purpose of Implementing State of NH and •
federal regulations promulgated thereunder.

SUPPLANTING OTHER FEDERAL FUNDS: The Contractor guarantees that funds provided under this
Contract will not supplant any existing federal funds available for these services.

Exhibit C - Special Provisions Contractor Initials IM
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REVISIONS TO GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. Subparagraph 4 of the General Provisions of this contract. Conditional Nature of Agreement, is replaced as
follows:

4. CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, all obligations of the State hereunder,
including without limitation, the continuance of payments, in whole or in part, under this Agreement are
contingent upon continued appropriation or availability of funds. Including any subsequent changes to the
appropriation or availability of funds affected by any state or federal legislative or executive action that
reduces, eliminates, or othenwise modifies the appropriation or availability of funding for this Agreement
and the Scope of Services provided in Exhibit A, ̂ ope of Services, in whole or in part. In no event shall
the State be liable for any payments hereunder in excess of appropriated or available funds. In the event
of a reduction, termination, or modification of appropriated or available funds, the State shall have the
right to withhold payment until such funds become available, if ever. The State shall have the right to
reduce, terminate, or modify services under this Agreement immediately upon giving the Contractor
notice of such reduction, termination or modification. The State shall not be required to transfer funds
from any other source or account into the Account{s) identified in block 1.6 of the General Provisions,
Account Number, or any other account, in the event funds are reduced or unavailable. "

2. Subparagraph 10 of the Genera) Provisions of this contract, Termination, is amended by adding the following
.  language;
10.1 The State may terminate the Agreement at any time for any reason, at the sole discretion of the State,

30 days after giving the Contractor written notice that the State is exercising its option to terminate the
Agreement.

10.2 In the event of early termination, the Contractor shall, within 15 days of notice of early termination,
develop and submit to,the State a Transition Plan for services under the Agreement, including but not
limited to, identifying the present and future needs of clients receiving services under the Agreement
and establishes a process to meet those needs.

10.3 The Contractor shall fully cooperate with the State and shall promptly provide detailed information to
support the Transition Plan including, but not limited to, any Information or data requested by the State
related to the termination of the Agreement and Transition Plan and shall provide ongoing
communication and revisions of the Transition Plan to the State as requested.

10.4 In the event that services under the Agreement, including but not limited to clients receiving services
under the Agreement are transitioned to having services delivered by another entity including
contracted providers or the State, the Contractor shall provide a process for uninterrupted delivery of
services in the Transition Plan.

10.5 The Contractor shall establish a method of notifying clients and other affected individuals about the
transition. The Contractor shall Include the proposed communications in its Transition Plan submitted
to the State as described above.

3. Extension:

The Department reserves the right to renew the Contract for-up to two (2) additional years, subject to the
continued availability of funds, satisfactory performance of sen/ices and approval by the Governor and
Executive Council.
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE REQUIREMENTS

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free Worl^place Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690, Title V. Subtitle D; 41
U.S.C. 701 et seq.), and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections
1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following Certification:

ALTERNATIVE I - FOR GRANTEES OTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS j
US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - CONTRACTORS

US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE - CONTRACTORS

This certification is required by the regulations implementing Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free
Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690. Title V. Subtitle D;41 U.S.C. 701 et seq.). The January" 31,
1989 regulations were amended and published as Part II of the May 25,1990 Federal Register (pages
21681-21691), and require certification by grantees (and by inference, sub-grantees and sub
contractors), prior to award, that they will maintain a drug-free workplace. Section 3017.630(c) of the
regulation provides that a grantee (and by inference, sub-grantees and sub-contractors) that is a State
may elect to make one certification to the Department in each federal fiscal year in lieu of certificates for
each grant during the federal fiscal year covered by the certification. The certificate set out below is a
material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the agency awards the grant. False
certification or violation of the certification shall be grounds for suspension of payments, suspension or
termination of grants, or government wide suspension or debarment. Contractors using this form should
send it to: . ■

Commissioner

NH Department of Health and Human Services
129 Pleasant Street,
Concord, NH 03301-6505 .

1. The grantee certifies that it will or will continue to provide a drug-free workplace by: .
1.1. - Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution,

dispensing, possession or use of a controlled substance Is prohibited in the grantee's
workplace and specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for violation of such
prohibition; ^

1.2. Establishing an ongoing drug-free awareness program to inform employees about
1.2.1. The dangers of drug abuse in the workplace; . .
1.2.2. The grantee's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace;
1.2.3. Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs; and
1.2.4. The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations

occurring In the workplace;
• 1.3. Making it a requirement that each employee to be engaged in the performance of the grant be

given a copy of the statement required by paragraph (a);
1.4. Notifying the employee in the statement required by paragraph (a) that, as a condition of

employment under the grant, the employee will
1.4.1. Abide by the, terms of the statement; and
1.4.2.' Notify the employer in writing of his or her conviction for a violation of a crinninal drug

statute occurring in the workplace no later than five calendar days after such
conviction;

1.5. Notifying the agency in writing, within ten calendar days after receiving notice under
subparagraph 1.4.2 from an employee or otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviction.
Employers of convicted employees must provide notice, including position title, to every grant
officer on whose grant activity the convicted employee was working, unless the Federal agency
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has designated a.central point for the receipt of such notices. Notice shall include the
identification number(s) of each affected grant;

1.6.. Taking one of the following actions, within 30 calendar days of receiving notice under
subparagraph 1.4.2, with respect to any employee who is so convicted
1.6.1. Taking appropriate personnel action against such an employee, up to and including

termination, consistent with the requirements of the Rehabilitatjon Act of 1973, as
amended; or

1.6.2. Requiring such employee to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or
rehabilitation program approved for such purposes by a Federal, State, or local health,
law enforcement, or other appropriate agency:

1.7. Making a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through
implementation of paragraphs 1.1. 1.2. 1.3, 1.4,1.5, and 1.6.

2. The grantee may insert in the space provided below the slte{s) for the performance of work done in
connection with the specific grant.

Place of Performance (street address, city, county, state, zip code) (list each location)

Check □ if there are workplaces on file that are not identified here.

Contractor Name; ^ Duill

<^4^* * * A . . _ I j aName: Heather A. Arnold, M.Eo.
'  Associate Director
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Section 319 of Public Law 101-121, Government wide Guidance for New Restrictions on Lobbying, and
31 U.S.C. 1352, and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as Identified in Sections 1.11
and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following Certification;

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS

US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - CONTRACTORS

US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE - CONTRACTORS

Programs (indicate applicable program covered):
"Temporary Assistance to Needy Families under Title IV-A
"Child Support Enforcement Program under Title IV-D
"Social Services Block Grant Program under Title XX '
"Medicaid Program under Title XIX
"Community Services Block Grant under Title VI
"Child Care Development Block Grant under Title IV

The undersigned certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that:

1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid by or on behalf of the undersigned, to
any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member
of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in
connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, continuation, renewal, amendment, or
modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention
sub-grantee or sub-contractor).

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to anyperson for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress,
an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention sub-grantee or sub
contractor), the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form LLL, (Disclosure Form to
Report Lobbying, in accordance with its instructions, attached and identified as Standard Exhibit E-l.)

3. The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award .
document for sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, and contracts under grants,
loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all sub-recipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction
was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this
transaction imposed by Section 1352, Title 31. U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required
certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for
each such failure. 1

Contractor Name: i c>r\ » v.. vu: TV ^ r)^v l-rv\ Colldy

Dat

:

Name: Heather A. Arnold, M,Ed
Title: ^ Associate Director
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT. SUSPENSION
AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Executive Office of the President. Executive Order 12549 and 45 CFR Part 76 regarding Debarment,
Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters, and further agrees to have the Contractor's
representative, as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following
Certification:

INSTRUCTIONS FOR CERTIFICATION
1. By signing and submitting this proposal (contract), the prospective primary participant is providing the

certification set out below.

2. The inability of a person to provide the certification required below will not necessarily result in denial
of participation In this covered transaction. If necessary, the prospective participant shall submit an
explanation' of why it cannot provide the certification. The certification or explanation will be
considered in connection with the NH Department of Health and Human Services' (DHHS)
determination whether to enter into this transaction. However, failure of the prospective primary
participant to furnish a certification or an explanation shall disqualify such person from participation in
this transaction.

3. The certification in this clause Is a material representa'tion of fact upon which reliance was placed
when DHHS determined to enter into this trarlsaction. If it Is later determined that the prospective
primary participant knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, in addition to other remedies
available to the Federal Government. DHHS may terminate this transaction for cause or default.

4. The prospective primary participant shall provide immediate written notice to the DHHS agency to
whom this proposal (contract) is submitted if at any time the prospective primary participant learns
that its certification was erroneous when submitted or has become erroneous by reason of changed
circumstances.

5. The terms 'covered transaction,' "debarred." "suspended," "ineligible." "lower tier covered
transaction," "participant," "person." "primary covered transaction." "principal," "proposal." and
"voluntarily excluded," as used in this clause, have the meanings set out in the Definitions and
Coverage sections of the rules implementing Executive Order 12549: 45 CFR Part 76. See the
attached definitions.

6. The prospective primary participant agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that, should the
proposed covered transaction be entered into, it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered
transaction with a person who is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded
from participation in this covered transaction, unless authorized by DHHS.

7. The prospective primary participant further agrees by submitting this proposal that it will include the
clause titled "Certification Regarding Debarment. Suspension. Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion -
Lower Tier Covered Transactions," provided by DHHS. without modification, in all lower tier covered
transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.

8.. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective participant in a •
lower tier covered transaction that It is not debarred, suspended, ineligible, or involuntarily excluded
from the covered transaction, unless it knows that the certification is erroneous. A participant may
decide the method and frequency by which it determines the eligibility of its principals. Each
participant may. but is not required to. check the Nonprocurement List (of excluded parties).

9. .Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system of records
in order to render in good faith the certification required by this clause. The knowledge and
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information of a participant is not required to exceed that which is normally possessed by a prudent
person in the ordinary course of business dealings.

10. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 6 of these instructions, if a participant in a
covered transaction knowingly enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is
suspended, debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction, in
addition to other remedies available to the Federal government, DHHS may terminate this transaction
for cause or default. - .

PRIMARY COVERED TRANSACTIONS
11. The prospective primary participant certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it and its

prlnclpais:

11.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or
voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency;

11.2. have not within a three-year period preceding* this proposal (contract) been convicted of or had
a civil judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in
connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (Federal, State or local)
transaction or a contract under a public transaction; violation of Federal or State antitrust
statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of
records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property;

11.3. are not presently indicted for otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity
(Federal, State or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (l)(b)
of this certification; and

11.4. have not within a three-year period preceding this application/proposal had one or more public
transactions (Federal, State or local) terminated for cause or default:

12. Where the prospective primary participant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this
certification, such prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract).

LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS

13. By signing and submitting this lower tier proposal (contract), the prospective lower tier participant, as
defined in 45 CFR Part 76, certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief that it and its principals;
13.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or

voluntarily excluded.from participation in this transaction by any federal department or agency.
13.2. where the prospective lower tier participant is unable to certify to any of the above, such

prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract).

14. The prospective lower tier participant further agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that it will
include this clause entitled "Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility, and
Voluntary Exclusion - Lower Tier Covered Transactions," without modification in all lower tier covered
transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.

Contractor Name:

^  Heather A. Arnold, M.ecl.
' ® Associate Director
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CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS PERTAINING TO
FEDERAL NONDISCRIMINATION. EQUAL TREATMENT OF FAITH-BASED ORGANIZATIONS AND

WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTIONS
\

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's
representative as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certification;

Contractor will comply, and will require any subgrantees or sut)contractors to comply, with any applicable
federal nondiscrimlnation requirements, which rriay include:

- the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. Section 3789d) which prohibits
recipients of federal funding under this statute from discriminating, either in employment practices or in
the delivery of services or benefits, on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act
requires certain recipients to produce an Equal Employment Opportunity Plan;

• the Juvenile Justice Delinquency Prevention Act of 2002 (42 U.S.C. Section 5672(b)) which adopts by
reference, the civil rights obligations of the Safe Streets Act. Recipients of federal funding under this
statute are prohibited from discriminating, either in emptoyment practices or in the delivery of services or
benefits, on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act includes Equal
Employment Opportunity Plan requirements; ,

• the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. Section 2000d. which prohibits recipients of federal financial
assistance from discriminating on the basis of race, color, or national origin in any program or activity);

- the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. Section 794), which prohibits recipients of Federal financial
assistance from discriminating on the basis of disability, in regard to employment and the delivery of
services or benefits, in any program or activity;

- the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sections 12131-34). which prohibits
discrimination and ensures equal opportunity for persons with disabilities in employment, State and local
government sen/ices, public accommodations, commercial facilities, and transportation;

- the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. Sections 1681.1683.1685-86), which prohibits
discrimination on the basis of sex in federally assisted education programs;

- the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. Sections 6106-07). which prohibits discrimination on the
basis of age in programs or activities receiving Federal financial assistance. It does not include
employment discrimination;

- 28 C.F.R. pt. 31 (U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - OJ JDP Grant Programs): 28 C.F.R. pt. 42
(U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - Nondiscrimlnation; Equal Employment Opportunity; Policies
and Procedures): Executive Order No. 13279 (equal protection of the laws for faith-based and community
organizations); Executive Order No. 13559, which provide fundamental principles and policy-making
criteria for partnerships with faith-based and neighborhood organizations;

• 28 C.F.R. pt. 38 (U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - Equal Treatment for Faith-Based
Organizations): and Whistleblower.protections 41 U.S.C. §4712 and The National Defense Authorization
Act (NDAA) for Fiscal Year 2013 (Pub. L. 11.2-239, enacted January 2. 2013) the Pilot Program for

. Enhancement of Contract Employee Whistleblower Protections, which protects employees against
reprisal for certain whistle blowing activities in connection with federal grants and contracts.

The certificate set out below is a material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the
agency awards the grant. False certification or violation of the certification shall be grounds for
suspension of payments, suspension or termination of grants, or government wide suspension or
debarment.
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In the event a Federal or State court or Federal or State administrative agency makes a finding of
discrimination after a due process hearing on the grounds of race, color, religion, national origin, or sex
against a recipient of funds, the recipient will forward a copy of the finding to the Office for Civil Rights, to
the applicable contracting agency or division within the Department of Health and Human Services, and
to the Department of Health and Hurnan Services Office of the Ornbudsman.

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's
representative as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certification:^

I.. By signing and submitting this proposal (contract) the Contractor agrees to comply with the provisions
Indicated above.

Contractor Name:

Date Name: Heather A. Arnold, M.Ed.
Title: Associate Director
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING ENVIRONMENTAL TOBACCO SMOKE

Pubiic Law 103-227, Part C - Environmental Tobacco Smoke, also known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994
(Act), requires that smoking not be permitted in any portion of any indoor facility owned or leased or
contracted for by an entity and used routinely or regularly for the provision of health, day care, education,
or library services to children under the age of 18, If the services are funded by Federal programs either
directly or through State or local governments, by Federal grant, contract, loan, or loan guarantee. The
law does not apply to children's services provided in private residences, facilities funded solely by
Medicare or Medicaid funds, and portions of facilities used for inpatient drug or alcohol treatment. Failure
to comply with the provisions of the law may result in the imposition of a civil monetary penalty of up to
$1000 per day and/or the imposition of an administrative compliance order on the responsible entity.

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees, by signature of the Contractor's
representative as identified in Section 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certification:

1. By signing and submitting this contract, the Contractor agrees to make reasonable efforts to comply
with all applicable provisions of Public Law 103-227, Part C, known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994.

Contractor Name:

A vah,Date'- ' Healhei A.Am
Title: Associate Director

Exhibit H - Certification Regarding Contraclor Initials
Environmental Tobacco Smoke fL 1/ 1|0
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Exhibit I

HEALTH INSURANCE PORTABLITY ACT

BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions of the Agreement agrees to
comply with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, Public Law 104-191 and
with the Standards for Privacy and Security of Individually Identifiable Health Information, 45
CFR Parts 160 and 164 applicable to business associates. As defined herein, "Business
Associate" shall mean the Contractor and subcontractors and agents of thie Contractor that
receive, use or have access to protected health information under this Agreement and "Covered
Entity" shall mean the State of New Hampshire, Department of Health and Human Services.

I

(1) Definitions.

a. "Breach" shall have the same meaning as the term "Breach" in section 164.402 of Title 45,
Code of Federal Regulations.

b. "Business Associate" has the meaning given such term in section 160.103 of Title 45. Code
of Federal Regulations.

c. "Covered Entity" has the meaning given such term in section 160.103 of Title 45, '
Code of Federal Regulations.

d. "Designated Record Set" shall have the same meaning as the term "designated record set"
in 45 CFR Section 164.501.

e. "Data Aooreoation" shall have the same meaning as the term "data aggregation" in 45 CFR
Section 164.501.

f. "Health Care Ooerations" shall have the sarne meaning as the term "health care operations"
in 45 CFR Section 164.501.

g. "HITECH Act" means the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health
Act, TitleXIII, Subtitle D, Part 1 & 2 of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of
2009.

h. "HIPAA" means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, Public Law
104-191 and the Standards for Privacy and Security of Individually Identifiable Health
Information, 45 CFR Parts 160, 162 and 164 and amendments thereto..

i. "Individual" shall have the same meaning as the term "individual" in 45 CFR Section 160.103
and shall include a person who qualifies as a personal representative in accordance with 45
CFR Section 164.501(g).

j. "Privacy Rule" shall mean the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health
Information at 45 CFR Parts 160 and 164, promulgated under HIPAA by the United States
Department of Health and Human Services.

k. "Protected Health Information" shall have the same meaning as the term "protected health
information" in 45 CFR Section 160.103, limited to the information created or received by
Business Associate from or on behalf of Covered Entity.

3/2014 Exhibil I Contractor initials
Health Insurance Portability Act
Business Associate Agreement It, I
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Exhibit I

I. "Required bv Law" shall have the same meaning as the term "required by law" in 45 CFR
Section 164.103;

m. "Secretary" shall mean the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services or
his/her designee.

n. "Security Rule" shall mean the Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic Protected
Health Information at 45 CFR Part 164. Subpart C, and amendments thereto.

o. "Unsecured Protected Health Information" means protected health information that is not

secured by a technology standard that renders protected health information unusable,
unreadable, or indecipherable to unauthorized individuals and is developed or endorsed by
a standards developing organization that is accredited by. the American National Standards
Institute.

p. Other Definitions - All terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning
established under 45 C.F.R. Parts 160,162 and 164, as amended from time to time, and the
HITECH

Act.

(2) Business Associate Use and Disclosure of Protected Health Information.

a. Business Associate shall not use, disclose, maintain or transmit Protected Health
Information (PHI) except as reasonably necessary to provide the services outlined under
Exhibit A of the Agreement. Further, Business Associate, including but not limited to all
its directors, officers, employees and agents, shall not use, disclose, maintain or transmit
PHI in any manner that would constitute a violation of the Privacy and Security Rule.

b. Business Associate may use or disclose PHI;
I. For the proper management and administration of the Business Associate;
II. As required by law, pursuant to the terms set forth in paragraph d. below; or
III. For data aggregation purposes for the health care operations of Covered

Entity.

c. . To the extent Business Associate is permitted under the Agreement to disclose PHI to a
third party. Business Associate must obtain, prior to making any such disclosure, (1)
reasonable assurances from the third party that such PHI will be held confidentially and
used or further disclosed only as required by law or for the purpose for which it was
disclosed to the third party; and (ii) an agreement from such third party to notify Business
Associate, in accordance with the HIPAA Privacy, Security, and Breach Notification
Rules of any breaches of the confidentiality of the PHI, to the extent it has obtained
knowledge of such breach.

d. The Business Associate shall noti unless such disclosure is reasonably necessary to
provide services under Exhibit A of the Agreement, disclose any PHI in response to a
request for disclosure on the basis that.it is required by law, without first notifying
Covered Entity so that Covered Entity has an opportunity to object to the disclosure and
to seek appropriate relief. If Covered Entity objects to such disclosure, the Business

3/2014 Exhibit I Contractor Initials M-
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Exhibit!

Associate shall refrain from disclosing the PHI until Covered Entity has exhausted all
remedies.

e. If the Covered Entity notifies the Business Associate that Covered Entity has agreed to
be bound by additional restrictions over and above those uses or disclosures or security
safeguards of PHI pursuant to the Privacy and Security Rule, the Business Associate
shall be bound by such additional restrictions and shall not disclose PHI in violation of
such additional restrictions and shall abide by any additional security safeguards.

(3) ObliQatlons and Activities of Business Associate.

a. The Business Associate shall notify the Covered Entity's Privacy Officer immediately
after the Business Associate becomes aware of any use or disclosure of protected
health information not provided for by the Agreement including breaches of unsecured
protected health information and/or any security incident that may have an impact on the
protected health information of the Covered Entity.

b. The Business Associate shall Immediately perform a risk assessment when it becomes
aware of any of the above situations. The risk assessment shall include, but not be
limited to:

0  The nature and extent of the protected health information Involved, Including the
types of identifiers and the likelihood of re-identification;

o The unauthorized person used the protected health Information or to whom the
disclosure was made;

0 Whether the protected health Information was actually acquired or viewed
0  The extent to which the risk to the protected health information has been

rnltigated.

The Business Associate shall complete the risk assessment within 48 hours of the
breach and immediately report the findings of the risk assessment in writing to the
Covered Entity.

c. The Business Associate shall comply with all sections of the Privacy, Security, and
Breach«Notification Rule.

d. Business Associate shall make available all of its internal policies and procedures, books
and records relating to the use and disclosure of PHI received from, or created or
received by the Business Associate on behalf of Covered Entity to the Secretary for
purposes of determining Covered Entity's compliance with HIPAA and the Privacy and
Security Rule.

e. Business Associate shall require all of its business associates that receive, use or have
access to PHI under the Agreement, to agree in writing to adhere to the same
restrictions and conditions on the use and disclosure of PHI contained herein, including .
the duty to return or destroy the PHI as provided under Section 3 (I). The Covered Entity
shall be considered a direct third party beneficiary of the Contractor's business associate
agreements with Contractor's intended business associates, who will be receiving PHI

UlX
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Siervlces

Exhibit!

pursuant to this Agreement, with rights of enforcement and indemnification from such
business associates who shall be governed by standard Paragraph #13 of the standard
contract provisions (P-37) of this Agreement for the purpose of use and disclosure of
protected health information.

f. Within five (5) business days of receipt of a written request from Covered Entity.
Business Associate shall make available during normal business hours at its offices all
records, books, agreements, policies and procedures relating to the use-and disclosure
of PHI to the Covered Entity, for purposes of enabling Covered Entity to determine -
Business Associate's compliance with the terms of the Agreement.

g. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity,
Business Associate shall provide access to PHI in a Designated Record Set to the
Covered Entity, or as directed by Covered Entity, to an individual In order to meet the
requirements under 45 CFR Section 164.524.

h. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity for an
amendment of PHI or a record about an individual contained in a Designated Record
Set, the Business Associate shall make such PHI available to Covered Entity for
amendment and Incorporate any such amendment to enable Covered Entity to fulfill its
obligations under 45 CFR Section 164.526.

i. Business Associate shall document such disclosures of PHI and information related to
such disclosures as would be required for Covered Entity to respond to a request by an
individual for an accounting of disclosures of PHI in accordance with 45 CFR Section
164.528. .

j. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity for a
request for an accounting of disclosures of PHI, Business Associate shall make available
to Covered Entity such information as Covered Entity may require to fulfill its obligations
to provide an accounting of disclosures with respect to PHI in accordance with 45 CFR
Section 164.528.

k. In the event any individual requests access to, amendment of, or accounting of PHI
directly from the Business Associate, the Business Associate shall within two (2)
business-days forward such request to Covered Entity. Covered Entity shall have the
responsibility of responding to fonvarded requests.. However, if forwarding the
individual's request to Covered Entity would cause Covered Entity or the Business
Associate to violate HIPAA and the Privacy and Security Rule, the Business Associate
shall instead respond to the individual's request as required by such law and notify
Covered Entity of such response as soon as practicable.

I. Wthin ten (10) business days of termination of the Agreement, for any reason, the
Business Associate shall return or destroy, as specified by Covered Entity, all PHI
received from, or created or received by the Business Associate in connection with the
Agreement. and shall not retain any copies or back-up tapes of such PHI. If return or
destruction is not feasible, or the disposition of the PHI has been otherwise agreed to in
the Agreement. Business Associate shall continue to extend the protections of the
Agreement, to such PHI and limit further uses and disclosures of such PHI to those
purposes that make the return or destruction infeasible, for so long as Business . i
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Exhibit I

Associate maintains such PHI. If Covered Entity, in its sole discretion, requires that the
Business Associate destroy any or all PHI. the Business Associate shall certify to
Covered Entity that the PHI has t>een destroyed.

(4) Obligations of Covered Entity

a. Covered Entity shall notify Business Associate of any changes or limitation(s) in its
Notice of Privacy Practices provided to individuals in accordance with 45 CFR Section
164.520, to the extent that such change or limitation may affect Business Associate's
use or disclosure of PHI.

b. Covered Entity shall promptly notify Business Associate of any changes in, or revocation
of permission provided to Covered Entity by individuals whose PHI may be used or
disclosed by Business Associate under this Agreement, pursuant to 45 CFR Section
164.506 or 45 CFR Sectioni 64.508.

c. Covered entity shall promptly notify Business Associate of any restrictions on the use or
disclosure of PHI that Covered Entity has agreed to in accordance with 45 CFR 164.522,
to the extent that such restriction may affect Business Associate's use or disclosure of
PHI.

V

(6) Termination for Cause

In addition to Paragraph 10 of the standard terms and conditions (P-37) of this
Agreement the Covered Entity may imrnediately terminate the Agreement upon Covered
Entity's knowledge of a breach by Business Associate of the Business Associate
Agreement set forth herein as Exhibit I. The Covered Entity may either immediately,
terminate the Agreement or provide an opportunity for Business Associate to cure the
alleged breach within a timeframe specified by Covered Entity. If Covered Entity
determines that neither termination nor cure is feasible. Covered Entity shall report the
violation to the Secretary.

f6) Miscellaneous

a. Definitions and Reaulatorv References. All terms used, but not otherwise defined herein,
shall have the same meaning as those terms in the Privacy and Security Rule, amended
from time to time. A reference in the Agreement, as amended to include this Exhibit I, to
a Section in the Privacy and Security Rule means the Section as in effect or as
amended.

b. • Amendment. Covered Entity and Business Associate agree to take such action as is
necessary to amend the Agreement, from time to time as is necessary for Covered
Entity to comply with the changes in the requirements of HIPAA, the Privacy and
Security Rule, and applicable federal and state law.

c. Data Ownership. The Business Associate acknowledges that it has no ownership rights
with respect to the PHI provided by or created on behalf of Covered Entity.

d. Interpretation. The parties agree that any ambiguity in the Agreement shall be resolved
to permit Covered Entity to comply with HIPAA, the Privacy and Security Rule.

3/2014 ' Exhibit I Contractor Initials
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Exhibit I

Seareaation. If any term or condition of this Exhibit I or the application thereof to any
person($) or circumstance is held Invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other terms or
conditions which can be given effect without the invalid term or condition; to this end the
terms and conditions of this Exhibit I are declared severable.

Survival. Provisions in this Exhibit I regarding the use and disclosure of PHI, return or
destruction of PHI, extensions of the protections of the Agreement in section (3) I, the
defense and indemnification provisions of section (3) e and Paragraph 13 of the
standard terms and conditions (P-37), shall survive the termination of the Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed this Exhibit I.

rru5k^
Department of Health and Human Services

TherSt

Signature of AuthorizedT^epresentative SIg

Lb A
Name of Authorized Representative

Title of Authorized Representative

Date

Name of the Contractor ~

\hr,Uor il^QxnKl
nature of Authorized RepreserRepresentative

Heather A. Arnold, M.Ed.
Name of ALASBPtidaitepiEeettlfitive

Title of Authorized Representative

2^
Date
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Exhibit J

CERTIFICATION REGARDING THE FEDERAL FUNDING ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY

ACT fFFATAI COMPLIANCE

The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA) requires prime awardees of individual
Federal grants equal to or greater than $25,000 and awarded on or after October 1, 2010, to report on
data related to executive compensation and associated first-tier sub-grants of $25,000 or more. If the
initial award is below $25,000 but subsequent grant modifications result in a total award equal to or over
$25,000, the award Is subject to the FFATA reporting requirements, as of the date of the award.
In accordance with 2 CFR Part 170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation Information), the
Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) must report the following information for any
sut}award or contract award subject to the FFATA reporting requirements:
1. Name of entity

2. Amount of award
3. Funding agency
4. NAICS code for contracts / CFDA program number for grants
5. Program source
6. Award title descriptive of the purpose of the funding action
7. Location of the entity
8. Principle place of performance
9. Unique Identifier of the entity (DUNS #)
10. Total compensation and names of the top five executives if;

10.1. More than 80% of annual gross revenues are from the Federal government, and those
revenues are greater than $25M annually and

10.2. Compensation information is not already available through reporting to the SEC.

Prime grant recipients must submit FFATA required data by the end of the month, plus 30 days, in which
the award or a\\^rd amendment is made.
The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act, Public Law .109-282 and Public Law 110-252.
and'2 CFR Parl170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation Information), and further agrees
to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions
execute the following Certification:
The below named Contractor agrees to provide needed information as outlined above to the NH
Department of Health and Human Services and to comply with all applicable provisions pf the Federal
Financial Accountability and Transparericy Act.

Contractor Name:

Date^ ̂  ' . Name: Heather A. Arnold, M.Ed.
Title: Associate Director

Exhibit J - Certification Regarding the Federal Funding Contractor initials
Accountabitity Arxl Transparency Act (FFATA) Compliance
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Exhibit J

FORMA

As the Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions. I certify that the responses to the
below listed questions are true and accurate.

1. The DUNS number for vour enlitv is: OH "

2. In your business or organization's.preceding completed fiscal year, did your business or organization'
receive (1) 80 percent or more of your annual gross revenue in U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts,
loans, grants, sub-grants, and/or cooperative agreements; and (2) $25,000,000 or more in annual
gross revenues from U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts, loans, grants, subgrants, and/or
cooperative agreements?

NO YES

If the answer to #2 above is NO, stop here

If the answer to #2 above is YES, please answer the following;

3. Does the public have access to Information about the compensation of the executives in your
business or organization through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C.78m(a), 78o(d)) or section 6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986?

NO YES

If the answer to #3 above is YES. stop here

If the answer to #3 above is NO, please answer the following:

4. The names and compensation of the five most highly compensated officers in your business or
organization are as follows:

Name:

Name:

Name:

Name:

Name:

Amount:

Amount:

Amount:

Amount:

Amount:

CU/DHHSni0713
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Exhibit K

DHHS INFORMATION SECURITY REQUtREMENTS

1. Confidential Information: In addition to Paragraph #9 of the General Provisions (P-37) for the purpose of this
SOW. the Department's Confidential information includes any and all Information owned or managed by the'
State of NH - created, received from or on behalf of the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS)
or accessed in the course of performing contracted services - of which collection, disclosure, protection^ and
disposition Is govemed by state or federal law or regulation. This information includes, but is not limited to
Personal Health Information (PHI), Personally Identifiable Information (Pll), Federal Tax Information (FTI).
Social Security Numbers (SSN), Payment Card Industry (PCI), and or other sensitive and confidential
information.

2. The vendor will maintain proper security controls to protect Department confidential information collected,
processed, managed, and/or stored in the delivery of contracted services. Minimum expectations include:

2.1. Contractor shall not store or transfer data collected in connection with the services rendered

under this Agreement outside of the United States, this includes backup data and Disaster
Recovery locations.

2.2. Maintain policies and procedures to protect Department confidential information throughout the
Information lifecycle. where applicable, (from creation, transformation, use, storage and secure
destruction) regardless of the media used to store the data (i.e., tape, disk, paper, etc.).

2.3. Maintain appropriate authentication and access controls to contractor systems that collect, transmit,or
store Department confidential Information whereapplicable. •

2.4. Encrypt, at a minimum, any Department.confidential data stored on portable media, e.g.. laptops. USB
.  drives, as well as when transmitted over public networks like the Internet using current industry

standards and best practices for strong encryption.

2.5. Ensure proper security monitoring capabilities are in place to detect potential security events that can
impact State of NH systems and/or Department confidential information for contractor provided systems.

2.6. Provide security awareness and education for its employees, contractors and sub-contractors in
support of protecting Department confidential informatiori

2.7. Maintain a documented breach notification and Incident response process. The vendor will contact the

Department within twenty-four 24 hours to the Department's contract manager, and additional email

addresses provided in this section, of a confidential information breach, computer security incident, or
suspected breach which'affects or Includes any State of New Hampshire systems.that connect to the

State of New Hampshire network.

2.7.1 ."Breach" shall have the same meaning as the term "Breach" In section 164.402 of Title 45, Code of

Federal Regulations. "Computer Security Incident* shall have the same meaning "Corhputer
Security Incident" in section two (2) of NIST Publication 800-61, Computer Security incident
Handling Guide, National Institute of Standards and Technology. U.S. Department of Commerce.

Breach notifications will be sent to the following email addresses:

2.7.1.1. DHHSChleflnformationOfficer@dhhs.nh.oov

2.7.1.2. DHHSInformationSecuritvOffice@dhhs.nh.Qov

2.8. If the vendor will maintain any Confidential information on its systems (or its sub-contractor systems),
the vendor will maintain a documented process for securely disposing of such data upon request or
contract termination; and will obtain written certification for any State of New Hampshire data destroyed

jM.6/2017 • ExhibitK Conlraclor Initials _
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by the vendor or any subcontractors as a part of ongoing, emergency, and or disaster recovery

operations. When no longer in use, electronic media containing State of New Hampshire data shall be

rendered unrecoverable via a secure wipe program in accordance with industry-accepted standards for

secure deletion, or otheoivise physically destroying the media (for example, degaussing). The vendor
will document and certify In writing at time of the data destruction, and will provide written certification

to the Department upon request. The written certification will include all details necessary to

demonstrate data has been properly destroyed and validated. Where applicable, regulatory and
professional standards for retention requirements will be jointly evaluated by the State and the vendor
prior to destruction.

2.9. If the vendor vrill be sub-contracting any core functions of the engagement supporting the services for

State of New Hampshire, the vendor will maintain a program of an internal process or processes that
defines specific security expectations, and monitoring compliance to security requirements that at a

minimum match those for the vendor, including breach notification requirements.

3. The vendor will work with the Department to sign and comply with all applicable State of New Hampshire and
Department system access and authorization policies and procedures, systems access forms, and computer

use agreements as part of obtaining and maintaining access to any Department system(s). Agreements will
be completed and signed by the vendor and any applicable sub-contractors prior to system access being

authorized.

4. If the Department determines the vendor is a Business Associate pursuant to 45 CFR 160.103, the vendor will
work with the Department to sign and execute a HIPAA Business Associate Agreement (BAA) with the
Department and is responsible for maintaining compliance with the agreement,

5. The vendor will work with the Department at Its request to complete a survey. The purpose of the survey is to
enable the Department and vendor to monitor for any changes in risks, threats, and vulnerabilities that may
occur over the life of the vendor engagement. The survey will be completed annually, or an alternate time ^
frame at the Departments discretion with agreement by the vendor, or the Department may request the

■ survey be completed when the scope of the engagement between the Departnr>ent and the vendor changes.
The vendor will not store, knowingly or unknowingly, any State of New Hampshire or Department data
offshore or outside the boundaries of the United States unless prior express written consent is obtained from

the appropriate authorized data owner or leadership merhbeV within the Department.

6. Data Security Breach Liability. In the event of any security breach Contractor shall make efforts to investigate
the causes of the breach, promptly take measures to prevent future breach and minimize any damage or
loss resulting from the breach. The State shall recover from the Contractor all costs of response and
recovery from the breach, including but not limited to: credit monitoring services, mailing costs and costs
associated with website and telephone call center services necessary due to the breach.
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